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R RBERAR QA

Financial Highlights

BTSN

2010 2009 Percentage
—E-TF —ETNF Change
HK$000 HK$'000 BNt
BT BT b= )
RESULTS 4L
Turnover EER 2,929,415 1,765,996 66%
EBITDA on recurring basis** BRFLE - BB - TER
o3 EIECEe S eh i 1,059,858 711,609 49%
Profit attributable to equity AR R e 27
shareholders 616,433 371,898 66%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) fi% 58 & [E 3R (%) 12.44 10.06 2.38%
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) AR EARZEF CEAL) 16.92 11.39 49%
FINANCIAL POSITION BAFSHR R
Total assets BERRE 10,870,391 8,667,268 25%
Total liabilities BERE 5,121,742 3,737,502 37%
Shareholders’ equity IR R 5,338,052 4,572,832 17%
Net asset value per share attributable ~ J& 52 g {5 S A%
to equity shareholders (HK9) BEFEGEEIT) 1.461 1.257 16%
Gearing (%) BEAELR%) 47 43 4%
Current ratio (%) MENEL 2R (%) 154 248 -94%
MARKET INFORMATION hiz&ER
Share price at year end (HKS) FIREE 7 IREB (B IT) 4.08 4.00 2%
Price earnings ratio at year end FIRIF 2 TARE(E)
(times) 24.11 35.12 31%
Market capitalisation at year end FIREE 2 EARTE 14,902,044 14,557,299 2%

#  EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation, — *  FF|& ~ B8 - 478 LSRR ANBF L -« B
depreciation and amortisation. 15 - TE REER A FERF -

*  The amount for current year is stated excluding the valuation gains on * AEEZ 2 BT AR EREDEGHERSBE
investment properties of HK$3,996,000 (2009: HK$4,888,000). 3,996,0007T( ZZ TN : ##4,888,0007T) ©
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TERFLE

e Entered into the “Investment Agreement in respect of Dangshan Biomass Power Generation Project” with the People’s
Government of Dangshan County, Anhui Province

e Entered into the “Investment Agreement in respect of
Huaining Photovoltaic Energy On-grid Project” with the
People’s Government of Huaining County, Anhui Province

e Entered into the agreement in respect of providing
reusable water service with Huadian Zibo Cogeneration
Company. It is the first reusable water project of the
Group

e Was awarded the “2009 Top Ten Most Influential Solid
Waste Enterprises in the PRC” by “solidwaste.com.cn”

e Everbright Water (Jiangyin) Limited was awarded the “2009
Top Ten Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction Advanced Enterprises” by Jiangyin Municipal Committee and
Municipal Government

o HLZHEGZURARBNEBMGLUBREMERTIEEREHZES)

s HLTHPABEEZARBNEE(EELSGEARAPAIMAEEERERERHZES)

o HFEFHHEHTFNAIEK G - IREPKEARS - RXAEEEEF/KEAIER

o SRE[FRBEREM 11X T 1 2009F [E H Bl [l E + R & h % B

o FZRKBOIR)BRAREIRTZE - MBI Al 20005 [E + RETGERBE D2 |

¢ Final results announcement for 2009, with profit attributable to equity shareholders amounted to HK$371,898,000

e FEverbright Water (Xinyi) Limited was established, which would be responsible for the investment and construction of
Xinyi Waste Water Treatment BT Project

e Entered into an agreement with the Government of Mudu Town, Wuzhong District, Suzhou, whereby the investment in
Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park would be increased to about HK$3.8 billion

e Entered into the “Framework Cooperative Agreement in respect of Changzhou City Everbright Low Carbon Economic
Park” with Changzhou City Urban Management Bureau

s MHZTTNFEFRE  BRERREERIBE
371,898,0007T

. ﬁ‘ﬁ?%ﬂ@?(%ﬁiﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ&ﬁ C BEREERIDT KRR
BTER

o HENRAPERAEEBRITER %%%’%EK%M%%K@%
IR E RS RIS ERIB R 4B EE38ET

o HEMMHMMEREBEB(EMM M ANERAER A EIESR -
e r f--Fr
| . IR
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Zibo Waste Water Treatment No. 1 Plant welcomed more than 1,400 visiting students and gave them a presentation
on waste water treatment process promoting the idea of environmental protection

Entered into the “Investment Agreement in respect of
Zhenjiang Integrated Utilisation of Hazardous Waste
Project” with Zhenjiang New District Committee

SRR E F b — REFHBIE1,4008 24 - BRI5K
RIERE  SERRES

HETMRZE @R BCHIREEETAERERE P
TgfjJu}i:E>>

Entered into the “Concession Right Agreement in respect of Ling County No. 1 Plant Project” with the People’s
Government of Ling County, Shandong Province

Held the Annual General Meeting of 2009

Everbright Alternative Energy (Dangshan) Limited was
established to invest and construct Dangshan Biomass
Power Generation Project

Everbright Photovoltaic Energy (Huaining) Limited was
established to invest and construct Huaining Ground g
Photovoltaic Energy Project

B RERFRARBFRECHE—BUA B 2 i)
BRI _ETNFRRBFAE
RARFRERAGIL)ERAREMAYL - BERERRGI LAY ERLEEIRE

HANRREER(ZE)BRAREMALL - AEREEREEWEICAHERR
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Corporate Milestones ¥ AXFE4LE

e Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park was named as a “Model Veinous Ecological
Industrial Pilot Park for Sino-Japanese Technology Cooperation” by the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the
PRC

e Entered into an agreement in respect of a joint venture in Shenzhen Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project with DuPont
Shenzhen

e Entered into the “Strategic Cooperative Agreement” with the People’s Government of Yantai City, Shandong Province
e Entered into the “Strategic Cooperative Agreement” with the People’s Government of Sugian City, Jiangsu Province

e Commencement of construction of Sugian Waste-to-
energy Project

o ERN T A B S AR AR AR 35 0 ] [ JE B IR IR AR A IE
AFAIH ERMAEFIRER SR T XEHMERER

o BRI EKIHESIFIRERETRLRNEEIERR
o HIIREEEHARBTRBE(HUIE ERH)
o HTHEEENARBNEZ(BHAIERZ)

o EEBNFNEHTEA[FIER

e Commencement of construction of Shenzhen Rooftop
Photovoltaic Energy Project

e  Commencement of construction of Dangshan Biomass
Power Generation Project

e Entered into the “Investment Agreement in respect of
Jianggezhuang Wind Power Generation Project” with
the People’s Government of Muping District, Shandong
Province

e (Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project was awarded
“Changzhou City Municipal Demonstration Project
2010” and “Jiangsu Urban Construction Demonstrative
Project”

o FIETBRREEEEMIER

o BLEMBREEEARIER

o HIRERTVEARBITEBE(ERIRNEEEARE R

o EINRRREEEEIE R KE2010F BN mBURE T2 | RDIAFRE RS TRE]
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Received the first Voluntary Emission Reduction (VER) revenue generated from the Suzhou Methane-to-energy Project

Entered into the “Agreement in respect of Xinyi Surface
Water BT Project” with the People’s Government of Xinyi
City, Jiangsu Province

Entered into the “Agreement in respect of Sugian Yanghe

Brewery Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy On-grid Project”
with Sugian City Development and Reform Commission

FNBRETIAE F—FEFRRE(VER) WARER

EIT#HE TN ARBRREGII M R/KBTHE

)
=

10

HEEBTERVINEZE R BERFVERERAREEERB HE)

\

Entered into the “Supplementary Agreement of Concession Right” in respect of Yixing Waste-to-energy Project Phase
Il and Phase | upgrade work with the People’s Government of Yixing City

Entered into the “Agreement in respect of Yixing
Sludge Treatment” with the People’s Government of
Yixing City

Four Self-developed R&D results awarded the

“Outstanding Achievement Award” and “Self-
developed Pioneer Award” respectively

HESEHNARBARERLIFREREIEE —HR
TAE — R TRRECR R SR )

HERETARBARE(ERSRR & W)

POIE 8 TR EARD BIREBFRRE IR X
BlIFHEE]




O 8 China Everbright International Limited
R RBERAR QA

Corporate Milestones ¥ AXFE4LE

e Completion of construction of Xinyi Waste Water
Treatment BT Project

e Completion of construction of Jiangyin Waste-to-energy
Project Phase |l

e Entered into the “Agreement in respect of Linyi
Biomass Power Generation Project” with the People’s
Government of Linyi County

o FUTE/KEEIEBTIE B Foh TR

o JIRRNIFEREHEEE —HTKTIZER

o HIEERARBNZZGEZENEETHARERZS)

e The commencement of on-grid electricity generation of
Shenzhen Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project

e Everbright Environmental Energy (Changzhou) Limited
was granted as “Garden-like Demonstrative Enterprise of
Jiangsu Province”

o FMYETEAAREEEBRBHNES

o RREBRER(FM)ERADERTHIHEBEMK

BET JFESR
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The commencement of on-grid electricity generation of Zhenjiang Ground Photovoltaic Energy Project
The commencement of on-grid electricity generation of Sugian Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project

Was awarded “Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2010” by “Economic Digest”

Entered into an investment agreement in respect of three F—f i
7iin

wind farm projects with the People’s Government of i
Ningwu County, Shanxi Province ford ]! . 5

ar i -
i} (Ju l S|
Jinan Waste Water Treatment No. 1 Plant Grade 1A ' & Ul
upgrade work was awarded “Gold Standard Municipal
Demonstration Project of Shandong Province” L=
Entered into the “Concession right agreement in respect R et T
of Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase III” ==

T E R EIR B MG HE%E
ERBETRLREEIREMGHEEE
REGEE—BMARE — T TFEHPRE]
HIIREERNEARBARZE-(ARSERREWHS
BRKEFHE—R—RABCE T REFRIURE TR SR RE T

BREGNEORIEEEIE R RS E#hE)
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Chairman’s Statement
R

Continuing the strong growth momentum in 2009, the Central
Government pays great attention to environmental protection
industry. Energy conservation, environmental protection and
alternative energy were designated as one of the key industries in the
draft Twelfth-Five-Year Plan for 2011 to 2015. Besides, “The decision
to hasten the nurturing and development of strategic emerging
industries” announced by the State Council characterised the energy
conservation and alternative energy industries as an important
force to guide the future development of the economy and society.
This sector is one of the seven largest emerging industries officially
accorded support in the PRC, underscoring the bright prospects
for development. Our three core businesses, environmental energy,
environmental water and alternative energy will stand to strongly
benefit from these favorable policies which bring a very good
development opportunity for the Group.

In 2010, the Group continued to expand the operating capacity and
investment scale in the existing business sectors. Meanwhile, the
Group has expanded into solar energy and wind power businesses
while making a significant breakthrough in emission reductions at
the methane-to-energy project. As at the end of 2010, the Group
had 49 projects of waste-to-energy, methane-to-energy, waste
water treatment, etc. which commanding a total investment of

Carry forward the spirt
of China Bverorignt
Strive to estaplish

a renowneo
—Nvironmental

~rotection brang
B a1 0 FEERRANE

EE_ETNFNRIFERDE  RREFUEE
BHTPRBFNER - ERETN T —— 53
“E-RF[+H= e AMREIF - ENREIRIR MATHE
BREXKAEXERNTTR L — - EBEBRER
FOC AR IR 5 B AN 35 R B 137 BLEE S HOIRTE )
B BASERREIR IR T REIRE R IE R 51 B RK
KEMSERNEZNE | WRARER/TEE
RRANRFEOEARFEER 2 — - NEBMK
FHPIRREER  RIRKF MR =AEH - #
KR SEENBERTRRIFOEE -

-5 AEEHEERARAEBALN
EREAIRE BRI - I T ABRERE
KRBEE - TMABREETRE R THORIER
SHNERRE - BE_T—ZFK - SEEAR
T - BREE - KRREIEFIAF 49 -
#RITE 4 AR 10,600,000,0007T © /BESEER
TER ~ IR~ WP~ R ERE BB R



approximately RMB10,600,000,000. With the Group’s strategic
presence in the urban and rural areas of Jiangsu, Shandong, Shanxi,
Anhui and Guangdong Provinces, our three major business sectors
not only can strengthen our brand presence in the strategic areas but
also enjoy the synergies arising from regional convergence and closer
proximity of our different operations. Moreover, the Group has been
granted a 10-year term loan facility of US$200,000,000 from the
Asian Development Bank in 2009. The Group’s ample funding and
strong financial strengths lay a solid foundation for its development in
environmental protection and alternative energy businesses in future.

During the year under review, the profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Group was HK$616,433,000, which is
66% higher than that of last year (2009: HK$371,898,000). The
increase was mainly attributable to the steady growth of the core
environmental protection business bringing in increased revenues
and the efforts of the Group in boosting management and controlling
operating costs during the year.

In consideration of the satisfactory results and the healthy financial
position of the Group, the board of directors (the “Board”) has
proposed to pay the equity shareholders of the Company a final
dividend of HK1.5 cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of HK1.0 cent per share, the total dividends for the year will be HK2.5
cents per share (2009: HK2.2 cents per share).

Looking ahead, with the full support from our parent company,
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, we are confident of
our prospects for future development. The Group plans to boost
the competitiveness of its core environmental protection business
and increase its research and development investment to further
consolidate its leading position in regions including Jiangsu and
Shandong etc. In addition, we are exploring business opportunities
in the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta and the Bohai Bay
area.

| would like to express my heartfelt thanks to the management
and the staff of the Company. My gratitude is also extended to all
shareholders, fellow Board members and all business partners for
their unwaving trust and support. We will adhere to our aggressive
yet pragmatic approach to capture future development opportunities
and strive to achieve better returns to our shareholders.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 February 2011
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report

TTHARERE

AN enterprise Is not only the creator
of wealth,but also the sateguard of
environmental & social responsiolity

PENMEEVEH =ZNEIEE
SRR IR B T RAIES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

Operating Results

In 2010, energy conservation and environmental protection were
accorded first priority among seven emerging strategic industries
by the Central Government and accorded significant investment
and strong support. With expertise in environmental protection and
alternative energy industries, and the corporate mission of “Creating
Beautiful Environment and Rewarding the Public”, the Group has
performed well in capturing opportunities to expand its businesses.
During the year under review, the Group has classified its businesses
into 3 core sectors, environmental energy, environmental water and
alternative energy. It has put forth the utmost effort to develop its
environmental protection business while expanding its alternative
energy business. Hong Kong Head Office serves as an investment
management centre while our offices in Shenzhen and Beijing act
as project construction and technology development management
centres. The Group’s operations primarily spread over Jiangsu,
Shandong, Anhui and Guangdong Provinces, concentrating its
businesses within specific geographical areas to achieve greater
economies of scale and business synergies.

EBOBRRREE

RERE

—T-TF  BFKBERERRYA-CREER R
FIERZE  WALHEBERORARLSF
REBEIRRIIEERER - NE[BIERL
RIR - DBEHEARINTRE  BEKRS - IBZ
R RIS TRANEE - DBEFEAR - ~A&H
K EBEI D RIRREER - BIRKEMFTER=K
R - AR NHEEFERREFNRE - K2
IFREIRET - KREARBEIMERREEET
O RN SAE R R TR R R A B MK
EEEAN  XBETBOMALIES  WRE X
BAREUANERSE - ZHoMEE ST - TOREHA
T BT BRI R E o



The year 2010 witnessed the most extensive project construction
ever undertaken by the Group in its history. 13 construction
projects commenced according to schedule, generating promising
construction service revenue. Besides, the increase in scale of
operating projects and improvement of operating efficiency also
enhanced the base of operation service revenue. Taking into account
the obtaining of a number of new projects in 2010, it is expected the
Group will also be very busy in construction work in 2011 and the
construction service revenue will continue to increase. In 2010, the
Group’s consolidated turnover amounted to HK$2,929,415,000, an
increase of 66% from HK$1,765,996,000 of last year. The EBITDA
on recurring basis amounted to HK$1,059,858,000, an increase
of 49% from HK$711,609,000 of last year. In 2010, the Group
recorded valuation gains on investment properties of HK$3,996,000.
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
of 2010 was HK$616,433,000, 66% more than the HK$371,898,000
of 2009. Basic earnings per share were HK16.92 cents, HK5.53
cents more than the HK11.39 cents in the previous year.

To reward shareholders for their support and taking into
consideration the long-term continued development of the Group,
the Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per
share to shareholders of the Company. Together with the interim
dividend of HK1.0 cent per share already paid, the total dividends
for the year are to be HK2.5 cents per share (2009: HK2.2 cents per
share).
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Report 1TIERAR& e

Environmental Protection and Alternative Energy Businesses
During the year under review, the Group stepped up its efforts in
exploring environmental protection and alternative energy projects
and secured 17 new projects that carried a total investment of
approximately RMB2,828,554,000. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group was engaged in 49 environmental protection and alternative
energy projects commanding a total investment of approximately
RMB10,578,303,000. Of these projects, those with construction
completed had a total investment amounting to approximately
RMB5,635,785,000 whereas those under construction accounted
for a total investment of about RMB2,145,297,000. As for projects
still in the preparatory stage, their estimated total investment was
approximately RMB2,797,221,000. Subsequent to 31 December
2010, the Group further secured 3 new projects including
Laiyang Biomass Power Generation Project, Zibo Ceramic
Technology Development Zone Heat Pump Project and Sugian
Solid Waste Landfill Project at a total investment of approximately
RMB512,200,000.

The increasing number of environmental protection and alternative
energy projects and rising processing volume and standard have
boosted the Group’s revenue base for construction services
and operation services. During the year under review, turnover
from environmental protection and alternative energy businesses
amounted to HK$2,779,662,000 (construction service revenue:
61%, operation service revenue: 24%, and finance income: 15%),
an increase of 68% as compared with 2009 and accounting for 95%
of the Group’s total turnover, 2 percentage points more than that in
2009. EBITDA amounted to HK$972,605,000, an increase of 50%
as compared with 2009 and accounting for 92% of the EBITDA on
recurring basis.

RARRHEEREK

EEFEA NEBEZNA N ERBIIRREA
FeeRIER - BUSHTIEEB H171@ - F KRB
EANR#2828554,0007T - HE T —T4F
+ZA=+—8  AEENRREFERER
H 4010 - 2% E 49 AR ¥10,578,303,0007C °
HAEEHMEBERIENBEEREBHARE
5,635,785,0007T : fEEFHIEE RETEHARKE
2,145,297,0007T : EHEFMIEEREEIIHAR
#0 797,221,0007C e R=ZZE—TF+_-_A=+—
A% AEBE—TIEIEFIEER - BEXB
EYERERTIAR  JSBREEARER REE
EFFEIBIEE - IR E X ARKS512,200,0007T °

IRIR AL IRIE B R RIRIE N - A5 IR S /I8
EREEKENRS @ & — SR INASENE
EREMELRIEUKEER - OFEFENRN - IR
REFTEEIRETSH E 25 A8 %2,779,662,000
TT(EPEEREKEGE1% 0 BERBEKE
1524% + ISR AIE15%) » B T T AN
68% © (H4ALEFENI5Y% - B - TT NFELNM2
EEDE - BRFE - BB - TERBIEIRFNA
7B #972,605,0007C © B-EE NLFEINS50%
IR E R FE92% o



Major financial data of the environmental protection and alternative
energy businesses in 2010:

Annual Report 2010
—T-TEFR

10

“E-TFRRRFEREBR 2 EZUBHERN
™

2010 2009
Environ Environ Environ Environ
-mental -mental  Alternative -mental -mental Alternative
Energy Water Energy Energy Water Energy
Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects
RRER  REKE HeER Total  RREEE  REKHE AR Total
5B 2] HH &it 2R 128 1R ait
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT BT A%t A%t B%Tr B%Tr A%Trx
Tumover EE
- Construction senvice  — 12 #ER7E 1,360,418 233,243 91,220 1,684,881 268,078 530,516 - 798,594
- Operation service —ELRY 270,045 381,547 12,160 663,752 198,421 325,890 8,080 532,391
- Finance income —BBRA 185,979 241,924 3,126 431,029 137,533 179,311 3142 319,986
1,816,442 856,714 106,506 2,779,662 604,032 1,035,717 11,222 1,650971
EBITDA BAHE BE - ER
AT 584,896 363,801 23,908 972,605 291,041 346,249 10,990 648,280
In its energy conservation and emission reduction operations, fEEIEEE BT E c MEEENEIEAE R T
the Group has processed 1,949,000 tonnes of household and  #73J¢ 1,949,000 - 12 4% & $1585,893,000 T

industrial waste and generated 585,893,000 kilowatt-hours of green
electricity, which can fulfill the annual electricity consumption of
488,000 households and is equivalent to saving the consumption
of 234,000 tonnes of standard coal and reducing carbon dioxide
(CO,) emissions by 701,000 tonnes. Meanwhile, the Group has
treated 458,054,000 m?® of waste water (including leachate from
waste-to-energy projects) and reduced COD emission by 165,000
tonnes. Since the operation of its first environmental protection
project in 2005, the Group has processed 4,729,000 tonnes
of accumulated household and industrial waste and generated
1,540,000,000 kilowatt-hours of green electricity, which can fulfill the
annual electricity consumption of 1,280,000 households and save
the equivalent of 617,000 tonnes of standard coal, reducing the
emissions of CO, by 2,017,000 tonnes and preventing the cutting of
200,000,000 trees. Meanwhile, the Group has treated 1,657,000,000
m3 of accumulated waste water (including leachate from waste-to-
energy plants) and reduced COD emission by 655,000 tonnes.

FUBS - Al {488,000 EE—FF A - HERE
4IFZ 1 234,0000F - 5k — @ LAk PERR 701,000
e RIS K(ERIRMIELETHANLER)
458,054,00037 /53K + EIRCODRHE165,000M
BT RFLUREEREREBERBEITAR - 25t
BRIRAE N T ¥ 074,729,000 - 124k S
771,540,000,000F ELBF + A ££1,280,0001E K &
—FFEH - HEREAEEE617,0000 @ JH—
S AR BERR2,017,00008 : LA K2R > A B AR AR
££200,000,000%k © [EIB)5K (SRR K LEILER
#9728 )1,657,000,00037 15 2K - BIECODREE
655,000 ©
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A total of 15 projects: consisting of 7 projects in commercial
operation and 8 projects under construction.

The total annual processing capacity for household waste and the
total processing capacity for industrial solid waste are 3,850,000
tonnes and 625,000 m® respectively.

THE H15(E : BIEEEAIREER 7E M EEIE H 81E -
G A E 1 3 B TR 3R #8.3,850,000MF [ 48 T ¥ & 2B R 1B 10 18
625,00037 5 K o
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The Environmental Energy sector currently comprises 15 projects,
encompassing waste-to-energy projects, industrial solid waste
landfill projects (“Solid Waste Project”) and environmental protection
industrial parks. The designed total annual household waste
processing capacity is approximately 3,850,000 tonnes, capable
of yielding an average annual on-grid electricity of approximately
1,071,000,000 kilowatt-hours. The industrial waste storage capacity
is approximately 625,000 m3. The Group has taken the initiative to
connect its online inspection and testing system for gas emissions
at its operating projects for local environmental supervision as well
as a testing centre for supervision by the Government and the
public, including the Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project (“Suzhou
Project”) Phase | and II, the Yixing Waste-to-energy Project (“Yixing
Project”) Phase |, the Jiangyin Waste-to-energy Project (“Jiangyin
Project”) Phase | and Il and the Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project
(“Changzhou Project”). In addition, under the external supervision, the
project management and operational standard of these projects have
been continuously improving. Since operations have commenced,
these projects have been operating smoothly with emission levels
strictly complied with environmental protection requirements. Thus,
they are regarded as demonstration projects for site visits by various
local governments prior to construction of their waste-to-energy
plants.

The Group continued to make improvements and strove to optimise
its environmental energy business during the year under review.
On the one hand, the Group has proceeded with the construction
of the new projects, completed Jiangyin Project Phase Il ahead
of schedule and further enhanced its operating and management
standards. On the other hand, it has capitalised on its present
advantages to expand markets. In September and December, the
Group signed an agreement in relation to the Yixing Project Phase |l
and a supplemental agreement on concession right for the Suzhou
Project Phase Il respectively. The Yixing Project Phase Il carries a
total investment of approximately RMB150,843,000, which covers
the upgrade work for Phase |. After the completion of the Yixing
Project Phase Il, the combined designed daily household waste
processing capacity of Phase | and Phase Il of the Yixing Project is
planned to increase from 500 tonnes to 800 tonnes. Along with the
construction of the Suzhou Project Phase I, Phase | and Phase I
of the Suzhou Project are also to be upgraded to comply with the
Euro 2000 Standard. The Suzhou Project Phase Il will command
a total investment of RMB750,000,000 including the upgrade work
for Phase | and Phase Il. Upon completion, the Suzhou Project will
increase its designed daily household waste processing capacity
from 2,050 tonnes to 3,550 tonnes, being the largest daily household
waste processing capacity in the PRC with the most advanced
emission standard. The concession rights to operate the Suzhou
Project would also be extended by three years to 2032.

RIREFIRA BRI RIGEHEIRR - TXEER
pEYIEIE5IR A ([ERIA B ) SIRIREXE -
15MEIE B - RETAARER B IEFRIE IR EIRA
3,850,000MF : 4 44 £%Y1,071,000,000F £
R+ TREEYVREF 24962500032 75K « g
BERICE M ERNEIR R GE B E|IA R ([ &R MIER )
— T8 EEmRRGEERA ((EEEE )
—H TR R R EERERA(DIRER ) —
“HIRFEINAOR R E IR A ([FEMEE DFE
BB RBE I AR R AR B 2 M IR AR BRI 0
EITHE - BERIBUIMEEAREE « Al
BBINRE BT BTN - TERTIAR B
TEENRE - GEHIAR RELUR - —HRTEE
& ZREN . BEASBHBRTERAIRITRE
HEMAIERAREIAR ©

CIEFENAN @ NEBTEBDRE  BLREA
IRIREERET - AEB—FHE2 NHEEFHNIER
TRk - IRpIEACTIRIER T2 -
—SRABLEEKTE - S—FHENAREBE
BEDE—FMEMS  WRANLARTZAS
RIEE T HEIEE — B MER N IE B = 8%
FREEBER MR EEIEE ZHRK
&4 AR 150,843,000 T (2 —HiIRIEZTH2) -
TT% HEIER— - —HRTHREERAE
1B+ R 500ME R FF /A 800ME © fEi2 k% 1ER =
HA Y [R] B 15 3% [ B B 200012 % | & MIEE — -
THIETERERENRE - HMNIBEE ZHAKRE
AR#750,000,0007T (& — « ZHRIETIE) -
FEL% @ BMNIEB R ARG HBREEEN
%2, 050ME IR F 43,5500 » AR B R IE R R &
A PR ERER RRERBIER - #M
18 B A S E R = F = 20326 -



To better facilitate the leachate treatment of waste-to-energy
projects, during the year under review, the Group has completed the
construction of a leachate treatment system for the Suzhou Project
with a daily processing capacity of 1,000 tonnes to meet the needs
of the Suzhou Project. The leachate treatment system was built to
connect to the Government’s piping network, and was constructed
and operated under National Grade 3 Standard. It is the largest
leachate treatment system presently adopted by waste-to-energy
plants in the PRC.

During the year under review, the environmental energy projects
of the Group together processed a total of 1,911,000 tonnes of
household waste, 38,000 m? of solid waste and generated on-grid
electricity of 444,658,000 kilowatt-hours, representing an increase of
11%, 73% and 22% as compared with last year. The environmental
energy projects brought an EBITDA of HK$584,896,000,
representing an increase of 101% over last year. The growth of profit
was mainly attributable to the increased construction service revenue
driven by the commencement of construction of the Jiangyin Project
Phase II, the Jinan Waste-to-energy Project (“Jinan Project”), the
Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy Project (“Zhenjiang Project”) and the
Sugian Waste-to-energy Project (“Sugian Project”), plus the higher
operation service revenue boosted by the rising processing volume
of operating projects.
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48 E £ 444,658,000 T FL B - 7 Bl & & F 1 40
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Major operating and financial data of the Environmental Energy
sector in 2010:

Waste processing volume
(tonne)

HREER

(W)
2010

-Suzhou Project Phaseland ~ —&M1BE —H1%

—T-TFERRERRRCIEES

TS

LUl

On-grid electricity

EBITDA
(HK$'000)
BFB - BIE - TER
HsmRH (BRTT)
2010 2009

(KWh)
LPZE

(FRE)

2010 2009

Phase II () —HAn 941,000 775000 228,275,000 171,969,000 173,310 150,821
- Yixing Project Phase | @ ~EEAR—HP 240,000 228,000 51,950,000 47,020,000 24,652 23,363
- Jiangyin Project Phase | & —IEBEE-HK
Phase Il @ —He 348,000 347,000 82,709,000 70,140,000 96,747 53,985
- Changzhou Project @ —FMEE 382,000 374000 81,724,000 75,991,000 46,622 55,357
- Jinan Project ©1 L - - - - 136,504 (3,292)
- Zhenjiang Project © —ETIERAO - - - - 68,209 (891)
- Sugjan Project @ —TEB1EAN - - - - 14,493 -
— Huidong Waste-to-energy —BRARNE
Project (‘Huidong Project’) © BEER
(TE%ER e = - = - (1,678) -
1,911,000 1,724,000 444,658,000 365,120,000 558,949 279,343
- Solid Waste Project © (m?) —[EREIERY (LK) 38,000 22,000 - - 25,947 11,698
584,896 291,041

(1) The increase in profit of the Suzhou Project was mainly attributable to the
recognition of construction cost savings upon completion of the construction
final accounts of Phase II, the increase in power generation and the gradual
increase in operational efficiency during the year under review.

(2) The increase in profit of the Yixing Project was mainly attributable to the
increase in waste processing volume and on-grid electricity which brought
the growth of operation service revenue during the year under review.

(38) The increase in profit of the Jiangyin Project was mainly attributable to the
construction of the Phase Il during the year under review which generated
construction service revenue. In addition, operation service revenue was
increased because of the steady increase in waste processing volume and
on-grid electricity. The Phase Il project is currently under trial run.

(4) The decrease in profit of the Changzhou Project was mainly attributable to
the subsequent recognition of revenue generated during the trial run period
in the first half of 2009. Moreover, the project has undergone an overhaul
which increased the maintenance cost during the year under review.

(6) Construction work of the Jinan Project commenced in February 2010 and
commercial operation is expected to commence in 2011.

FMIBE AN LT TEHREEFEA-HTIRER
TRETTH - FERRRRAEL) M EBHES T
AR AR A e B AR TTPER -

HEIBEZF LT T2HREEFEASREIEE
Lk HEEE b SEEE RGBSR -

TRIBE &M L7 E2HR SR EEAFE AT
TIEER @ SISEERBIE - i EEIREEE K b
WEEIBL LI BIHELSRBE - BAT - —HA
B AT -

FINEB BN TR E2HR_TTNF LEFRHC
AR o UEHN - WA B REEFEREAEITAE
AR S B IR0 -

AEEAKR-T-TAARMTRER - iR
TR -



(6) Construction work of the Zhenjiang Project commenced in March 2010 and
commercial operation is expected to commence in 2011.

(7)  Construction work of the Sugian Project commenced in June 2010 and
commercial operation is expected to commence in 2011.

(8) The Huidong Project is now under preparation and construction is expected
to commence in the first half of 2011.

(9) The increase in profit of the Solid Waste Project was mainly attributable to
the growth of solid waste treatment volume during the year under review
which increased the operation service revenue of the project.

To build an environmental protection industrial park, the Group
works closely with the local government on centralized planning
and full utilization of local resources within the park, including the
proper sharing of infrastructure in order to collect and recycle solid
waste. All of these actions are made with the objective to optimise
land resources and achieve coordinated treatment, so ultimately
the park can achieve “zero discharge”, serving as a model for the
development of modern environmental protection business while
playing an educational role.

During the year under review, the Group applied its successful
business model of environmental protection industrial parks in
Jiangsu Province into Shandong Province in executing an agreement
with the Yantai Municipal Government to build an industrial park in
Yantai. It also extended its coverage within Jiangsu Province, by
signing an agreement with the Changzhou Municipal Government in
Jiangsu Province to develop an environmental protection industrial
park within the city. To date, the Group has signed agreements for
the construction of environmental protection industrial parks with the
municipal governments of Suzhou, Zhenjiang, Sugian, Changzhou
and Yantai. The Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous
Industrial Park spans a wide scale encompassing a number of
operating projects including waste-to-energy, waste landfill methane-
to-energy, industrial solid waste landfill and leachate treatment. Next
to be built are Phase Il of the waste-to-energy project, leachate
methane-to-energy plant, Phase Il of the industrial solid waste landfill
project, the environmental equipment manufacturing centre and the
low carbon centre etc. During the year under review, on top of the
construction of waste-to-energy and leachate methane-to-energy
projects in Zhenjiang and Sugian, the Group has also constructed
solar photovoltaic energy projects. Another industrial waste landfill
project is to be commenced soon. All of these projects are built by
Everbright Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited
(“Everbright Environmental Engineering”) and China Everbright
Environmental Energy Limited within the Group to save construction,
management and operational costs.
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A total of 22 projects: consisting of 18 projects in commercial
operation and 4 projects under construction.
The total annual waste water treatment capacity is 566,000,000 m®.

T8 B #221F : BFECEKIRETE B 18 M EEIE B 41E -
357K B TR 37 ££566,000,00037 53K o
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ENVIRONMENTAL WATER

This sector includes waste water treatment projects and projects
for integrated use of water resources. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group had a total of 18 waste water treatment projects, 3 reusable
water projects and 1 surface water project with an aggregate annual
waste water treatment capacity of approximately 566,000,000 m3,
annual reusable water capacity of 13,000,000 m?3 and annual surface
water capacity of 36,500,000 m3. During 2010, the Group has
also established an office of China Everbright Water Investments
Limited, which is responsible for the coordination and management
of all Environmental Water Projects, in Jinan. During the year under
review, the Group extended the coverage of its environmental water
business by securing the reusable water projects in Zibo, Licheng of
Jinan and Jiangyin for the first time. Besides, the Jinan Xike Waste
Water Treatment Project (“Jinan Xike Project”), the Dezhou Ling
County Waste Water Treatment Project (“Ling County Project”) Plant
2 and the newly acquired Ling County Project Plant 1 all started
operation in June 2010. Apart from the self-built and self-operated
projects, construction of the Xinyi Waste Water Treatment BT Project
(“Xinyi Project”) Phase | has also been completed in the fourth quarter
of 2010 as scheduled, and had transferred to the Xinyi Municipal
Government.

The Xinyi Surface Water Project is the second BT project undertaken
by the Group. It processes 100,000 m? of lake water for the city
each day. The project is to be transferred to the Xinyi Municipal
Government upon completion of construction by the Group. The
construction cost is approximately RMB360,300,000. This project is
expected to start construction during 2011, and the construction and
handover will be completed in 2012.

IRIRKFS
RIRKGIRBIE5/KEIEE B MKERGE T
MRER - HBE-FT-ZEF+_A=1—H K
SEAG18ES/KEEER ~ 3ET/KEMAIRAAB
RAEMRKIAR - REHERERFRIE)SKA
566,000,00032 75 K » S 4 17K 13,000,00032
T3 oK R FHR % 7K 36,500,000 75 K o —F—
TEE - PEXARKBREARAREARNER
B AEMARRKEIEENSREEE -
FER - ARERDARRRKBEHER R -
DREREERKEIRIER - ER ST KE A
HE M TEFRKEAER - BEREBEFI/KEA
KT HREE © Lok - R PR S /KEIE R
B(DERAEER ] - @INmEEKS/KEEERR
(BEFAIR A ) =B B MR SRR B — IR —
T-TENALNEABEES - REZBTE
EHIRA SN - ANEE B B EERFET5KEEBT
HB(#FOrER D—HMER 2S5 E0EFM
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During the year under review, the environmental water projects
treated 458,054,000 m? of waste water, representing an increase
of 18% as compared with last year. These operations brought an
EBITDA of HK$363,801,000, representing an increase of 5% against
last year. The increase in profit was mainly due to the increase in
waste water treatment volume which gave rise to the growth of
operation service revenue. This offset the decrease in construction
service revenue during the year.
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Major operating and financial data of the Environmental Water sector ~—ZF —ZHF EIRIR/KIGRIE 2 = BiE 2L BB S
in 2010: T
Waste Water Treatment EBITDA
Volume (m3) (HK$’000)
SKEEE BrFIE - BiIE - IHER
(3LF5XK) HHA RN (ERTT)
2010 2010 2009
- Qingdao Waste Water —E555KEIEER
Treatment Project ([E8m\AE o

(“Qingdao Project”) 67,768,000 67,252,000 30,508 32,324
- Zibo Waste Water Treatment — 1855 /KEEIEIE B

Project (including Southern (BFEFRLR -~ b

and Northern Plants and Ml m) ([EE

High-Tech Zone Plant) HE e

(“Zibo Project”) @ 113,149,000 115,683,000 40,019 43,480
- Jinan Waste Water Treatment — & 57KERIEIE B

Project (“Jinan Waste ([Ery57KIER 1)9

Water Project”) @ 159,498,000 143,095,000 107,372 126,561
- Jinan Licheng Waste Water — — R FE 5K R IE

Treatment Project (“Jinan 18 B ([ 75 m

Licheng Project”) @ IHA )@ 36,861,000 11,694,000 19,374 24,461
— Jinan Xike Project © —BERAEIEAS 5,053,000 - 13,135 11,382
— Binzhou Boxing Waste Water — &N 18 #5557k BRI

Treatment Project (“Boxing HA ([BEIEE e

Project”) © 12,072,000 8,216,000 1,986 6,302
— Zhoucun Waste Water — AR EKEIEIEE

Treatment Project (TArIEE o

(“Zhoucun Project”) @ 16,101,000 9,557,000 6,516 1,805
— Jiangyin Waste Water — IR EEIEE

Treatment Project (“Jiangyin ~ ([JIf&357KIEE J)®

Waste Water Project”) @ 42,755,000 32,515,000 117,339 99,934
— Ling County Project © —[E&ZIEHO 4,797,000 - 17,763 -
— Xinyi Project (0 —¥TEE 0 - - 9,789 -

458,054,000 388,012,000 363,801 346,249

(1) The decrease in profit of the Qingdao Project was mainly attributable to the (1) BHEEE&ZFED » TEHR —ZTAFREUARTF
receipt of the waste water treatment adjustment fee of RMB7,040,000 in ERSKERIE B AR7,040,0007T °
2009.

(2) The decline in profit of the Zibo Project was mainly attributable to the higher  (2) S&IEER B - TEAREEFEEATESKE
operational costs as a result of the increase in the proportion of industrial HILbE EF - BEUEER A LT -
waste water treatment volume during the year under review.



The decrease in profit of the Jinan Waste Water Project was mainly
attributable to the recognition of construction service revenue of overall
upgrading work in 2009. During the year under review, this project only
recognised operation service revenue.

The decrease in profit of the Jinan Licheng Project was mainly attributable to
the recognition of construction service revenue during construction in 2009.
During the year under review, this project only recognised operation service
revenue.

The Jinan Xike Project commenced commercial operation in June 2010.

The decrease in profit of the Boxing Project was mainly attributable to the
recognition of construction service revenue during construction in 2009.

The rise in profit of the Zhoucun Project was mainly attributable to the growth
of waste water treatment volume which in turn increased the operation
service revenue during the year under review.

The increase in profit of the Jiangyin Waste Water Project was mainly
attributable to the growth of waste water treatment volume which in turn
increased the operation service revenue during the year under review.

Construction work of the Ling County Project Plant 2 and the acquisition of
the Ling County Project Plant 1 were completed and commercial operations
commenced in June 2010.

The Xinyi Project commenced construction in March 2010 and has been
completed and handed over to the government in the fourth quarter of 2010.
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A total of 12 projects: consisting of 6 projects in commercial operation
and 6 projects under construction.

Projects include biomass power generation projects, methane-to-energy
projects, solar photovoltaic energy projects and wind power projects etc.
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To position itself to better succeed in the next round of international
competition, the Group is planning to strategically focus on
environmental protection and alternative energy by actively
developing and expanding solar energy, wind power and biomass
power generation businesses on top of its existing methane-to-
energy and waste water source heat pump projects. During the
year under review, the Group has established China Everbright
Alternative Energy Investment Limited to coordinate, manage and
expand its alternative energy projects. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group has secured 12 alternative energy projects which included 3
methane-to-energy projects, 4 biomass power generation projects,
4 photovoltaic energy projects and a waste water source heat
pump project, commanding a total investment of approximately
RMB1,604,248,000. Moreover, the Group has entered the wind
power sector through the agreements with the Muping District
Government of Shandong Province and Ningwu Municipal
Government of Shanxi Province respectively, under which the Group
was authorised to exclusively build 4 wind power projects in phases
to be decided based on their actual situation. It is expected that the
total investment will involve over RMB1,510,400,000 with a total
installation capacity of 170 megawatts and a designed annual power
generation capacity of 329,000,000 kilowatt-hours.

During the year under review, the alternative energy projects brought
an EBITDA of HK$23,908,000, which was mainly attributable to
construction service revenue generated by the commencement of
construction of the waste water source heat pump project and the
Dangshan Biomass Power Generation Project (“Dangshan Project”)
and the continuous growth in the profit contribution of methane-to-
energy projects.

The Group’s methane-to-energy operations include sludge, waste
landfill and leachate methane-to-energy projects. Methane-to-energy
is not only a safe solution for the methane pollution problem, but also
turn waste into value, providing electricity for factories and achieving
the goal of emissions reduction. The Suzhou Methane-to-energy
Project (“Suzhou Methane Project”) is the Group’s first alternative
energy project in operation as well as the first Gold Standard
Voluntary Emission Reduction (“VER”) project in the PRC. During the
year under review, the Suzhou Methane Project supplied 26,148,000
kilowatt-hours of electricity to the power grid and brought an EBITDA
of HK$12,735,000, representing an increase of 13% as compared
with 2009.
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The Group’s waste water source heat pump project in Zibo City of
Shandong Province uses recycled water to provide heating service
in winter and cooling service in summer at a total investment of
RMB57,887,000.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had signed investment
agreements with the People’s Governments of Xinyi City and
Shuyang County in Jiangsu Province, Dangshan County in Anhui
Province and Linyi County in Shandong Province to secure the
authorisation to invest and build biomass power generation projects.

Dangshan Project is the first biomass power generation project of
the Group. It started construction in July 2010 and is expected to be
completed and to commence operation in 2011. The construction
and operation of this project signifies the development of a new
investment and management model in the biomass power generation
field by the Group. The Group secured a new project in Laiyang
County in Shandong Province in January 2011 by riding on the
presence of its existing projects. These projects are now undergoing
initial preparation and construction service revenue is expected to
be generated for the Group after the respective construction starts
during 2011.

During the year under review, the Group secured 4 solar photovoltaic
energy projects, including the already completed and operating
Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Golden Sun Pilot Project in Shenzhen,
the Jiangsu Zhenjiang Photovoltaic Energy Project and the Jiangsu
Sugian Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project, as well as the Anhui
Huaining Ground Photovoltaic Energy Golden Sun Pilot Project
which is still under construction. The completion of these projects
would establish a new milestone in the development of the Group’s
alternative energy business.

During the year under review, the Group achieved a breakthrough in
wind power through securing wind power projects at Jianggezhuang
in Muping District within Yantai City, Shandong Province and Ningwu
County in Shanxi Province respectively. In 2011, the Group plans to
implement wind measurement tests and analysis of these 2 projects,
i.e., 4 wind farms, in order to determine the appropriate investment
scale and construction plan.
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Everbright Environmental Engineering is the Group’s engineering
technology platform for environmental protection construction
business development in the PRC. Everbright Environmental
Engineering holds the licence as a “Main Contractor for Municipal
Public Works” as well as ISO9001:2000 (Quality), 1ISO-14001
(Environment) and OHSMS28001 (Occupational Health and Safety)
Management System accreditations. It is also designated as a
“National High Tech Enterprise”.

Regardless of the scale and size of investment in a project, Everbright
Environmental Engineering has insisted on “Producing quality
facilities and building a brand respected for quality” in carrying out
its work. It upholds the Group’s operating philosophies of “Integrity,
Pragmatism, Efficiency and Innovation” to deliver work of “Excellent
design through deploying state-of-art technology and advanced
equipment as well as high quality construction and first class
management”. Through its strengths in technology, management
and human resources and stringent controls on the “Quiality, Safety,
Progress and Cost of construction”, the Group is able to fulfill its
commitment to society of developing environmental protection
projects with first class quality, advanced technology, high standard
and outstanding efficiency recognised by governments at different
administrative levels, helping it establish a strong reputation within the
industry.

Projects completed by Everbright Environmental Engineering
include construction of household waste-to-energy plants, solid
waste landfils and methane-to-energy plants in Suzhou City, Yixing
City, Jiangyin City and Changzhou City in Jiangsu Province, and
construction and upgrading of waste water treatment plants in Zibo
City and Jinan City in Shandong Province. Other projects in progress
include household waste-to-energy projects, waste water treatment
projects, biomass power generation projects, solar photovoltaic
energy projects, surface water project and reusable water projects in
Jiangsu, Shandong and Anhui Provinces.
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As at the end of 2010, Everbright Environmental Engineering had
24 projects completed which have commenced operations and 19
projects in progress. The past year was a year in which the Group
has the most projects under construction in the environmental
protection business. Everbright Environmental Engineering has
pushed forward at full speed ahead on the construction of different
projects, ensuring works proceed smoothly and safely, according
to high standards with effective cost control measures. During the
year under review, the Group has completed the construction of
7 projects, including the Jiangyin Project Phase Il, 3 waste water
treatment projects in Jinan Xike, Xinyi and Ling County and 3 solar
photovoltaic energy projects in Shenzhen, Zhenjiang and Sugian.
In January 2011, the Group also completed the upgrading work for
the leachate treatment project in Zhenjiang. This is the first external
project undertaken by the Group, demonstrating its capability to
develop projects independently. 19 projects under construction or
at the preparation stage are scheduled to be completed in 2011 to
2013.

Guided by its emphasis on scientific development and business
development strategies, Everbright Environmental Engineering will
continue to learn from its experience, consolidate and enhance its
engineering technology, optimise management flow and develop
human resources, with the aim of making a critical contribution to
build a resource-efficient and environmentally-friendly society.
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Environmental Protection Technology
IR IR

Everbright Environmental Protection Technological
Development (Beijing) Limited is the platform of technology
transformation and technological research and development
of the Group for its development into a new environmental
protection enterprise.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION TECHNOLOGICAL
DEVELOPMENT

Everbright Environmental Protection Technological Development
(Beijing) Limited is the Group’s platform of cooperation with
technology research institutions, international technology transfer and
technological research and development.

During the year under review, the Group has identified 10 major
research and development areas and achieved substantial results in
the key topics. Among these, the self-developed grate furnace and
automatic control systems with a daily waste processing capacity of
400 tonnes have been installed at the Jiangyin Project Phase II. The
equipment boasts lower costs with good quality and performance.
The Group is now developing 300-tonne and 350-tonne grate
furnaces for its Zhenjiang and Sugian projects. The success of grate
furnaces and automatic control systems marked a milestone in
the Group’s development of its environmental protection business,
allowing the Group to develop the new “Environmental protection
equipment R&D and manufacturing” business sector, move from
a downstream segment to mid-to-up stream sectors thereby
enhancing its core competitiveness. In addition, the Group’s first
sludge treatment project provides landfill after dehydration. The next
major goal is to incinerate the sludge in the Yixing Project Phase |l
which would be a breakthrough in sludge treatment.

During the year under review, the Group has submitted applications
for 7 research projects. As at the end of 2010, it also obtained 6
invention patents and 10 utility patents. The Group has won the
Excellent Results Awards at the Sixth China International Forum on
Environment and Development and the Fourth China International
Exhibition of Achievements in Building Environmentally-Friendly
Society. The accolades were garnered by its mechanical grate
furnace combustion control system, solid waste leachate treatment
technology, waste water source heat pump central heating and
cooling technology. Its preparation of drinking water through urban
waste water treatment technology has also been honoured with the
Innovative Award.
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The Group will continue to invest in technological innovation and
enhance its research and development capabilities, with the aim of
lowering construction and operating costs and boosting the cost
effectiveness and competitiveness of its projects. The Group will seek
to commercialise patented technologies and strive to develop into
a new environmental protection enterprise that deploys “Top-notch
technigues and high-end technologies”.
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The Qingzhou Bridge is at the center of the major
transportation hub of Fuzhou City. The traffic

flow of the Qingzhou Bridge continued to grow,
providing steady cashflow to the Group.
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Toll Bridge

The Qingzhou Bridge is at the center of the major transportation
hub of Fuzhou City. Traffic flow on the bridge has been increasing
steadily since traffic commenced in 2003, thus has been a stable
source of cash flow for the Group. In 2010, the average daily number
of standard vehicles crossing the bridge was increased by 27% to
44,939 as compared with 2009. The project generated an EBITDA
of HK$126,750,000 to the Group, an increase of 18% as compared
with that in 2009.

Looking forward, with the gradually recovering global economy
bringing increasing truck traffic and the commencement of service of
Phase Il of the North Airport Highway in Fuzhou, traffic on Qingzhou
Bridge is expected to keep rising.

QINGZHOU BRIDGE
BN
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HONOURS AND RECOGNITION B
Awards won by the Group during the year under review are listed as ~ REIEEFEE R - NEBLEZIEERLE » S£500F:
follows:
Date Organiser Awards
AR ERgEa 1815
February 2010 solidwaste.com.cn 2009 Top Ten Most Influential Solid Waste Enterprises
—E—ZFF R PR [ [ BE A in the PRC
2009F EHBIERE+RZENE
June 2010 China Vitality Association and China 2010 Most Innovative Companies in the PRC
—E-FFRA Enterprise News 2010F R EREB TR
Bl HEE R EREERE
September 2010 Mercomm Inc. 24th International ARC Awards 2010 — Honour Award
—E—FEF A for Interior Design (Waste Water Treatment Group)
58— 10 EBIFRARCHF A B R aTHL (2010588 82
— kAR
September 2010 Mercomm Inc. 24th International ARC Awards 2010 — Bronze Award
—E—TFNA for Interior Design (Waste Recycling Solutions Group)
5 — 1P EBRARCHF HA B R aT L E(2010)8H2E —
REY RIS 2248 B
December 2010 Economic Digest Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2010
—T-TF+_A OE—IA 2010F {3
BUSINESS PROSPECTS ERRE

2011 is the first year under the Twelfth-Five Year Plan and the State
intends to gradually introduce favourable policies to implement
investment and construction of alternative energy industry. Being
benefited from these policies and concern with the worsening global
warming problem, development of alternative energy has become
a major trend fuelling the growth of the entire industry. Demand
for domestic environmental protection solutions continues to be
strong, creating bright prospects for alternative energy business.
The Group continues to adhere to the management and operating
principle of “People-orientation, Pragmatism, Creativity and
Systematic Management” and ride on its core competitive strength,
expertise and brand leadership to achieve sustainable development
of professionals, continue the implementation of environmental
protection projects and growth of green GDP while facilitating the
continuous, rapid and healthy growth of the Group’s business.

The Group has expanded its industry chain both horizontally and
vertically. Its businesses are strategically located in both cities and
rural areas in Jiangsu, Shandong, Guangdong and Anhui Provinces,
bringing economies of scale and synergies to the Group’s operations.
The Group has also implemented many projects in new fields for the
first time in 2010 which will commence construction and operation
in the coming year. In 2011, the Group will continue to push on its
project construction and operation and step up its effort in expanding
its alternative energy business, including the solar energy and wind
power projects where public attention is focused.
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The Group’s years of experience in project construction and
management as well as the operation of completed projects is a
fundamental advantage in developing alternative energy projects. The
Group also has forged partnerships with academic and specialised
research institutions which can support the Group’s development in
the alternative energy industry in the future.

The Group will continue to improve internal operations and
procedures as well as external capabilities, expand its core business
as well as alternative energy business and advance its horizontal
and vertical development model in order to enhance its brand
presence in the market. It aims to speed up pursuit of projects in the
Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Bohai Bay area to benefit
the economy, environment and society, as well as generate strong
returns for shareholders.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Position

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total assets amounting to
HK$10,870,391,000, with HK$5,338,052,000 worth of net assets
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, amounting
to HK$1.461 per share, an increase of 16% as compared with
HK$1.257 per share for the year of 2009. As at 31 December 2010,
gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the Group was 47%,
4 percentage points more than the 43% as at the end of 2009.

Financial Resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and low costs of funds.
It finances its operations primarily with internally generated cash flow
and loan facilities from banks and funds from its ultimate holding
company. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had cash and
bank balances of HK$1,432,424,000, representing a decrease of
HK$591,848,000 as compared to HK$2,024,272,000 at the end of
2009. The decrease was mainly due to the payment of construction
cost during the year under review. Currently, most of its cash, about
90%, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
HK$3,940,107,000, representing an increase of HK$838,801,000 as
compared to HK$3,101,306,000 at the end of 2009. The borrowings
comprised secured bank loans of HK$2,182,473,000, unsecured
bank loans of HK$1,586,924,000, other loans of HK$53,271,000
and loans of HK$117,439,000 owed to the ultimate holding
company. The borrowings are mainly denominated in Renminbi, a
portion of about 84%, and the remaining are denominated in US
dollars and Hong Kong dollars. All the borrowings are at floating
rates. In 2010, the average interest rate of the Group’s borrowings
dropped from 6% to 5%, which was mainly attributable to interest
rate cuts.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly
denominated in Renminbi. The Group mainly settles business
expenses in the PRC with Hong Kong dollar remittance and income
in Renminbi. It has not used any financial instruments to hedge
against bank borrowings in Renminbi, which are used mainly to meet
capital requirements of its business in the PRC. The Group closely
manages and monitors foreign currency risks given the increased
loan balances in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2010, specified banking facilities of the Group
were secured by certain revenue and receivables in connection
with the Group’s service concession arrangement, bank deposits,
mortgages on fixed assets and shares of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. These banking facilities, amounting to HK$2,820,729,000
(2009: HK$2,885,595,000), were utilised to the extent of
HK$2,182,473,000 (2009: HK$1,706,778,000) of the facilities as at
31 December 2010. The aggregate net book value of assets pledged
amounted to HK$3,980,856,000 (2009: HK$4,055,137,000).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had outstanding commitments
in connection with a TOT arrangement of HK$28,411,000 and
purchase commitments outstanding in connection with construction
contracts of HK$773,756,000.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, the Company had issued financial
guarantees to five wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly
owned subsidiary. The directors do not consider it probable that
a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Company as at year end under the
guarantees issued is the facility drawn down by the subsidiaries of
HK$1,517,459,000 (2009: HK$956,044,000).

Internal Management

The Group adheres diligently to the management principle of
focusing on “People-orientation, Pragmatism, Creativity and
Systematic Management” and is committed to building a solid risk
management culture. During the year under review, the Group
restructured the Management Committee and invited the Group’s
management, the persons-in-charge of different sectors and different
departments to be the members of the Committee. They focused
on developing solutions to solve the problems of different sectors
and enhancing management efficiency. They have completed the
integration of four sectors during the year: environmental protection
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engineering, environmental protection technological development,
environmental energy and environmental water, and enhanced
internal communication. The Group also formulated and optimised a
series of measures to strengthen internal management including the
“Revised Target Management and Appraisal Policy for Environmental
Protection Project Companies”, the “Construction Budgetary
Management Policy”, the “Financial Computerised Management
and System”, “the Venture Project Management Policy”, the “Key
Equipment R&D, Design, Manufacturing and Sales Incentive Policy”
and the “Investment Project Management Policy”. With the help
of the Risk Management Advisory Committee, the Engineering
Technical Management Committee and the Budget Approval
Management Committee, the Group formulated strict procedures on
investment in and construction and operation of new environmental
protection projects to reduce risk exposure.

Human Resources

The Group highly values its human resources. It believes realising
the full potential of its employees is crucial to its long term growth,
thus it puts great emphasis on staff training. In 2010, the Company
co-organised a Master of Environmental Engineering program with
the School of Environmental Science and Engineering of Tsinghua
University to raise the staff’'s engineering capabilities. This will help
complement the development needs of the Group’s environmental
protection and alternative energy businesses through deployment
of top-notch techniques and high-end technologies. The aims of
the program are to improve the professional skills of staff and their
work efficiency, and, in turn, the overall performance of the Group.
The Group also nominated 10 management staff to participate
in the CEO course organised by Tsinghua University in order to
improve their leadership and integrated management quality. It also
organised two outward bound training sessions for the entire staff to
bolster execution capability and team spirit. The Group has provided
newcomers with pre-service training to help familiarise them with the
Group’s corporate culture. The Group has also organised outbound
trips for staff to improve their technological capabilities and broaden
their exposure through visits and exchanges.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had approximately 1,400
employees in Hong Kong and mainland China. Employees of the
Group are remunerated according to their qualifications, experience,
job nature, performance and with reference to market conditions.
Apart from a discretionary performance bonus, the Group also
provides other benefits such as medical insurance and provident fund
scheme to employees in Hong Kong. According to the share option
scheme approved by the Company’s extraordinary general meeting
on 26 May 2003, at the discretion of the Board, share options may
be granted as performance incentives to any employees, including
directors. During the year under review, no share option was granted.
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Corporate Governance

The Group has strived to maintain high corporate governance
standards as it believes good corporate governance is essential to
maintain and enhance the confidence of the shareholders of the
Company and safeguarding shareholders’ interest as well as the
key to assuring healthy business development. The Group upholds
the management principle of “People-orientation, Pragmatism,
Creativity and Systematic Management”, and through a set of rules
and regulations, has continuously strengthened internal controls
and risk management. Furthermore, by full and timely public
disclosure of information, the Group has maintained transparency
and accountability aligned with its corporate values. The Board
meets regularly and has set up an Executive Committee, an Audit
Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Management
Committee. For risk management, the Group has set up a Risk
Management Advisory Committee to monitor and assess risks
regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. To manage technological risk, the Group has in
place an Engineering Technical Management Committee responsible
for assessing the technologies used in different investment projects.
For financial controls, the Group insists on stringent budget
management, and has set up a Budget Approval Management
Committee that focuses on monitoring construction budgets. In
addition, the Group has also set up an Internal Audit Department to
perform internal audits on investment projects to bolster the Group’s
management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”) has been
duly adopted by the Board as the code on corporate governance
practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company had complied
with the provisions of the Code and most of the recommended best
practices as set out in the Code.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Tang Shuangning
(Chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and six other executive
directors, namely Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li Xueming, Mr. Chen
Xiaoping, Mr. Wang Tianyi, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung and Mr.
Cai Shuguang. Its main responsibilities include performing the duties
assigned by the Board as well as exercising the authority and rights
authorised by the Board. The general mandate in relation to the
Executive Committee in written form has already been established.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, currently comprising all three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Selwyn Mar
(Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai Haitao, is primarily
responsible for reviewing the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, as well as discussing and reviewing internal
control and financial reporting matters of the Group. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are disclosed on the website of the
Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and
KPMG, the Company’s auditors, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s internal
control and financial reporting matters, including review of the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang
Qiutao (Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and the three
independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr.
Selwyn Mar, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai Haitao. Its main
duties include offering advice to the Board on the matters pertaining
to the remuneration policy and remuneration structure of the directors
and senior management of the Company. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are disclosed on the website of the
Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, and offered
advice on the same to the Board.

Management Committee

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen Xiaoping
(Chairman), the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Wang
Tianyi (Vice-chairman), the General Manager of the Company, Mr.
Raymond Wong Kam Chung, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, Mr. Cai Shuguang, the person-in-charge of Environmental
Energy sector, the General Manager of Everbright Environmental
Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited, the General Manager
of Everbright Environmental Protection Technology Development
(Beijing) Limited and the persons-in-charge of Environmental Water
sector, Alternative Energy sector and the Investment Development
Department. Whereas the persons-in-charge of the Investment
Management Department and Legal Department attend the
meetings as non-voting delegates. The Management Committee is
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the decision-making body for day-to-day operations and its main
duties include performing the duties assigned by the Board as well
as exercising the authority and rights authorised by the same. The
general mandate in relation to the Management Committee in written
form has already been established.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Group has adopted the model code (“the Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions of directors. Specific enquiry has
been made with all the directors, who confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2010.

OTHER INFORMATION

Final Dividend

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per
share (2009: HK1.2 cents per share) to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 14
April 2011. Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the final
dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
dividend warrants will be dispatched to shareholders on or about
Monday, 16 May 2011.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 14 April 2011 to Tuesday, 19 April 2011 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend for the year, all completed
transfer forms accompanied with the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrars, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, \Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 13 April 2011.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities
There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.

Chen Xiaoping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 February 2011
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With strong sense of social responsibility and mission, the
Group has been enthusiastically participating in social charity
activities, such as energy conservation and emission reduction,
environmental education, donation and environmental greening
during the process of rapid development of its environmental
protection business.
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The Group commenced its environmental protection business
in 2003, and has been taking advantage of the opportunities
arising from the PRC’s comprehensive implementation of scientific
development and emphasis on energy conservation and emissions
reduction, environmental protection as well as building a community
with ecological balance, from which the Group will take the
responsibility to create a beautiful environment and benefit the
general public while at the same time commit to the eco-mission
and pay back the society. Under the strong support from our
parent company China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, the
Group, after years of “Exploration, deployment and development”
and with its quality professional management team working with
the philosophy of “Integrity, Pragmatism, Efficiency and Innovation”,
created a series of outstanding environmental protection projects
which are of excellent quality, standard, technology and efficiency,
therefore setting a renowned brand that is highly regarded by the
peers.

While environmental protection is the key for creating a balance
ecosystem, it is also crucial for the sustainable development of the
state. The Group will continue to actively look for new development
opportunities, enhance its effort in research and development
of environmental protection technology, encourage innovation
and make more significant advancements with its environmental
protection business so as to serve for the environmental protection of
people and the health of community, to which it is fulfiling the social
responsibility of an environmental protection guard.

As a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”), the Group is a public
listed company as well as a social responsibility enterprise. As such,
it needs to take the initiative to take up social responsibility. For
years, the Group has been holding social responsibility as its basic
values, been always committed to social responsibility and fulfilling its
obligations in following aspects of its work:

- Protect shareholders’ interests, realize the responsibility of
maximizing investors’ values;

- Realize the win-win development responsibility with business
partners by integrity and honesty;

- Realize the responsibility of protecting creditors’ legal rights;

- Realize the responsibility to employees by taking care of their
growth and adding value to their abilities;

- Realize the responsibility of sustainable development by
enhancing environmental protection and building up an energy-
conservative society;

- Participate and support social charity activities.
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The recent operating results and the financial strength of the Group
both experienced a significant growth under the nurture of positive
policies in the PRC as well as the support and guidance from the
government of every level. With the economic benefits of the Group
steadily growing, the Group would put emphasis on protecting
the interests of its shareholders and focus on reasonable return to
its investors. Since 2004, the Group insisted to pay dividend to its
shareholders on a half year basis, which demonstrated the sharing of
the achievements in business development with the shareholders.

The Group continues to optimize the governance structure, set
up requirements for the operation and protect shareholders’ legal
rights. In accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules,
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“Companies Ordinance”) and the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Company convenes and holds general meeting, deals
with all shareholders fairly and ensures that all shareholders can fully
exercise their rights. The Company strictly complies with the Listing
Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles of
Association so as to effectively regulate the fairmess of the disclosure
of information and protect the legal rights of investors. Through
different activities and channels, such as results press conferences
twice a year, investors’ and securities analysts’ visits, meetings
with analysts and corporate investors etc., the Company has taken
the initiatives to strengthen the intimate communication with the
shareholders and investors.

The Company not only pursues the optimization of the shareholders’
interest, but also ensures the financial stability of the Company, the
safety of the Company’s assets and capital and the lawful interests
of creditors. All material decision making processes on the Group’s
operation have considered comprehensively and practically protected
the creditors’ lawful interests.

The Group enters into agreements with the local governments in the
regions where the projects are invested to construct and operate projects
on “BOT” (Build - Operate - Transfer), “TOT” (Transfer - Operate -
Transfer), “BOO” (Build - Operate - Own) or “BT” (Build - Transfer) basis.
When the construction work of the projects is progressing, the Group
would strictly abide by the terms of contracts entered into between the
Group, design institute, supervision companies, equipment suppliers
and the enterprises for construction and installation, ensuring that the
fees for equipment and construction would be fully paid on schedule. As
a result, the Group enjoys a very good reputation in the industry. In the
meantime, the Group has fuffilled the commitment to local governments
and community. The construction work of each project is completed
on schedule with quality and all discharges are of strict compliance to
the standards, largely protecting the interests of the local governments
and the community. In 2009, the Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project
had been appraised by CCTV as “Garden-like waste-to-energy plant”.
Following the completion of upgrading work of the Jinan Waste
Water Treatment Plant No. 1 and 2 and the commencement of the
commercial operation of Jinan Waste Water Treatment Plant No. 3, the
treated waste water in Jinan City has reached Grade 1A standard. At
present, about 85% of the COD emission reduction in Jinan and Zibo
cities is done by the Group.
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Environmental protection is an essential national policy of the PRC
to solve the increasingly serious environmental problem, procure
environmental balance development and implement sustainable
development strategies. It is not only a tough mission for the whole
society but also a social responsibility taken by the Group.

In 2010, the Group has processed household and industrial waste
of 1,949,000 tonnes, providing green electricity of 585,893,000 kWh
for 488,000 households in a year, saving the equivalent of 234,000
tonnes of standard coal and reducing carbon dioxide emission of
701,000 tonnes. The Group has also treated waste water (including
leachate) of 458,054,000 m3, reducing the COD emission of 165,000
tonnes.

The Group strives to adopt high standard on construction and
operation of the environmental protection projects. Emission standard
of waste-to-energy projects is above the national standard. Gas
emission construction complies with Euro Il standard. The Group
has taken initiative to enhance its gas emission standard to Euro
2000 Standard, the most stringent standard in the world currently,
thereby maintains its leading position in the waste-to-energy industry.
Moreover, the Group has taken initiative to accept supervision from
the local governments and general public by linking up its online
gas emission monitoring system with the network of the local
environmental protection departments. Waste water treatment
projects are constructed and operated according to the national Grade
1A standard. Currently, all of the 4 waste-to-energy gas emissions
monitoring systems in operation are linked with the network of the
local environmental protection departments, subject to the supervision
of the governments and the public. Through external supervisions,
the Group has been striving to upgrade its project management and
improve quality of operation.

In 2010, Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project was awarded the “Jiangsu
Outstanding Environmental Protection Work” and “Outstanding
Gardening and Greening Project”; Changzhou Waste-to-energy
Project won the “Jiangsu Urban Construction Demonstrative Project”.
The waste water treatment projects in Jinan City scored 95.67 marks
in the “National Rating for Waste Water Processing Works in 36 Mid-
to-Metropolitan Sized Cities in the First Half of 2010”, ranking first in
the list. Yixing Leachate Treatment System won the “Hubei Scientific
and Technological Achievements Promotion Award”. Zibo Water
Project Company won the award of “Zibo Integrity Advanced Unit”
and Jiangyin Water Project Company was awarded “2009 Top Ten
Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction Advanced Enterprises”
by Jiangyin Municipal Committee and Municipal Government.
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The Group was appointed by the government to assume the
responsibility of drafting of the waste-to-energy industry standard
and compiled the white paper of “The Standard of Jiangsu Waste-
to-Energy Project Series” based on the production and operation of
Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited.

Through the various means of effort, the Group intends to
research and develop the new technology applicable to the PRC
environmental protection industry, with an aim to contribute more in
energy conservation as well as emission reduction in the PRC. (1)
The leachate treatment of a waste-to-energy project is a common
problem for the industry. The Group took the initiative to accept the
responsibility of solving the industry problem by being the pioneer
to apply Grade 1A standard in leachate treatment system for Yixing
Waste-to-energy Project. The processed reusable water in this
project is also applied in recycling and planting, which demonstrate
a breakthrough in the industry. Subsequently, the Group has
constructed Suzhou, Jiangyin, Changzhou and Yixing leachate
methane-to-energy projects and all of them have been operating
smoothly. With a great pool of talent and technical capacity for
technological design, a complete set of machinery, construction
organization and trial, the Leachate Treatment Technology Center
has laid a strong foundation for taking up external contracting works.
Tackling such problem successfully marks a significant move forward
in the Group’s environmental technology. (2) To achieve domestically
developed grate furnaces, the Group has initiated its research
and development on domestically developed grate furnaces and
automatic control system based on its experience in the projects
in Suzhou, Yixing, Jiangyin and Changzhou. By the end of 2010,
the first grate furnace developed by the Group has been put into
operation in the Jiangyin Waste-to-energy Project Phase |l, yielding
satisfactory operating results. (3) The Group has also overcome the
technical problem of decontamination of sludge, from cost reduction
to the technical aspect. At present, the Yixing Sludge Treatment
Project is under construction, and the sludge treatment programs in
Suzhou and Jiangyin have basically been implemented.
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CDM and VER are both internationally recognized carbon emission
reduction trading projects, and the Group has made solid
achievements in these two areas during the year under review. The
Suzhou Waste Landfill Methane-to-energy Gold Standard VER
Project finished its first verification of emission reductions (the verified
emission reductions from 22 April 2007 to 31 July 2009 was 204,000
tonnes), issuance and sales. The second verification has also been
completed, and the monitoring report is still in preparation. At the end
of 2010, the Group entered into the “Certified Emission Reduction
Purchase Agreement” with Macquarie Bank Limited of Australia for
the Dangshan Biomass Power Generation CDM Project. The project
has been notified to and filed with the United Nations Secretariat, and
has been under the publicity period for one month, consulting the
public in this respect.

The Group has a well-facilitated and advanced open laboratory.
Its technology development equipments and developing ability are
of international advanced and local top standards, and enabled
continuous training for technology staff. This provided them with
new information worldwide which facilitated the development of
more high-tech products. Up to the end of year 2010, a software
copyright and 31 patent applications had been filed by the Group,
among which 18 were invention patents and 13 were utility invention
patents. A software copyright and 16 patents (including 10 utility
invention patents and 6 invention patents) were secured. In addition
to application for patents, technological achievements were being
promoted and applied comprehensively in daily operation of each
project that resources could be utilized more effectively to help
pushing environmental protection and sustainable development a
step further ahead.
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The Group has established environmental and social responsibility
management system and environmental protection annual planning,
which implements stringent control over new projects, upgrade
projects and expansion projects of the Group and had been
incorporated in the enterprise’s overall project management. The
management of “Planning, Implementation, Inspection, Review”
is carried out in each environmental project and the requirements
and targets of the environment will be included at all levels in the
management system. The Group has formulated an accurate,
swift and sensitive monitoring system, established comprehensive
indicators for monitoring system of environmental management
and is equipped with advanced monitoring equipment and set up
an information and data system, etc. The Group also implemented
the integration of information collection, forecasting, prediction and
control.

The Group has established its environmental and social responsibility
management system as well as social security system in accordance
with the “Resettlement Framework” requirements stipulated by Asian
Development Bank. For land acquisition and resettlement issues in
new projects, the Group assists the governments with demolition
and resettlement work and ensures all affected households are
compensated accordingly. There will be a follow up period of two
years for external monitoring and evaluation, with an aim to help
those affected to restore to normal working and living conditions.
The Group has also formulated the Environmental Pollution Qutburst
Contingency Measures and Emergency Response Plan, and
established its environmental and social responsibility management
system. The plans and systems are carried out in all the project
companies. In order to achieve best control over pollutants
generation and reduce its impacts on neighboring environment
and households, the Group has imposed general environment and
safety management and monitoring through the preparatory stage,
construction period and operation period.

The Group applies appropriate knowledge, technical and skKill
training to facilitate the integration of environmental protection,
corporate social responsibility and sustainability development in each
management activities, based on the different level of management,
technical and operational personnel and according to the needs of
the jobs.
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Hong Kong Award EHBIEIE

The Group was awarded with the “Hong Kong Outstanding
Enterprises” by the Hong Kong magazine, Economic Digest, in four
consecutive years in 2010.

AHER BBGL DR INKE -
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PRC Awards h 8T8

The Group was awarded with the “2009 Top Ten Most Influential
Solid Waste Enterprises in the PRC” and the “2010 Most Innovative
Enterprises in the PRC” in 2010.
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Social Charity Activities

While the Group creates economic benefits, the Group remains
enthusiastic in social charity and is keen on initiating and participating
in a range of activities including charity and donations. The Group
also provides enthusiastic support to social commonweal including
education, culture and hygiene, which gradually develops a way to
repay the society with “Everbright International” characteristics.

In 2010, after the earthquake of Yushu in Qinghai City, the Group
immediately organized its entire staff to participate in fund-raising
activities. Following the construction of the Dangshan Biomass
Power Generation Project in Anhui Province, the Group promised to
construct and donate a primary school to the local government in
Dangshan.
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The Group focuses on producing skilled talents. The Group has
trained hundreds of specialized technical staff for the waste water
treatment plants and waste-to-energy plants in areas where its
investments laid. Such move gained the recognition from the local
governments as well as all sectors of society. Each project company,
with the assistance of the local governments, develops technology
center and environmental model projects and aims at promoting
common knowledge on environmental protection technology to
college, secondary and primary students, students majoring in
environmental studies and nearby citizens. The project companies
welcome visitors and field workers for over a hundred times every
year, catering up to 5,000 to 8,000 people.

Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park
has mapped out new projects like Suzhou City Environmental
Education Base and Citizens’ Low Carbon Experience Pavilion. It
sets up an eco-friendly, low-carbon and educational eco-industrial
park for local citizens, further enhances the public environmental
awareness efficiently, and creates social benefits.

The Group actively initiates and participates in environmental
greening and tree planting activities in the areas of each project. It
organizes staff to join local tree planting activities every year and each
staff plants over 20 trees in average.

The Group has been sticking to its belief of “considering benefits for
the others to promote a welfare society” and actively making such
belief into practice. Over the previous years, the Group has developed
close collaborations with the national charitable organizations like
China Charity Foundation, Red Cross of China, China Foundation
for Poverty Alleviation, China Youth Development Foundation and
China Environmental Culture Promotion Association etc, and has
contributed its effort to repay the society as its commitment to social
responsibility.

The Group hopes to facilitate the growth of enterprises, develop
social charity undertakings as well as to foster social harmony and
progress of mankind in synchronicity through its incessant efforts.
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Strive to maintain high
standard of Corporate
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Corporate Governance
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Upholds the management principle of “People-oriented,

Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic Management” and
strives to enhance the corporate governance of the Group.
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The Group strives to maintain a high corporate governance standard
as it believes good corporate governance is essential to maintain
and enhance the confidence of the shareholders of the Company
and safeguarding shareholders’ interest as well as the key to
assuring healthy business development. The Group upholds the
management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity
and Systematic Management”, and through a set of rules and
regulations, has continuously strengthened internal controls and risk
management. Furthermore, by full and timely public disclosure of
information, the Group has maintained transparency, accountability
which also enhanced its corporate values. The Board meets regularly
and has set up an Executive Committee, an Audit Committee, a
Remuneration Committee and a Management Committee. For risk
management, the Group has set up a Risk Management Advisory
Committee to monitor and assess risk regularly, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects. To
manage technological risk, the Group has in place an Engineering
Technical Management Committee responsible for assessing the
technologies used in different investment projects. For financial
control, the Group insists on stringent budget management, and has
set up a Budget Approval Management Committee that focuses on
monitoring construction budgets. In addition, the Group has also
set up an Internal Audit Department to perform internal audits on
investment projects to bolster the Group’s management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules has been duly adopted by the Board as the code on
corporate governance practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company had complied
with the provisions of the Code and most of the recommended best
practices as set out in the Code.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and function
The Board currently comprises seven executive directors, one non-

executive director and three independent non-executive directors.

The directors during the financial year and up to the date of the
report are set out in page 94 of the annual report and currently are as

follows:

EXE

HRREE

EFEERALUATES - —(OHTESFE=
(B FERITESAK -

REAMBEREARBEAREZ BNESEKE
EEHINFMAEME - MRENESSKEN
™

Name of Director Title EEls Bakfar

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Tang Shuangning Chairman REELE FE

Mr. Zang Qiutao Vice-chairman S A ElEs

Mr. Li Xueming Vice-chairman Z B BlEfE

Mr. Chen Xiaoping Chief Executive Officer BR/ NS A TR AREL

Mr. Wang Tianyi General Manager FRESE PEECE

Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung ~ Chief Financial Officer =iREAL A BT EL

Mr. Cai Shuguang Executive Director ERE A WITES

Non-executive Director HHITEE

Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok Non-executive Director SBIEREAE HITES

Independent Non-executive Directors WIUHBITEE

Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive  E54B1E 54 B IEMITES
Director

Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing Independent Non-executive — ZEEZ 4 B IEMITES
Director

Mr. Zhai Haitao Independent Non-executive B2EeEtaE B IEMITES

Director




THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition and function (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of directors as from
time to time prescribed under the Listing Rules and notwithstanding
any contractual or other terms on which any director may be
appointed or engaged, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

The position of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by separate individuals, with a view to maintain an effective
segregation of duties between the management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and operation.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year. Under the lead of the
Chairman, the Board is responsible for approving and supervising
the overall strategy and policies of the Group, approving annual
budget and business plans, assessing the Group’s performance and
supervising the work of the management. All directors have access to
board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate
information on a timely manner. The directors of the Company may, if
necessary, seek legal or other independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company.

In respect of regular board meetings and audit committee meetings,
the agenda is sent out to the directors at least fourteen days before
the meeting and the accompanying papers are sent at least three
days before the meeting for information.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition and function (continued)

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has
established the following committees with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with the committee’s authority and
duties:

1.

2

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Tang Shuangning
(Chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and six other executive
directors, namely Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li Xueming, Mr. Chen
Xiaoping, Mr. Wang Tianyi, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung and
Mr. Cai Shuguang. lts main responsibilities include performing
the duties assigned by the Board as well as exercising the
authority and rights authorized by the Board. The general
mandate in relation to the Executive Committee in written form
has already been established.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, currently comprising all three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Selwyn
Mar (Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai Haitao,
is primarily responsible for reviewing the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, as well as discussing and
reviewing the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Group. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
disclosed on the website of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management and KPMG, the Company’s auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the Group’s internal control and financial reporting
matters, including review of the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2009 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2010.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EEE(E)
Composition and function (continued) HERBEE)

3. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 3 FHZEE=E

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang
Qiutao (Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and
three independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Mr. Selwyn Mar, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai
Haitao. Its main duties include offering advice to the Board
on the matters pertaining to the remuneration policy and
remuneration structure of the directors and senior management
of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, and offered
advice on the same to the Board.

The remuneration of all the directors and their respective interest
in share options are set out in note 8 to the financial statements
and under the “share option scheme” paragraph in the report of
the directors of this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen Xiaoping
(Chairman), the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr.
Wang Tianyi (Vice-chairman), the General Manager of the
Company, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, Mr. Cai Shuguang, the person-in-
charge of Environmental Energy sector, the General Manager
of Everbright Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen)
Limited, the General Manager of Everbright Environmental
Protection Technology Development (Beijing) Limited, the
persons-in-charge of Environmental Water sector, Alternative
Energy sector and the Investment Development Department.
Whereas the persons-in-charge of the Investment Management
Department and Legal Department attend the meetings as non-
voting delegates. The Management Committee is the decision-
making body for day-to-day operation and its main duties
include performing the duties assigned by the Board as well as
exercising the authority and rights authorized by the same. The
general mandate in relation to the Management Committee in
written form has been established.
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE EEEREETERAXRHRIEENHE
MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS  /XE{

The following shows the number of regular board meetings and ~ FXREREEFEANRQAFIFFETHEHRESS
committee meetings held during the year under review as well as the ~ MZ B & &3 0 E N B EERIR) EIRE -
attendance rate of each director.

Attendance rate H RS
Board of Remuneration Audit Management
Name of Director Directors Committee = Committee Committee
EENE EEE HFWESE EXE8E EEEEE
Mr. Tang Shuangning FEELLE 4/5 N/A N/A N/A
TEm TEm NEA
Mr. Zang Qiutao EIELE 5/5 11 N/A N/A
TEm NiEm
Mr. Li Xueming TERLA 4/5 N/A N/A N/A
TEm TER NEm
Mr. Chen Xiaoping BRNESEAE 5/5 N/A N/A 12/12
TNEA TNEA
Mr. Wang Tianyi TREXLE 3/5 N/A N/A 10/12
(Note 1) (Hat1) TNEA TNEA
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung =R E 5/5 N/A N/A 12/12
TNEH TNEH
Ms. Zhang Weiyun RERIT 4/5 N/A N/A N/A
(Note 2) (Hz2) TNEA TNEA TEF
Mr. Cai Shuguang BRSNS 1/5 N/A N/A 4/12
(Note 3) (Hat3) TERA TNER
Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok SECEsRAE 5/5 N/A N/A 1/12
(Note 4) (Hiit4) NERA NERA
Sir David Akers-Jones Rttt 5/5 1/1 2/3 N/A
(Note 5) (H7i#5) TNEA
Mr. Selwyn Mar BHRELE 5/5 11 3/3 N/A
TiEH
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing FEERE 3/5 11 3/3 N/A
Tk
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEEit N/A N/A N/A N/A

(Note 6) (#1iz6) TER iER TiER TER




NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE
MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS

(continued)
Notes:

1.

Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as the Executive Director and General
Manager of the Company, a member of the Executive Committee and a
member of the Management Committee of the Company with effect from
21 February 2010.

Ms. Zhang Weiyun resigned as the Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company with effect from 19 August 2010.

Mr. Cai Shuguang has already acted as a member of the Management
Committee of the Company prior to his appointment as the Executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company with
effect from 19 August 2010.

Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok was re-designated as the Non-executive Director of
the Company and resigned as a member of the Management Committee of
the Company with effect from 20 January 2010.

Sir David Akers-Jones resigned as the Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, the Chairman and a member of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from
1 January 2011.

Mr. Zhai Haitao was appointed as the Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company with effect from 1 January 2011.
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THE DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE
CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be
separated. The Chairman’s responsibility is to manage the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility is to manage the
Company’s business. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is clearly established.

The main duties of the Chairman include providing leadership for and
overseeing the functioning of the Board; formulating overall strategies
and policies of the Company; ensuring that all directors of the Board
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and giving
each director an opportunity to express his view at board meetings;
ensuring that directors receive adequate information, which must
be complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in
a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each
board meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other directors for inclusion in the agenda; taking
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; encouraging all directors to make
a full and active contribution to the Board'’s affairs and take the lead
to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company;
ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of shareholders are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and facilitating the effective
contribution of directors and ensuring constructive relations between
executive directors and non-executive directors.

The duties of the Chief Executive Officer include taking responsibility
for the Group’s operation and management; implementing decisions
and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational
and managerial decision; and coordinating overall business
operations.

FRRITERARZEES T

TREETREHNBUEERY - TEEEES
SRS RITREREEARTEBNBERES
TRMTEY R ©

IRNEIEREERRAEEFENREREFTEY
RE ¢ BIRT AR RIREREE MBOR - HRESZE L
EEEEENTENNERLRGERESE
EFRe T REABANOKE  BMREFIMEWR
AFEAOE - MAREMINLATER 5 i
REFSEVIEE - BETTREET : #RKR
BHAAERMNEE FRETH W BELHAE
FREFEERNRE  HEBRAT @ EiBiE
RS REMERIRBMAZENEIMNEER A
BEEBRAQRNERFNERELRERLIZ
Fr: BB ESENRAERS SR NS
tER - REFSTETEARAIREND  #
REREVE E SRR AR AR E - A NFER
BREAAEEIBEESTE  MeEEFYHE
ZSELEMER  YRRIITEFRIFNTE
B2 REFZRENEIE

THAZRNBEREREAEENKLENERE |
HITEFSMRENTE  (FREEEENAE
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all independent
non-executive directors are independent and the Company has
received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

The current three independent non-executive directors of the
Company hold office for a term until 31 December 2011. They
are subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

The non-executive director holds office for a term until 31 December
2011. He is subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with
the Company's Articles of Association.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTOR

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
the directors have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a director to fill a casual vacancy in the Board,
or as an addition to the existing Board. For nomination, consideration
will be made to the qualifications of the nominee. The Company has
not established a nomination committee.

With effect from 20 January 2010, Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok was
re-designated as the non-executive director of the Company. With
effect from 21 February 2010, Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as
the executive director and General Manager of the Company and a
member of the Executive Committee and Management Committee
of the Company. Mr. Cai Shuguang was appointed as the executive
director and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company
with effect from 19 August 2010. Ms. Zhang Weiyun resigned as the
executive director and a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company with effect from 19 August 2010. All the said changes in
directorship were approved by the directors at the Board meetings
held during the year.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of the directors, all directors had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2010.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

It is the Company’s responsibility to ensure shareholder’s interest. To
do so, the Company maintains on-going dialogue with shareholders
to communicate with them and encourage their participation through
annual general meetings or other general meetings.

Registered shareholders are notified by post for the shareholders’
meetings. Notice of meeting contains agenda, proposed resolutions
and postal voting form.

All registered shareholders are entitled to attend annual and
extraordinary general meetings, provided that their shares have been
recorded in the Register of Shareholders.

Shareholders who are unable to attend a general meeting may
complete and return to the Company’s Share Registrar the
proxy form enclosed with notice of meeting to give proxy to their
representatives, another shareholder or chairman of the meetings.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

It is the auditors’ responsibility to form an independent opinion, based
on their audit, on the Company’s financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company, as a body, in accordance with
section 141 of the Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
They do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the
Group’s external auditors, also carried out interim review of the
Group’s results and provided other financial services in compliance
with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS (continued) SPESEZERD (2 )
For the year ended 31 December 2010, KPMG, the external auditors  #HZE —ZT—ZF+ - A=+—HILFERN - M
received the following remuneration from the Group in connection Az EiATE EE & TR SRt IR I B K IEEZ

with the provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group: BR7% T AN B MU E T 5B -
2010
—B-FF
HK$’000
BT
Annual audit services and interim review services FEEFZRE N ER R AR 2,850
Other services HAb RS 6
2,856

INTERNAL CONTROL P EBES 1

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s internal control EEE2EABEAEBNANIEZZRS - 215
system, which includes the establishment of a defined management =] '& TR 281 [ AEBA HORE PR LA 173 Bh A 6= B E R 75
structure with specified limits of authority. The system is designed B1% * REEEU AR EEASEE - #R
to help the achievement of business objectives of the Group, 7B IEMES sk AR AT SEM B 75 & RHE A 3T
safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure £ A EINERY - W HEIRE T B BEAFIERIRA -
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of it ESiE R A] & IR (B IR ) (RE T LR
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication and ~ EAKERILKIEX ©

ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulation. The

internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not

absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective  AIEHA BRI A ENE - EESHRIEL T 1

internal controls are as follows: FE2REF

- Organizational Structure — A%
An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined AEECHIFTEEAESLERE - FRETAE
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and BAESBER RER - BE MER o
lines of authority.

- Authority and Control — RERREE
The executive directors and senior management are delegated HITEENSREEABERBBERNT
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate EELHETDERE BBRRBBSE -

strategies and policies and the related matters formulated by the
Board.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements budget management and the financial
budget is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant
procedures have been established to assess, review and
approve major capital and recurring expenditures, and regular
review and comparison between operating results and the
budget are made.

The Group has established appropriate internal control
procedures to ensure accurate and complete accounting and
management records are kept on a timely basis. Examination
and review are carried out regularly to ensure that the financial
statements are properly prepared in conformity with the generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies
and the applicable laws and regulations.

Internal Auditing

The Group has its Internal Audit Department and has regularly
conducted internal audit to review whether the internal control
procedures are implemented appropriately.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system. This review covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions, and also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions,
and their training programmes and budget. Any internal control
weaknesses detected by the Internal Audit Department of the
Group will be reported to the Audit Committee members and the
management of the Company. Accordingly, the management
will take remedial actions and the Internal Audit Department will
subsequently follow up and review whether the remedial actions
are in place.

PERERER(4F)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of
the Group’s financial statements.

The Finance Management Department of the Company is taken
charge by the Chief Financial Officer. With the assistance of the
Finance Management Department, the directors ensure that the
Group’s financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with relevant regulations and applicable accounting
principles.

A statement by KPMG, the auditors of the Company, about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 106 to 107.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP AND COMMUNICATION
The Company recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and the investment community. Briefings and
meetings with institutional investors and analysts are conducted
regularly to provide them with up-to-date and comprehensive
information about the Group’s development. Annual and interim
reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance
information to shareholders and the annual general meeting of the
Company provides a forum for shareholders to exchange views
directly with the Board, which together help enhance and facilitate
communication with shareholders. The Company also maintains a
website (http://www.ebchinaintl.com) which enables shareholders,
investors and the general public to have access to the information of
the Company on a timely basis.

At the 2010 annual general meeting of the Company, a separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of each
separate issue, including re-election of directors. All resolutions were
duly passed by shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the
meeting. The Chairman of the Board and all members of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee attended the meeting to
answer questions of shareholders. The Company announced the
results of the poll in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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Environmental Energy Projects IRIREE
Operating projects

Daily Average annual
Total processing power generation
investment Date of capacity capacity
(RMB) commercial (tonne) (kWh)
Project Type of investment iR operation BB EEYRES
I5H REER (AR%T) H¥EEH (Wg) (FREF)
Suzhou Waste-to-energy BOT for 28 years 489,443,000 July 2006 1,060 >100,000,000
Project Phase | BOT 284 “ETEtR
NSRS ERE
Suzhou Waste-to-energy Same as Suzhou 450,000,000 June 2009 1,000 >100,000,000
Project Phase |l Waste-to-energy “ZTNERR
BN EREIEE — 8 Project Phase |
SERNSR R R E
JEE —H1EA
Yixing Waste-to-energy Project  BOT for 25 years 238,300,000 June 2007 500 >44,000,000
HENPEEEER BOT 25 e N
Jiangyin Waste-to-energy BOT for 30 years 388,740,000 May 2008 800 >77,000,000
Project Phase | BOT 304 —EFN\FHA
IRNRRGERERE
Jiangyin Waste-to-energy BOT for 27 years 205,000,000 October 2010 400 >38,000,000
Project Phase Il BOT 274 —Z-F5+A
TG EEEE 5
Changzhou Waste-to-energy BOT for 25.5 years 412,560,000 November 2008 800 >77,000,000
Project BOT 25,54 —ZTZ)/\F+—-A

BN GREERR




7 8 China Everbright International Limited
R RBERAR QA

Project Highlights 18 B & &

Environmental Energy Projects (continued)
Projects under construction or in preparatory stage

IRREERIEE (72)
EEREEBETIEE

Daily Average annual
Total processing power generation
investment Date of capacity capacity
(RMB) commercial (tonne) (kWh)
Project Type of investment 41§58 operation BRERE  FTEYOREE
I5H RESH (AR%T)  wH¥EER (W8) (FREF)
Jinan Waste-to-energy Project ~ BOT for 25 years 900,920,000  Qctober 2011 (expected) 2,000 >190,000,000
EESRREEEER BOT 256 —T——51+A(RE)
Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy BOT for 30 years 413,338,000  September 2011 1,000 >100,000,000
Project BOT 304 (expected)
BITNREEEER “Z—FAA(ER)
Sugian Waste-to-energy Project  BOT for 30 years 324,152,000  November 2011 (expected) 600 >60,000,000
BEAREEEER BOT 30 —T——F1+—-A(EH)
Huidong Waste-to-energy Project BOT for 29 years 334,405,000 2012 (expected) 600 >104,000,000
BRI EEREA BOT 294 T (R
Yixing Waste-to-energy Project  Same as Yixing 150,843,000 2012 (expected) 300 >31,000,000
Phase |l Waste-to-energy —E-CE(FEH)
HENFEREIEE — 5 Project Phase |
HEBNIERE
HE —#1ER
Suzhou Waste-to-energy Same as Suzhou 750,000,000 2013 (expected) 1,500 >158,000,000
Project Phase Il Waste-to-energy Project “E-ZF(EH)

BB R EEE = Phase | & Phase
EEM BRI ERE
JHE— ZHER

——

-to-energy Project
EIHH
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Environmental Energy Projects (continued) IRIREERIEE (&)
Operating project EZIEE
Total investment Designed storage
(RMB) Date of commercial  capacity (m?3)
Project Type of investment oot operation BEERRE
I5H BREER (AR&R) H¥EZR (IHK)
Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste BOT for 30 years 78,100,000 July 2007 142,000
Landfil Project Phase | BOT 304 “ETLFLA

FMIXEREYEEER—H

Projects under construction or in preparatory stage EESIEEEEHSIER
Total investment Designed storage
(RMB) Date of commercial  capacity (m?3)
Project Type of investment s operation HEERHR
I5H RESH (ARET) HEEZR (ILHK)
Zhenjiang Industrial Solid Waste 100,000,000 December 2011 296,000
Landfill Project Phase | (expected)
ETTXEREESIER — “T——4%+1ZR
(TaH9)
Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Same as Suzhou Industrial Solid - 40,000,000 December 2011 283,000
Landfill Project Phase Il Waste Landfill Phase | (expected)
FNTEEREMEEEE S ESMNIXEREWEER —2—F+1ZR
— iR (EH)

Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Landfill Project Phase |
#R)N T2 E pE Rz AR IE B —Hf
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Environmental Water Projects

Operating projects

IRRKHIRE
EEEA

Daily average

waste water
Total investment treatment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (m3)
Project Type of investment 48135 operation HEYSKRES
2] REEN (AR Hi¥EEH (IHK)
Qingdao Waste Water Treatment BOT/TOT for 25 years - 356,000,000 January 2005 220,000
Project (Haibohe & Maidao Plants) ~ BOT/TOT 25% “E%HE-R (Maidao Extension Project
BRIk mERR completed in July 2007)
(BBTREER) (REERER ‘
RIZRLELARK)
Zioo Waste Water Treatment Project ~ TOT for 25 years 354,276,000 November 2005 250,000
(Southern and Northern Plants) TOT 25% (Including Investment of “ZTERF+-A (Upgrading work
HETKERIER (FERILE) RMB130,221,000 for upgracing work) cornpleted in May 2008
(B TRRAR (RgETER
AR#130,221,0007C) “TT\FRATK)
Zibo High-tech Zone Waste BOT for 25 years 150,000,000 September 2007 100,000
Water Treatment Project BOT 254 ZTERHFNR
EREANERTKEEER
Zibo Zhoucun Waste Water BOT for 25 years 70,000,000 November 2009 40,000
Treatment Project BOT 254 “TENET-A
MBENKEEER
Binzhou Boxing Waste Water TOT/BOT for 25 years - 85,000,000 Phase | - Apri 2008 60,000
Treatment Project TOT/BOT 25 (Including investment of RMB65,500,000 —Hi — —ZZ \FH A (Increased from 30,000 m? to

BMERSKEER

for upgrading work of Phase | and
construction of Phase |

(R~ A B R~
T2 & AK65,500,0007)

Upgrading work

- December 2008
AR TE -
“EE\&+ZA
Phase Il - June 2009
“B-"FTNESR

60,000 me upon completion of
Phasellin June 2009)
(ZZSNERAZHTR
EETRR4% 30,0001 /5 %
H MZ60,0003 77 K)

Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project
T8 57K ERIEIA B

¥
.
ad s
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Environmental Water Projects (continued) RIRKFEIER (&)
Operating projects (continued) EEIEAE(E)

Daily average

waste water
Total investment treatment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (m3)
Project Type of investment  48#%i& operation BEYFKEESE
HH RS (AR HEEZH (IHX)
Jinan Waste Water Treatment TOT for 30 years 420,000,000 November 2006 500,000
Project (Plant 1 and Plant 2) TOT 30F ZEENETA (Increased from
ERSKERIER (—HR=R) 420,000 tonnes to
500,000 tonnes upon
completion of extension work
in May 2009)

(CETNERARAER
T#%18 » (420,008 M2

500,000
Jinan Waste Water Treatment 287,000,000 Upgrading and extension
Project (Upgrade and extension work completed
work for Plant 1 and Plant 2) in May 2009
EEkEEER “ZTNELA
(—BR-BHRSERERLE) TR RER R
Jinan Licheng Waste Water BOT for 26 years 138,000,000 QOctober 2009 100,000
Treatment Project (Plant 3) BOT 26 “ERNETA

BRENSKRIZER (ZR)

Jinan Waste Water Treatment Project
B 5/KERIRIE B
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Environmental Water Projects (continued)
Operating projects (continued)

IRIROKFBIEE (2)

EEEE (%)

Daily average
waste water
Total investment treatment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (m3)
Project Type of investment  483%& operation BEYSKRES
5H REER (ARET) HEEZH (IH%K)
Jinan Xike Waste Water BOT for 26 years 72,680,000 June 2010 30,000
Treatment Project (Plant 4) BOT 26%F —Z-TF;R
BERETKEEER (1)
Ling County Waste Water BOT for 30 years 58,000,000 June 2010 30,000
Treatment Project (Plant 2) BOT 30 —E-TERR
ETKRIIER (ZH)
Ling County Waste Water TOT for 30 years 33,720,000 June 2010 30,000
Treatment Project (Plant 1) TOT 30 “Z-ZERA
RSk RRER (— )
Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project  TOT for 30 years 624,000,000 January 2008 190,000
PRy GAEIEL TOT 30% “TZ\§-R
Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment 468,000,000 June 2008
Project (Upgrade and acquistion of (including investment of —EE\FA

sewage piping network)
TRKEI2ER
(FHRERRBKER)

RMB201,000,000 for upgrading work
and RMB267,000,000 for acquisition of
sewage piping network)
(BEARETRER
ARE201,0000007L 5K ER
IEs{E AR 267,000,0007)

Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project
JIR5/KEEIBIE




Environmental Water Projects (continued)

Transferred project

Annual Report 2010

IRIROKBIER (2)
EBXRER

83

BN

Daily average

water treatment
Total investment capacity
(RMB) (m?)
Project Type of investment 4% & Date of transfer BEYSKEEE
EH BEER (NRET) #3x B8 (IHK)
Xinyi BT Waste Water BT for 4 years 62,150,000 October 2010 10,000
Treatment Project Phase | BT 4 “ZT-TF1R
¥TBTS/KEIRIEE — 5
Projects under construction or in preparatory stage EEREEEESER

Daily average

water supply
Total investment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial  (m?)
Project Type of investment 413 operation/transfer ~ BEHfkE
I5H REFH (AR%T) BEEEAN BX  (QIHK)
Zibo Reusable Water Project BOO 55,000,000 April 2011 9,600
StErRK o ABR (Build-Operate-Own) (expected)
for 20 years “T——FHA(EH)
BOO
(&2 -%A)
206
Jinan Licheng Reusable BOO for 24 years 31,061,000 June 2011 42,000
Water Project BOO 244 (expected)
ERERKEAER “E——FXA(EH)
Jiangyin Reusable Water Project BOO for 25 years 73,067,000 August 2011 (expected) 10,000
IRHKERER BOO 254 —T——5/\A(EH)
Xinyi Surface Water Project BT for 8 years 360,300,000 2013 (expected) 100,000
ATt FKIER BT 8 2013 (7859)
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Project Highlights 8 B &2

Alternative Energy Projects HeERIEE
Operating projects E%IER

Average annual

Total power generation
investment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (kWh)
Project Type of investment  #8i%& operation EFHBRES
JEH BEHFR (AR&TR) BEZR (FFEF)
Suzhou Waste Landfill BOO for 25 years 27,940,000 August 2006 >18,000,000
Methane-to-energy BOO 254 —EERFNA

Project Phase |

BN EE AR EEIEE — 1

Suzhou Waste Landfill BOO for 23 years 12,750,000 September 2008 >9,000,000
Methane-to-energy BOO 234 —ZENFNA
Project Phase |l

FHMREE AR EEIEE — 1

Shenzhen Rooftop BOO for 25 years 27,917,000 November 2010 >1,480,000
Photovoltaic Energy Project BOO 254 —T-ZTF+-A

RYBTENAEEIER

Zhenjiang Ground BOO for 25 years 73,490,000 December 2010 >4,059,000
Photovoltaic Energy Project BOO 254 —T-ZTF+=ZA

BTELREEIER

Sugian Rooftop BOO for 25 years 52,720,000 December 2010 >2,205,000
Photovoltaic Energy Project BOO 254 —T-ZTF+ZA

BREENAEEIER

| '...-:' -
Sugian Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project
BEREIENAEEIEE
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Alternative Energy Projects (continued) HEERIER(Z)
Projects under construction or in preparatory stage EESRIEEEESIER
Average annual
power generation
Total investment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (kWh)
Project Type of investment  42i% &5 operation FRHBER
1| REHR (AR&r) HEEEAR (FRE)
Zibo Heat Pump Project BOO for 20 years 57,887,000 Completing of external N/A
Phase | BOO 204 construction in October 2010 i
HIERRIEE —H —T-TF+A
TERONERERR TR
Huaining Ground Photovoltaic ~ BOO for 26 years 50,470,000 March 2011 (expected) >2,170,000
Energy Project BOO 264 —T——5=A(EH)
EEMEXAEEER
Dangshan Biomass Power BOO for 25 years 312,468,000 December 2011 (expected) ~ >184,000,000
Generation Project BOO 25%F —T——F+ZA(EH)
BILEMEREEIER
Xinyi Biomass Power BOO for 25 years 321,040,000 2012 (expected) >184,000,000
Generation Project BOO 254 —T-—F(EH)
FTEYEREEIER
Shuyang Biomass BOO for 25 years 339,610,000 2012 (expected) Power £
Cogeneration Project BOO 25%F —T-ZF () >172,250,000 kWh T FLB
MY E A EMHIER Heat 248
>390,000 tonnes M@
Linyi Biomass Power BOO for 25 years 320,000,000 2012 (expected) >184,000,000
Generation Project BOO 25% —T-ZF(BH)
R EIER
Suzhou Leachate BOO for 20 years 7,956,000 2012 (expected) >5,250,000
Methane-to-energy Project BOO 205 —T-ZF ()

FNZBRAREEER

Dangshan Bi Power Generation Project
B AEYE 5H
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Project Highlights B 2

Environmental Protection Industrial Parks RREXER

Expected number

Environmental Protection Industrial Parks Investment Amount of projects
BREXE RER HEEHHEERE
Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park  RMB3.3 billion >10

RN KB R E R R E ANER¥EBBIETT

Zhenjiang Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park RMB1.5 billion 6-8

BT RRIRERE AR¥A15ET

Sugian Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park RMB1.6 billion 6-8
BEMEARRRERE AR¥A16ET

Changzhou Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park ~ RMB1 billion 9

BN ARRREXE ARE10ET

Yantai Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park HK$3 billion to HK$5 bilion  >10

BB ARRRERE 30250187

Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park
AR T SR SR A AR 2E 25 T 86
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Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

TANG SHUANGNING — CHAIRMAN

aged 56, is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tang is a member
of the 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. He is also the Chairman of China Everbright
Group Limited, China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
China Everbright Bank Company Limited and Everbright Securities
Company Limited. Mr. Tang is also the Director of Sun Life Everbright
Life Insurance Company Limited and the Chairman of China
Everbright Limited. He also serves as the Vice Chairman of China
Society for Finance and Banking and the Consultant of China Society
for Investment. Prior to joining the China Everbright Group, he was
the Vice Chairman of the China Banking Regulatory Commission,
the Director-General of the Banking Supervision Department |, the
Director-General of the Currency, Gold and Silver Bureau and the
Director-General of the Credit Management Division of the People’s
Bank of China. He holds a Master’s Degree in Economics from China
Northeast University of Finance & Economics. Mr. Tang has extensive
knowledge and experience in banking and finance management. Mr.
Tang joined the Board in July 2007.

ZANG QIUTAO - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 58, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also the Vice-
chairman of China Everbright Group Limited and China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited. Mr. Zang is the Chairman of China
Everbright Industry Group Limited and China Everbright Investment
Management Corporation. He is also the Deputy Chairman of China
Everbright Limited. Mr. Zang graduated from the Graduate School
of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He was formerly the
Division Chief of the State Economic Commission and Deputy
Division Director of the State Planning Commission. He joined the
Board in September 2004.

LI XUEMING - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 63, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also an
Executive Director and Deputy General Manager of China Everbright
Group Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited. He
is the Chairman of Shanghai Everbright Convention and Exhibition
Center Co., Ltd. and Vice-chairman of China Everbright Industry
Group Limited and China Everbright Investment Management
Corporation. Mr. Li is also a Non-executive Director and Deputy
Chairman of HKC (Holdings) Limited. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Industrial Automation from Tsinghua University. Prior
to joining the China Everbright Group in 1998, he was the Vice-
president of China Aerospace International Holdings Ltd. Mr. Li joined
the Board in June 2003.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

CHEN XIAOPING — CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

aged 57, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a
director of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, a Standing
Director of China Environmental Culture Promotion Association and
a Director of World Eminence Chinese Business Association. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Chen had been a department head in the
Bureau of Investigation & Supervision of The People’s Bank of China,
the Assistant Governor of China Everbright Bank Company Limited
and the President of the Bank’s Guangzhou Branch. He graduated
from the Department of Finance of the Southwest University in
Finance and Economics, the PRC, finished the MBA class of the
Research Institute of Business Management of Sichuan University,
the PRC and holds a Master’s Degree with a major in Money &
Banking from the Department of Finance and Trade of the China
Research Institute of Social Science. He holds the title of Senior
Economist and Certified Public Accountant in the PRC. He has
comprehensive experience and knowledge in banking, capital market
and management. Mr. Chen joined the Board in August 2001.

WANG TIANY! — GENERAL MANAGER

aged 48, is the General Manager of the Company. Prior to joining the
Group, he was the President of Shandong Academy of Science. He
was formerly the Deputy Mayor of Jinan City of Shandong Province.
He had been the Vice President, Dean and Professor of Economic
Management Faculty of Yantai University of Shandong Province. He is
currently also a part-time professor and doctoral tutor of Shandong
University. He holds a Doctorate’s degree in Economics, a Master’s
degree in Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Electronics from
Tsinghua University. He had pursued advanced studies at Harvard
University and University of California in the United States. Mr. Wang
joined the Board in February 2010.

WONG KAM CHUNG, RAYMOND - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
aged 47, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree, a Master of Management
Degree in Information Technology Management from Macquarie
University, Australia, and a Bachelor of Arts with Honours Degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of United Kingdom and a Certified General Accountant in Canada.
He has extensive experience in accounting, finance and auditing
areas. Mr. Wong joined the Board in December 2002.

EE(E)

BITESE(E)

B (TTIECAERL)

WELTRR » AATITTHRAEE, - TRTEXAEE
BERARES  PEREULRESEHEER
tRELERHEIRE - RELMAREER -
LERPBEARRITEXEERERLKPEIK
RITTTREERBEMRITOITITR - HEXRNF
BrEmPERESBER - WIAZIEHEERRT
FIMBARR I A I M 5 A T Bl @RI R &
FrERIRITERRTEUE - RBRRIEMR
EAMEM S A AR o WRRTT - EAMIS R
KERTEER RSB IR - REEN-F
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FRFE (ABAEIE)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

CAl SHUGUANG

aged 55, is the Executive Director of the Company. He is also the
Managing Director of China Everbright Environmental Energy Limited.
Prior to joining the Group, he was formerly Deputy General Manager
of Shenzhen Kingway Brewery Limited. He graduated from the
Department of Computer Science from Shanghai Fudan University
and holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of Ballarat in Australia. He holds the title of senior engineer.
Mr. Cai has comprehensive experience and knowledge in corporate
management and project planning. Mr. Cai joined the Board in
August 2010.

Non-executive Director

FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP

aged 61, is the Non-executive Director of the Company. He is also
an independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited
and Hysan Development Company Limited. He is an independent
director of Zhuhai Zhongfu Enterprise Co., Ltd. Mr. Fan holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Engineering, a Master’s Degree in
Operations Research from Stanford University and a Master’s Degree
in Management Science from Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Fan had been an executive director of
CITIC Pacific Limited in charge of industrial projects in the PRC. He
joined the Board in November 1997 and was re-designated as the
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2010.

Independent Non-executive Directors

MAR SELWYN

aged 75, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Mar graduated from the London School of Economics, University
of London. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He is a partner of Nexia Charles
Mar Fan & Co. He is an independent non-executive director and
chairman of the board audit committee of Standard Bank Asia
Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director and
chairman of the audit committee of Minmetals Land Limited and Man
Yue International Holdings Limited. He was formerly an independent
non-executive director and Deputy Chairman of Mitsumaru East Kit
(Holdings) Limited until 7 July 2008. He was the President of Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (now known as Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants) in 1991. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow
of the Lingnan University and appointed member of the Court of
Lingnan University by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR. He joined
the Board in September 2004.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

LI KWOK SING, AUBREY

aged 61, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Li is the Chairman of MCL Partners Limited, a Hong Kong
based financial advisory and investment firm, and has over 35 years’
experience in merchant banking and commercial banking. He is
a non-executive director of The Bank of East Asia, Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Café de Coral Holdings
Limited, Kunlun Energy Company Limited (formerly known as CNPC
(Hong Kong) Limited), Kowloon Development Company Limited and
Pokfulam Development Company Limited, and was appointed as
independent non-executive director of Tai Ping Carpets International
Limited on 20 October 2010. He is also a non-executive director of
Affin Bank Berhad, Atlantis Investment Management (Ireland) Limited,
Dalton Capital (Guernsey) Limited, Melchior Global Macro Fund
Limited and Melchior Global Macro (Master) Fund Limited. Within the
past three years, he had been an independent non-executive director
of ABC Communications (Holdings) Limited and non-executive
chairman of Atlantis Asian Recovery Fund Plc. Mr. Li has a Master
of Business Administration from Columbia University and a Bachelor
of Science in Civil Engineering from Brown University. He joined the
Board in November 1998.

ZHAI HAITAO

aged 42, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
He is the President and Partner of Primavera Capital Group. He
was formerly Managing Director of Goldman Sachs Asia LLC
and Chief Representative of Goldman Sachs Beijing Office. Prior
to joining Goldman Sachs, Mr. Zhai worked at the International
Department of the People’s Bank of China in Beijing, and was
Deputy Representative of the People’s Bank of China Representative
Office for the Americas based in New York. He holds a Master’s
Degree in International Relations from Columbia University, a Master
of Business Administration Degree from New York University and a
Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics from Peking University. He
has comprehensive experience and knowledge in banking, capital
market and management. Mr. Zhai joined the Board in January 2011.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

POON YUEN LING

aged 43, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. She joined the Group in April 1994, with over 15
years of experience in company secretarial and administration areas.
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Report of the Directors

EE= e TR
E% =
The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report

together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

China Everbright International Limited (“the Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered
office and principal place of business at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 16 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of
the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
during the financial year are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers of
the Group respectively during the financial year is as follows:

EEMARZBE_FTZTF+_A=1t—HLL
FE 2 FEREMEEZIERE -

FEERM
HECABRARAR([ARR D A—RKRELE
AEMACAL - WIABBRAFE 2 QA o NRARZE
MHEE R T EE RN EBERE TN
EREMPOL_THE-_LT=F -

ARBIZEBEBRIEER - EWBAR2E
RGN EMFITRNIERRME N -

ARRRENMBAR ([ AREDRAABFEA
2 E BRI RIZIR B 5 2 D AT I TR
gt=-

FEEFRMER
REERATBEE 2 FEZF RHEEERA
T

Percentage of the Group’s total

EXRETIEBEZEN
Turnover Purchases
X5 REEsE
The largest customer RARFE 24%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFER 68%
The largest supplier R ER 10%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate TARHERE 25%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major customers and suppliers.

RENEFAERE  METAES  REZHE
AEHEARRRRR(BEEFEAAHEEAAE
PRAB%IA £ ) R Ll £ BB M e (E i

N
S o
Jumul,
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

@)

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW Waste Water Treatment Co.,
Ltd. (“Qingdao EB-VW”, a subsidiary of the Company) entered
into an operation and maintenance agreement with Qingdao
Veolia Water Operating Company Limited (“Qingdao Veolia”, an
associate of the Group). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao
EB-VW will subcontract to Qingdao Veolia the provision of the
operation and maintenance services in respect of the waste-
water treatment plants (“the Plants”) in Qingdao, the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). During the year ended 31 December
2010, service fee for the operation and maintenance of the Plants
paid/payable to Qingdao Veolia amounted to HK$40,592,000
(2009: HK$41,907,000).

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW entered into a waste-water
treatment agreement with Qingdao Municipal Drainage
Company (“Qingdao Drainage”, a non-controlling shareholder of
Qingdao EB-VW). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao EB-VW
will provide waste-water treatment services and other related
services to Qingdao Drainage on an exclusive basis. During
the year ended 31 December 2010, waste-water treatment
revenue received/receivable from Qingdao Drainage amounted
to HK$92,005,000 (2009: HK$87,617,000).

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were:

entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties;
and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report to the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter of Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions as disclosed by the Group in the annual
report in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Listing Rules”).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 and
the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 108 to 229.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Profits attributable to equity shareholders, before dividends, of
HK$653,165,000 (2009: HK$408,477,000) have been transferred
to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

An interim dividend of HK1 cent per share (2009: HK1 cent per
share) was paid on 14 October 2010. The directors now recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per share (2009:
HK1.2 cents per share) in respect of the year ended 31 December
2010.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$664,000 (2009: HK$1,277,000).

FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 13 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30(c) to the financial statements. Shares were
issued during the year on exercise of share options.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.

DIRECTORS
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors
Tang Shuangning, Chairman
Zang Qiutao, Vice-chairman
Li Xueming, Vice-chairman
Chen Xiaoping, Chief Executive Officer
Wang Tianyi, General Manager
(appointed on 21 February 2010)
Wong Kam Chung, Raymond, Chief Financial Officer
Cai Shuguang (appointed on 19 August 2010)
Zhang Weiyun (resigned on 19 August 2010)

Non-executive director
Fan Yan Hok, Philip (re-designated on 20 January 2010)

Independent non-executive directors

Mar Selwyn

Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey

Zhai Haitao (appointed on 1 January 2011)

Sir David Akers-Jones (resigned on 1 January 2011)

In accordance with articles 73, 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Tang Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li
Xueming, Mr. Chen Xiaoping, Mr. Cai Shuguang and Mr. Zhai Haitao
will retire from the board at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The non-executive directors of the Company including the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The term of appointment of Mr. Mar
Selwyn and Mr. Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey, the independent non-
executive directors, is for two years until 31 December 2011. The
term of appointment of Mr. Zhai Haitao, the independent non-
executive director, is for one year until 31 December 2011. The term
of appointment of Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, who was re-designated
from executive director to non-executive director of the Company on
20 January 2010, is for one year until 31 December 2011. They are
all subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association as indicated above.

€S

RARFEREARRABRA 2 BEFE NI @K
MEE="1(c) - RANFER - NRREBAEETT
EmM TR

RAFEER - NRF) R EAAKNE QR RER
B HESBLRARR ETES

=
RAMBRFREARBEARETZEARZESR
T

HITES

EEE(TE)

BN (FIE/E)

FER(FL/E)

SR/ (7TiBCAR L)

T RE (HBHEFE)
(R—_T—TF_RA-_+—HEZE)

=I5 (M54 ED)

FZEX(M-_Z-ZF \ATNLBERET)

REI(R-_ZF—FF/\A+NLBEEE)

HTES
BEB(R=2—BF—A=TRBE)

BYFHTES

FEE

2R -_T——F—A—BEZE)
ERRRLT(RN_T——F—F—HEHE)

WEARB 2 ARMAAELT =" £+t
T ARETNERE  BEEEE - BINEE
A FBRELE  BRNTELE  EEREARE
BREE AR EITZ RRBAFAE LRESE
R MEFERTEEEEET -

ARBIENTESR (BIEB Y IFRTES ) EZRT
IEEFH  WARAEEZHTE BHRELER
TRELEWMABYIENTES) 2 REFHA
HRFE B2 _ZT——F+_A=+—Hlit-
BRELE(BYIFNITES ) 2R EFH AR —
£ BHE_ET——F+-_A=+—H1F - Bk
FHER—_E—TEF— A - +ABRAATNTES
FATAENTES  HEZIFHAY—F BE
—E——E+-A=+—01F - BFEBEM L
MABEAR AR Z ARMANER -



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office
at 31 December 2010 had the following interests in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its holding
companies, subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within
the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) at that
date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO:

(i) Long position in shares of equity derivatives of the
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Wong Kam Chung, Raymond =852 Personal 1 A 500,000 0.01%
Fan Yan Hok, Philip B Personal {E A 8,500,000 0.23%
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey ZHE Personal {E A 1,000,000 0.03%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

(i) Long position in underlying shares of equity derivatives
of the Company

EERFETHRAERE 2R - HERS

RESEERAXR(E)

(i) RADFREARGBRESTETRZEFR

Number of
equity
derivatives Number of
Nature of held underlying
interest BERE shares Percentage
Name of director EENA B TTETAEE HERKEE Bk
(share options) (ordinary shares)
(BB 1E) ( BHER)
Zang Qiutao RS Personal {& A 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.11%
Li Xueming ZSE2RH Personal & A 18,000,000 18,000,000 0.49%
Chen Xiaoping [/ |\ Personal & A 21,000,000 21,000,000 0.57%
Wong Kam Chung, =ipER Personal {iE A 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.08%
Raymond
Sir David Akers-dones  $EiR(EES Personal & A 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.08%

All the above shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives
(being unlisted and physically settled) were beneficially owned by
the directors concerned. The percentage shown was calculated
based on the number of issued shares of the Company as at
31 December 2010.

Further details relating to the options granted to the directors and
chief executive of the Company are set out in the section “Share
option scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the directors and chief executive
of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen
years of age has interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or other associated corporations, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 26
May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, at
their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including directors
of any company in the Group, to take up options to subscribe for
shares of the Company. The purpose of the scheme is to provide
an opportunity for employees of the Group to acquire an equity
participation in the Company and to encourage them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
share option scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years ending on 25 May 2013, after which no further options will be
granted.

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of
the shares, the closing price of the shares on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant and
the average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
options are exercisable six months (or a later date as determined by
the directors of the Company) after the date on which the options are
granted for a period up to ten years or 25 May 2013, whichever is
earlier.

The total number of securities available for issue under the share
option scheme as at 31 December 2010 was 254,831,170 shares
(including options for 51,250,000 shares that have been granted but
not yet lapsed or exercised) which represented approximately 7%
of the issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2010.
In respect of the maximum entitlement of each participant under the
share option scheme, the number of securities issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant in any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the Company’s ordinary shares
in issue.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted when the
letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee
together with a remittance of HK$1 is received within 28 days from
the date of offer. The share option scheme will expire on 25 May
2018.

At 31 December 2010, the directors and employees of the Company
had the following interests in options to subscribe for shares of
the Company (market value per share at 31 December 2010 was
HK$4.08) granted at nominal consideration under the share option
scheme of the Company. The options are unlisted. Each option gives
the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.1
each of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BT EI(E)
No. of

No. of shares * Market
options acquired on No. of valueper  *Market
outstanding exercise options Period shareat  value per
atthe  of options outstanding during dateof  shareon
beginning during atthe which grantof exercise of
of the year theyear  yearend optionsare  Exercise options options
Y ERTE FR Date exercisable  priceper *RRRE  FEIRE
EETEZ BREREA HRTEZ granted faliE share RIHAHZ {72
Directors £ BRESE ZRHYHE BREXE RiHEH el SBRTEE SBREE SkhE
Zang Qutao Bk 2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2007to  HK$0.85  HK$0.85 -

—TETNE 25May 2013  BH085m  A0.85T
NA=H “EERLF

NA=BZ
“E-=F
LA-TEA
2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2008to  HK$0.85  HK$0.85 =
iz oS 25May 2013 8085 AH0.85T
J\R=H “TEN\F
NA=RZ
“E-F
TA-TEA
Li Xueming ZER 9,000,000 (4000000 5000000 29September 29March2004to  HK$0.296  HK$0.206  HK$4.26
2003 25May 2013 A#0296m BH0206T 4267
ey “ZTNE
NA=thE =A=thBZ
“E—=F
il Py il
9,000,000 - 9000000 29September  29September  HK$0.296  HK$0.296 =
2003 2004t0 FBE02067T AH0.2067T
—FZ= 25 May 2013
NA=+H “TENE
NAZThBE
“T—=F
il Pty il =
2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2007to  HK$0.85  HK$0.85 =
—EERE 25May 2013 8085w AH0.85T
NA=H “ERLE
NA=BZ
“T—=F
FA-+EA
2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2008to  HK$0.85  HK$0.85 =
“TERFE 25May2013 8085 BE0.857T
JNR=H “EETN\F
NA=BZ
“E-=F

fA=-tHhA



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
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No. of
No. of shares * Market
options acquired on No. of valueper  *Market
outstanding  exercise options Period shareat  value per
atthe of options outstanding during dateof  shareon
beginning during atthe which grantof exercise of
oftheyear ~ theyear  yearend optionsare  Exercise options options
9 ERTE FR Date exercisable  priceper *REERRE  EBRiE
HATHEZ EREBA ERTEZ granted Rl share RHAMZ  fTRERZ
Directors £ BRESE ZRHY¥E RREXE RiEH Y SBRATEE SRHE SkiE
Chen Xiaoping B/ 7,000,000 - 7000000 29 September 29March2004to  HK$0296  HK$0.296 =
2008 25May2013 E0.2067C 5%0.2067
—FT= “ZTNE
ABZthB ZA-thBZ
—T-=F
RA=thA
9,000,000 - 0000000 29September 29 September  HK$0.296  HK$0.296 -
2003 2004t0 E%0.206T %0206
“TE-F 25 May 2013
NA=tHB e S i3
hAZtHHRZE
“T-=F
RA=thA
2,500,000 - 2500000 3August2006 3 August 2007 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -
TEERNE 5May2013  EH0ssT  BH08T
AV == e a2
AV =E
“E-=%
RA=-tEA
2,500,000 - 2500000 3August2006 3 August2008to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -
“EENE BMay 2013 BH0ssT  AK08T
AV == —ZTETN\E
NR=BEZ
—T=F
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

BRET8(E)

No. of
No. of shares * Market
options acquired on No. of valueper  *Market
outstanding  exercise options Period shareat  value per
atthe of options outstanding during dateof  shareon
beginning during atthe which grantof exercise of
oftheyear ~ theyear  yearend optionsare  Exercise options options
N ERTE FR Date exercisable  priceper *BERRE < ERiE
EETEZ BREREA HRTEZ granted fliE share RHAMZ N2
Directors £ BRENE ZRHYE BRESE RiHBEH ZEH BRTEE SBREE SKHE
Wong Kam Chung, Raymond 4588 1,500,000 - 1500000 3August2006 3August2007to  HK$0.85  HK$0.85 =
“TTRE BMay2013  BH0ssT  EH0.8ST
NA=R “ETtE
NAZRZE
—T-=F
RA=thAR
1,500,000 - 1500000 3August2006 3 August2008to HK$0.85 HK30.85 -
TEERNE 5May2013  EH0ssT  BH085T
AV ==t —EETN\E
NA=RZE
—E-F
AA=-t+EH
Zhang Weiyun REZ 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - 29September 29March2004t0  HK$0.296  HK$0.206  HK$4.26
(Note 1) (1) 2003 26May2013 0206 %0206 EH426TT
2 “TIME
MAZTHhB =ZA=+hAZ
E—-F
RA-tHA
2,000,000  (2,000,000) - 29September  29September  HK$0.296  HK$0.296 HK$4.26
2008 2004to B®0.206 BH0.206T  HEH4.267T
ZTT=E 25 May 2013
AR=TAA “TIME
NAZTNAZE
E-F
RA-tHA
500,000 (600,000) - 3August2006 3 August 2007 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 HK$4.26
—TERE BMay2013  E®085T %08 46T
NA=H e 3
NA=RZE
—E-F
RA=t+HA
500,000 (500,000) - 3August2006 3 August 2008 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 HK$4.26
ZZTRE BMy2013  EH0ssT  EH0sST  AE426T
NA=R “ITN\E
NAZRZE
“T-=F



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
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No. of
No. of shares * Market
options acquired on No. of valueper  *Market
outstanding exercise options Period shareat  value per
atthe  of options outstanding during dateof  shareon
beginning during atthe which grantof exercise of
of the year theyear  yearend optionsare  Exercise options options
0 ERfT FR Date exercisable  priceper *PREERRE < EBRiE
HETEZ BREEA HRTEZ granted ikig share RHBHZ K2
Directors 3 BRERE ZRH¥E BRERE RHBH Y BRTEE SBkHE SkiE
Fan Yan Hok, Philip ek 2,000,000  (2,000,000) - 3August2006 3 August 2008 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 HK$3.32
(Note 2) (FitzE2) ZTTRE BMy2013  EH0ssT  EH0seT  AH33T
AV == —ETN\E
AV =E
—T-=f
RA=thA
Sir David Akers-Jones BEREEL 500,000 - 500,000 29 September 29 March 2004t HK$0.296  HK$0.296 -
(Note 3) (F3E3) 2003 25May 2013 A#0.2067T 15%0.2967T
—F3= “TTME
AAZThB ZA=+hRZE
—E—=F
RA-tEA
500,000 - 500,000 29 September 29 September  HK$0.296  HK$0.296 -
2003 2004t0 #0206 AH0.2067T
—TZ= 25 May 2013
NA=thE “TINE
NRZTHhRZE
—E--F
RA-t+EA
Employees &8 1,700,000 - 1,700,000 3August2006 3 August2007 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -
“TENF 25May2013 085 EE0.857T
NA=H -
NA=ZHZ
—E—=F
hA=1+EE
4,687,000 (2,137,0000 2,550,000 3 August2006 3 August 2008 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 HK$4.18
ZTTRE BMy2013  EH0ss  EH08eT  AH418T
NA=R “ETN\E
NAZRZE
—T-=F

TA=-tHhA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(1) Ms. Zhang Weiyun resigned as executive director of the Company with effect
from 19 August 2010.

(2) Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip resigned as General Manager and was re-
designated as non-executive director on 20 January 2010.

(8) Sir David Akers-Jones resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 1 January 2011.

*  Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary
shares immediately before the dates on which the options were granted or
exercised, as applicable.

The options granted to the directors are registered under the names
of the directors who are also the beneficial owners. During the year,
no options was granted, cancelled or lapsed under the share option
scheme. Information on the accounting policy for share options
granted and the weighted average value per option is provided in
note 1(r)(i) and note 29 to the financial statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

BIRETEI(E)
GES

(1)

@

RERZETE T —TFEN\A TN REELARFH
TTESRIS o

SECBAEREAKERY YN _"F—FF—5
T HBERIENITES -
BARETHE T ——F—H— HEgHERARREIL

FFMTESR -

BN B E A E R BB R L R 1T (R &
F3) B AT Z i T E -

BRYESCBBRRDNES 2 HERER  MEF
NRESEEA - FR - ARARLERIZEIE
AT EIEE AT RBARARE IR (T (] R AR AR R o 63K
BRY - AAC HEBRE . S5t BER LERE
Rt NI (BE 2 R0 B B B 5 ek
E—OiRME=T

B EXFratESN - EAFEATMAER A2
A EE[ZERAT - MBARKERMEBAR]

WES BRI BEARRZEFAEER

A TS A E A AR 2 131 3k 4 A

Q2
ME o



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The Company has been notified of the following interests in the
Company’s issued shares at 31 December 2010 amounting to 5%
or more of the ordinary shares in issue:

China Everbright Holdings Company B REBE AR AR
Limited (“CEH”) (Note) (THRKREE DKL)

Note: Out of the 1,774,381,910 shares, 1,758,215,910 shares are held by
Guildford Limited (“Guildford”). Guildford is owned as to 55% by Datten
Investments Limited (“Datten”) and the remaining 45% by CEH. Datten
is wholly-owned by CEH. The remaining 16,166,000 shares are held by
Everbright Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CEH. Accordingly, CEH is deemed to be interested in the
1,758,215,910 shares held by Guildford and the 16,166,000 shares held
by EIM.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be recorded
in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been notified
to the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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COMPETING INTEREST

As at the date of this annual report, as far as the directors are aware,
Mr. Li Xueming is a non-executive director and Mr. Fan Yan Hok,
Philip is an independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings)
Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and its business
activities include property development and investments, alternative
energy investment, infrastructure, and in particular, waste-to-energy
and wind power, are considered to compete or likely to compete
with the business of the Group. Although, both Mr. Li Xueming and
Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip are non-executive director and independent
non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited respectively, they
do not engage in the daily operation of HKC (Holdings) Limited and
thus the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently
from HKC (Holdings) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report and as
far as the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective
associates had any interests in a business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or any other conflicts of interests with the Group.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as at 31 December 2010 are set out in notes 24, 26 and
27 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 230 and 231 of the
annual report.

PROPERTIES
Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on page
232 of the annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local eligible
employees in Hong Kong under an approved defined contribution
provident fund (“the ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme is
administered by trustees, the majority of which are independent, with
its assets held separately from those of the Company. The ORSO
Scheme is funded by contributions from employees and employers
at 5% each based on the monthly salaries of employees. Forfeited
contribution may be used to reduce the existing level of contribution
by the Company.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES (continued)

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance and not previously covered by the ORSO Scheme.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income. Employee
can choose to contribute with a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
the retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
the income statement during the year ended 31 December 2010
amounted to HK$10,799,000.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
A resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the board

Tang Shuangning

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 February 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report

oo > ==
RV Gl e
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT

INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright International Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages
108 to 229, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstaterment, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 February 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement

/\ =3 \/
IZ\{/_J_\ - E i% For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z& =2 —Z4%+ = B=+—H IFEE (LB E)
2010 2009
—T—TF —ETNF
Note $°000 $°000
B Tt Tt
Turnover ¢ %] 3&12 2,929,415 1,765,996
Direct costs and operating expenses BEERAREEER (1,783,651) (991,074)
1,145,764 774,922
Other revenue H b e 4 61,544 62,093
Other loss H g8 4 (978) (31)
Administrative expenses THER (187,245) (164,661)
Valuation gains on investment properties REMELERER 13 3,996 4,888
Profit from operations "2 1,023,081 677,211
Finance costs &R 5(a) (177,567) (170,262)
845,514 506,949
Share of (loss)/profit of associate FrihEs & AR (&),
a7 6 (588) 588
Profit before taxation Briai A 5 844,926 507,537
Income tax Frigis 7() (191,761) (99,060)
Profit for the year REERF 653,165 408,477
Attributable to: FE{LER D -
Equity shareholders of the Company PiN/N *Tﬂx% 10 616,433 371,898
Non-controlling interests JEPE R A 36,732 36,579
Profit for the year REERT 653,165 408,477
Earnings per share BEEF 11
Basic HA 16.92 cents{ll  11.39 centsflLl
Diluted BE 16.68 centsflll  11.19 centsflll

The notes on pages 118 to 229 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note

30(0).

HNE118E R F2298 2 st Al FI R HREK 2
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehenswe Income

AREERE
I\‘/j_\ |:| _:F_ For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 2 —ZF—ZF+ - =+—H It FE (LUEE:TE)

2010 2009
—T—TF —ZETNF
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Profit for the year AEEZF 653,165 408,477
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEHMB2EKA :
Exchange differences on translation of BREMB A R RE
financial statements of subsidiaries EECERERE 209,087 815
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale securities FEBHRALEEE 43,738 (1,604)
Tax effect relating to changes in fair value HEEFANEES
of available-for-sale securities RN E (12,005) -
240,820 (789)
Total comprehensive income for the year KREEZEINLEZE 893,985 407,688
Attributable to: FE{LER (R
Equity shareholders of the Company VNN 838,591 371,030
Non-controlling interests IEFER T 55,394 36,658
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZEWNEZE 893,985 407,688

The notes on pages 118 to 229 form part of these financial #EHRFE118EE 52208 v Wit A SHEHRER 2
statements. — 2[5 o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

China Everbright International Limited

B ABR AR A A

= A
I\‘/—.r\ § F ~ T/g\ % At 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 1A =2 —ZF+— A =+—H (LB E)
2010 2009
—T—FF —ZETNF
Note $°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
5T Ft Fx Tt Tt
Non-current assets FEREEE
Fixed assets TEE 13(a)
— Investment properties —REUE 28,856 24,467
— Other property, plant and —Hitt% - B5E
equipment B 385,021 143,544
413,877 168,011
Intangible assets BREE 14 638,728 553,828
Goodwill HE 15 46,133 46,133
Interest in associate NI 17 - 588
Other financial assets fl\ﬁﬂﬁﬁ“ BE 18 244,949 21,385
Other receivables and deposits £ th & U 7578 K% 4 19 2,399,734 1,736,218
Gross amounts due from EHEFE4
customers for contract work ~ TF2ZRIE4A%E 20 4,629,124 3,174,793
Deferred tax assets ERETRIBEE 28(b) 14,080 22,522
8,386,625 5,723,478
Current assets REEE
Inventories =4 21 21,490 13,150
Debtors, other receivables, FEUCBRTR - H A
deposits and prepayments FEUTZR IE ek
S 19 673,635 603,772
Gross amounts due from EWEE A4
customers for contract work ~ Ti2% *”IEZIE 28 20 350,836 302,596
Tax recoverable AU el FHIE 28(a) 5,381 =
Pledged bank deposits BIERIRITER 22 38,852 29,425
Deposits with bank RITIFR 52,087 51,062
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRESEY 23 1,341,485 1,943,785
2,483,766 2,943,790
Current liabilities RE&E
Bank loans RITERK 24
— Secured —HiEH 365,308 380,395
— Unsecured — m i 366,946 315,927
732,254 696,322
Creditors, other payables and ~ JEfFEER « EfupEft
accrued expenses SN ERTE A 25 853,444 481,481
Current taxation NEAFRTE 28(a) 29,136 10,017
1,614,834 1,187,820
Net current assets REEERE

868,932

1,755,970
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—T-TEER
= AL = ==
Ig\\/ Ay | :é EE :%\ ,f/g\ i% At 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =Z—ZF+ = =+—H (ABH1E)
2010 2009
—ET—FF —TENF
Note $°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
MIsE Fxt FiTt Tt T
Total assets less current 4 R TR ED
liabilities afE 9,255,557 7,479,448
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank loans SFITER 24
— Secured —HiEH 1,817,165 1,326,383
— Unsecured — I 1,219,978 926,179
3,037,143 2,252,562
Other loans HMEHR 26 53,271 39,715
Loans from ultimate holding SRR RIE R
company 27 117,439 112,707
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHBAE 28(0) 299,055 144,698
3,506,908 2,549,682
NET ASSETS EEFH 5,748,649 4,929,766
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR fiiE
Share capital &2 30(c) 365,246 363,932
Reserves s 4,972,806 4,208,900
Total equity attributable to A& S]IEHEEL
equity shareholders of the  #EZ548%8
Company 5,338,052 4,572,832
Non-controlling interests JEd R AESS 410,597 356,934
TOTAL EQUITY B 5,748,649 4,929,766

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

28 February 2011.

Chen Xiaoping
BR/INE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 118 to 229 form part of these financial

statements.

Wang Tianyi
EX&
Director

EE

— 5 -

EEGN T A=\ B REFAIRT -

FENFNBAEF229H 7 ME AU EMBHRKZ



W W 2 China Everbright International Limited
B KRB AR DA

Balance Sheet

> = ==
7 — % %%

§ === 'fE At 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =2 —ZF+— A =+—H (LAB#EE)
-~ ~~ N—= = — — g Al 7

2010 2009
—T—FF “EBEENF
Note $’000 $°000 $'000 $'000
5T Ft Fx Tt Tt
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #12 ~ &&= Kk:&E 13(o) 1,622 2,852
Interest in subsidiaries BN akER 16 3,088,183 2,214,767
Other financial assets HMBEEE 18 3,899 4,649
3,093,704 2,222,268
Current assets TENEE
Other receivables, deposits and E b EUFIE « 154
prepayments SN 45,369 21,349
Cash and cash equivalents BHE MRS EEY 23 244,054 1,296,275
289,423 1,317,624
Current liabilities REBE
Bank loans IRITER 24
— Secured — G 40,000 30,000
— Unsecured — AR - 80,000
40,000 110,000
Other payables and accrued  EAh {518 &
expenses FEETER 16,443 20,941
56,443 130,941
Net current assets MENEEEE 232,980 1,186,683
Total assets less current EEERRHEE
liabilities 3,326,684 3,408,951
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Secured bank loans BIEHRITER 24 87,500 77,500

NET ASSETS BEFE 3,239,184 3,331,451
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Balance Sheet

> = ==
z ;ﬁ
é == ié\ ,f/g\ At 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) /A =2 —Z4%+ = A=+—H (LABEE)

2010 2009
—B-BF “ETRE

Note $°000 $°000 $000 $000

BaE Tt Tt T T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES &R fii% 30(a)
Share capital R 365,246 363,932
Reserves EE 2,873,938 2,967,519
TOTAL EQUITY LU 3,239,184 3,331,451

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  EFE@W -Z——F— =+ /\ B ENFFAIZE(T °
28 February 2011.

Chen Xiaoping Wang Tianyi
BEINE EPS -
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 118 to 229 form part of these financial HRFE118E EF2208 v (XAt EI Bz 2
statements. — &t ©
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Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equity

= \ / 4=
T /\/%Elnz\

/\\/j_\ %b %% For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z& =2 —Z4%+= f=+—H L FE (S B E)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RATIERIENS
Capital
redemption
Share Share Special reserve Capital
capital premium reserve BAREE reserve
2 R in i (E LEyl fitth EX ke
Note $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
FiEE T T Fr T T
Balance at 1 January 2009 WR=FFh&E—HA—H
2% 314,378 747,418 - 70 11,368
Changes in equity for 2009: Z—FTHFEZERET) :
Profit for the year REE B - - - - -
Other comprehensive income  Efh 2 E KA = = - - -
Total comprehensive income  NEEZEUALEE
for the year - - - - -
Dividend approved in respect of EHUEEFE 7 RS
the previous year 30(o)(i) - - - - -
Shares issued under share Rz S
option scheme BT 2D 30(c)(ii) 1,554 15,002 - - (4,540)
Issue of ordinary shares BITERR 30(c)(ii) 48,000 1,385,035 - - -
Capital contrioutions received by FE2 & B A Al FEEL
non-wholly owned subsidiary AR EEUKERFTIS
from non-controlling A
shareholder - - - - -
Transfer to reserve fund BREEES - - - - -
Dividend paid to non-controlling E,iﬁ%;ﬁ SARARER 2
shareholder - - - - -
Dividend declared in respect of E& m&r ZRE
the current year 30(0)() - - - - -
Balance at 31 December R-BThE
2009 +=A=+—H2Z% 363,932 2,147,545 - 70 6,828
Balance at 1 January 2010 WR=F—F&—Hf—H
ok v 363,932 2,147,545 - 70 6,828
Changes in equity for 2010: =F—TEZHELEE) :
Profit for the year REE BT - - - - -
Other comprehensive income  E 2 EHA - - - - -
Total comprehensive income  ANFEREMWA LR
for the year - - - - -
Dividend approved inrespect ~ E#UEEFEE ZIRE
of the previous year 30(o)(i) - - - - -
Shares issued under share RIEER 2
option scheme BT 2RD 30(c)(i 1,314 5,804 = = (384)
Transfer to reserve fund BREEES = - - - -
Dividend paid to EEZH%#H HARARER 2
non-controlling shareholder - - - - -
Dividend declared in respect of B & /)Ezliifh ZRE
the current year 30(b)() = - - - -
Balance at 31 December NoB-T&
2010 +ZA=t+—HZ&H 365,246 2,153,349 - 70 6,444

The notes on pages 118 to 229 form part of these financial SRFE118E EFE2208 7 It AL FHHRE 2
statements. —btn
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AT REREN
Goodwill
arising on
consolidation Exchange Fair value Reserve Retained Non-controlling

EAIRIE reserve reserve fund profits Total interests Total equity
EEZHE E R e Af{EGHRE e REBEF ok FixiRtEn e
$°000 $°000 $°000 $000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fi Fi F F Fr Fi
(1,806) 288,115 107 30,537 1,429,428 2,819,615 311,426 3,131,041

= = = = 371,898 371,898 36,579 408,477
- 736 (1,604) — - (868) 79 (789)

- 736 (1,604) - 371,898 371,030 36,658 407,688
- - - - (31,447) (31,447) = (31,447)

= = = = = 12,106 = 12,106

- - - - - 1,433,035 - 1,433,035

= = = = = = 10,552 10,552

= = = 31,312 (31,312 = = =
_ _ - - - - (1,702 (1,702)
= = = = (31,507) (31,507) = (31,507)

(1,806) 288,851 (1,497) 61,849 1,707,060 4,572,832 356,934 4,929,766
(1,806) 288,851 (1,497) 61,849 1,707,060 4,572,832 356,934 4,929,766

- - - - 616,433 616,433 36,732 653,165

- 190,425 31,733 - - 222,158 18,662 240,820

- 190,425 31,733 - 616,433 838,591 55,394 893,985
- - - - (43,683) (43,683) - (43,683)

- - - - - 6,734 - 6,734

- - - 32,932 (32,932) - - -
- - = - - - (1,731) (1,731)
- - - - (36,422) (36,422) - (36,422)

(1,806) 479,276 30,236 94,781 2,210,456 5,338,052 410,597 5,748,649




China Everbright International Limited

B ABR AR A A

170

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

=IAN N —1
I\‘/_J_\ Eﬁ, i /ILER i% For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 82 =T —Z 4+ - A=+—H L FE (LB E)
2010 2009
—E—FTF —ETNF
Note $°000 $000
B Tt Tt
Operating activities TEEE
Profit before taxation FRFH BT 27 844,926 507,537
Adjustments for: KRR
Valuation gains on investment properties KEMEGHERSG 13 (3,996) (4,888)
Depreciation e 5(c) 16,872 14,619
Amortisation of intangible assets B 5(c) 24,489 24,079
Finance costs BB 5(a) 177,567 170,262
Dividend income from listed securities ETESREMA 4 (1,766) (2,577)
Bank interest income HRITH S YA 4 (8,260) (8,809)
Share of loss/(profit) of associate Fir{ B = A A
&1 (EA) 6 588 (588)
Net loss on sale of other property, HEHMYE  BE
plant and equipment MRt 2 R EE 4 978 31
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes ExEE o B 44,518 128
Operating profit before changes in EEESEE
working capital k| 1,095,916 699,794
Increase in inventories FEEM (7,771) (1,646)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEURBRZR « EfibfE 145(,7/\
deposits and prepayments 18 - f7& RIEFRK
e (635,064) (531,792)
Increase in gross amounts due from BN EFE A4 T8
customers for contract work Flakegid 7][] (1,352,100) (531,546)
Increase in creditors, other payables and JEﬁLHE,A H (i pEfSt
accrued expenses IR N FEETE AL 352,208 10,336
Cash used in operations FEHRAZHS (546,811) (354,854)
Interest received B 8,260 8,809
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC?) BTHEE AR L HE
income tax paid ([ B ) FTiSHE (36,285) (28,336)
Net cash used in operating activities EEEBEEA
e S (574,836) (374,381)
Investing activities BEFH
Payment for the purchase of other property, BB E M - BE
plant and equipment N2 58 (251,356) (13,184)
Payment for the additions of intangible 1% E 8 2 SO
assets (83,891) -
Payment for the purchase of listed securities B E _FH&%5 2 &K (173,100) -
Proceeds from sale of other property, HEEMYE Ffﬁ%
plant and equipment &?&Lfﬁﬁﬁﬁmlﬁ 1,671 13
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank BIRIRRI TN
deposits (xgm), e (8,154) 79,953
Decrease/(increase) in deposits with bank RITERORL(380) 1,185 (23,481)
Return of investment from unlisted securities  FE L7552 % & Bk 750 1,924
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEEFR(EA),
investing activities ZIR&BE (512,895) 45,225
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

=AN A s — 1
IZ\{/ NE Eﬁ j:L /JILEE i% For the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) %2 —Z—Z 4+ = A=+—H It FE(LUBE1E)
2010 2009
—ET—-TF —ETNF
Note $000 $000
BRE Ft Tt
Financing activities BhEEEED
Proceeds from new bank loans TR TE R TSR 1,419,420 1,338,276
Repayment of bank loans EEIRITER (723,762) (719,545)
Repayment of loans from ultimate holding EESLIERARIER

company - (100,420)
Proceeds from other loans HiERMERIE 11,540 -
Repayment of other loans EEHMER = (28,367)
Contributions received by non-wholly owned  FE2 &M B A Bl#

subsidiary from non-controlling shareholder — 3E3% A& A% ER IS EX

PRS2 L& - 10,552
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT RRFTS < BB - 1,433,035
Proceeds from shares issued under share RIS 21381 T

option scheme IRAD PTG 2 BOR 6,734 12,106
Interest paid EFE (177,567) (170,262)
Dividend paid to equity shareholders of the B ZAAA BIIR R PE 2.

Company (80,105) (62,954)
Dividend paid to non-controliing shareholder 215 3E3 AR AR BR A% . (1,731) (1,702)
Net cash generated from financing A& EENRTEE

activities ZH&FE 454,529 1,710,719
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRFEEZEY

cash equivalents GRiY) EnnisiE (633,202) 1,381,563
Cash and cash equivalents at R—RA—BZH&

1 January RIE&EEY 1,943,785 562,132
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes [EZEgiE)2 5528 30,902 90
Cash and cash equivalents at »+=—A=+—H

31 December ZIRE&RIREEEY 28 1,341,485 1,943,785

The notes on pages 118 to 229 form part of these financial

statements.

FNE11BEEF2298 2 MBI FUHEHRERZ

— &7 -
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1 1 T B 5
/N F ya) iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& S2AEASN © FrE BB EE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASSs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 2 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group’s interest in associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

— investment property (see note 1(g)); and

— financial instruments classified as available-for-sale
securities (see note 1(f)).

— EEEFER

(a)

(b)

BB

HERBRRERBEL G AER
2 MAERTEMBHREER(EE
M HmEER]) - ZREBEAEER
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AHERD(EE S LR ) RRE B
ARG R R FB(R RGN Z R E
mAwE o Lo - WFEMBHRITEEBR
EREBMARZAERARES LMARA
(TETRADPEROBERE - A&
BFERA 2 T2 SFRREREHIIWT -

BARGETEAG MM TE TH R&E
RIZBRYBHREER - AEENEAN
KB RARBANE T IR R A £ R
FIHERRTERA - RANHIRE Mo E & st 3
B ARYRER L EAEEER 2
#a] BT BB IR E LRI B2
BEITBREH 2 EC RN REK
o RERBR I BwAME—A -

MR mEEE
HE-_Z-TE+-_A=1t—RHILFE
AV BRERBEARTMEKBA
B RN E B A R o

BTSRRI 2T EREERESL
AL - HETIBERBBHARA
SRR (FE R T X &t BRI RSN -
— REVERME—OQ) Rk

- NRERGEEFZERITA(RME
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T B 5T
/N F ya) ﬁF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN © FrE BB EE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 37.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

— FEEEBRE)
(b) MBHREREE(E)

(c)

B ET A BB G HRELER 2
WRFBEEEEELHIE - A5 2R
R MFHE - Bt MBRREFER
RZEREFRERcEERAE - BA
KAXEHRE - AFhTRABRRTD
BREBECRREEERENZER.
ThEAE s EREMEARSEEME
b TS ERBREEERL B ATREER
HiRRMEHHNEERAEZKEE
FTYELbFT 2 2% - BB FHEH 5
RIEETECF -

AR BB ST AR R F L
At - BRtARt BB MER EEL
B S FHEFT 280 & IR -
A A 2B EE B RIAKE
B RIS AT E BN E B RN
& AR, ©

EEERERBEBYEREERIRAE
A HEEIHRRBEERTE 2 A - LA
MEEEETEEE 2 EBRE -
=1+ -

B 2 B % SR R AR
MEBARRAERZEG 2B - NAE
EEREERER MR ERE
A B EXBERA R - A2 -
RAHEIEHIER - iS5t RBRRAITE 2
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1 1 T B 5
/N F ya) iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& S2AEASN © FrE BB EE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests (previously known as “minority
interests”) represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in accordance
with notes 1(0) or (p) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests,
but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

— FEEEBRE)
() MEQRRIFERERE)

IR an (A TR[ D BIAR#Eas | ) #5310
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DI o FFERERFTEAZER L E A
BRZERAAZENEL  REEE
ERBERREHE—(0)sp) (R TREME
BimE)F RHEalE -
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1 15 T B 5T
/N F ya) ﬁF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN © FrE BB EE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1

(c)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment losses (see
note 1(k)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the associate’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 1(g) and (k). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associate’s
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

— FEEEBRE)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Associates (continued)

1

(e)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that associate, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former associate at the date when significant influence is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

() the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 1(k)).
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/N F VA ﬁF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN © FrE BB EE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Goodwill (continued)

1

(f)

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in
equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associate, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair
value, which is their transaction price unless fair value can
be more reliably estimated using valuation techniques
whose variables include only data from observable markets.
Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out
in notes 1(u)(v) and (vii).

Investment in equity securities that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at
cost less impairment losses (see note 1(k)).
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AT X
ﬁ F % qﬁ& % MT HE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAFLRIN © FrE&RBIABETE)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1

U]

(9)

(h)

Other investments in equity securities (continued)
Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-sale
securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the fair value reserve. Dividend income
from these investments is recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(u)(vii). When
these investments are derecognised or impaired (see note
1(k)), the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investments.

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1()) to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at fair value. Any gain or
loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1(u)(vi).

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note
1(K)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(x)).
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Other property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years
after the date of completion.

— Plant and machinery 25 years

— Leasehold 10 years or over the remaining

improvements term of the lease, if shorter

—  Furniture and fixtures 5to 10 years
—  Motor vehicles, 31to 12 years
electronic equipment
and other fixed assets

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

— EEERERE)
(h) B - BERRAE(E)

ME - BERRERESIB L ERES
ZEBALEMSHIIFREEE IR
HEZFNEZREE @ YNEREHLE
= BHERRRPER

YxE - BERRERE HERBERER
H 55T A B F RN E 2 (At RIgRE
BB MR AR A ERT BT BT

- URHEETZ BT IIRES
TZEEFHRRMA A ERFHED
seA B EREET E+F 2 ) AR

ERENE -

- BEA#E —t+hfF

- HEYE THAFGRHE
Kfe FH AR

BE BE)
- BAREE #ETE
- A% BF =Et=%
BEREL
AR

FERTRRTMERERE -

E-AYE BEARBZEHBHEDT
RIAIERFEH - IR B & B KA
RIRAEER DI - MEEOSERES5
e - BEZAEAFHEEFSRER
(@R ) 8 FETR



126

China Everbright International Limited

B ABR AR A A

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 1 T B 5
/N F ya) iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& S2AEASN © FrE BB EE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1

(@i

)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets represent operating rights of a toll bridge
and certain alternative energy power plants under Build-
Operate-Owned (“BOQ”) arrangements. The intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years. Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, except
that land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes,
the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) — FEEHBRE)
(i) Leased assets (continued) () HEEEE)
(i) Assets acquired under finance leases (i) REFEHEBAZ BE

(i)

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets are included
in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net of
finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely that the Group will
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as
set out in note 1(h). Impairment losses are accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 1(k). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease term except where the property is classified as
an investment property (see note 1(g)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets

1

)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and other
receivables

Investments in equity securities (other than investments
in subsidiaries: see note 1(k)(ii)) and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale
securities are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about one or more of the following loss
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

— For investment in associate recognised using the
equity method (see note 1(d)), the impairment loss is
measured by comparing the recoverable amount of
the investment as a whole with its carrying amount
in accordance with note 1(K)(i). The impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount in accordance with note 1(K(ii).
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
()  Impairment of investments in equity securities and other
receivables (continued)

For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset
and the estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity securities
carried at cost are not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition of these assets), where the
effect of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets carried
at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and other

receivables (continued)

—  For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss
that has been recognised in the fair value reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss
is the difference between the acquisition cost (net
of any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of available-for-sale equity securities are
not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value of such assets is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of debtors included within
debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against debtors
directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment (other than properties
carried at revalued amounts);

— intangible assets;

— investments in subsidiaries (except for those classified
as held for sale); and

—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill and
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)

1

(i)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

1

0

(i) - Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the
first six months of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 1(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period relates.
Consequently, if the fair value of an available-for-sale
equity security increases in the remainder of the annual
period, or in any other period subsequently, the increase
is recognised in other comprehensive income and not
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise spare parts and consumables
used in the repair and maintenance of the waste-water
treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants and
solid waste landfill, are carried at cost less provision for
obsolescence. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula. When inventories are consumed,
the carrying value of those inventories is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Construction contracts

1

(n)

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated
with a customer for the construction of an asset or a group
of assets, where the customer is able to specify the major
structural elements of the design. The accounting policy for
contract revenue is set out in note 1(u)(i). When the outcome
of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference
to the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the
reporting period. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately. When the outcome
of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the end of the
reporting period are recorded at the net amount of costs
incurred plus recognised profit less recognised losses and
progress billings, and are presented in the balance sheet as
the “Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
(as an asset) or the “Gross amounts due to customers for
contract work” (as a liability), as applicable. Progress bilings
not yet paid by the customer are included in the balance
sheet under “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments”.

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments
are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts (see note 1(k)), except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1

(o)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with
any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses are initially
recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee
liabilities measured in accordance with note 1(t)(i), creditors,
other payables and accrued expenses are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of consolidated cash flow statement.

Employee benefits

()  Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(r) Employee benefits (continued)

1

(i)

(i)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On
the vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Income tax (continued)

1

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

U

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (“the holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within
creditors, other payables and accrued expenses. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(i) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (i)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the amount currently carried in creditors,
other payables and accrued expenses in respect of
that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)
(i) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

1

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

(u) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

()

Revenue from construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are
recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of
completion of the contract.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to
surveyors of work performed. When the outcome of
a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.
An expected loss on a contract is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

1

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(i)

Revenue from service concession arrangement
Revenue relating to construction services under a
service concession arrangement is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the work performed,
consistent with the Group’s accounting policy on
recognising revenue from construction contracts (see
note 1(u)()). Operation or service revenue is recognised
in the period in which services are provided by the
Group. When the Group provides more than one
service in a service concession arrangement, the
consideration received is allocated by reference to the
relative fair values of the services delivered.

Toll bridge revenue
Toll bridge revenue, net of business tax, is recognised
upon usage of the bridge.

Revenue from environmental water project, environmental
energy project and alternative energy project operation
services

Revenue from environmental water project,
environmental energy project and alternative energy
project operation services are recognised when the
related services are rendered.

Finance income
Finance income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(vii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as
revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

(v) Repair and maintenance

Expenditures on major overhauls, repair and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is both the
Company’s presentation currency and functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was determined.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

1

v)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Balance sheet items, including goodwill arising
on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1
January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1
January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that
applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset are being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

() the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1

(v)

@

Related parties (continued)
(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture
in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel

of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family

member of such an individual, or is an entity under the

control, joint control or significant influence of such

individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

(Vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for

the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity

that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued two revised HKFRSs, a number of
amendments to HKFRSs and two new Interpretations that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Of these, the following developments are relevant
to the Group’s financial statements:

2

HKFRS 3 (revised 2008), Business combinations

Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate
financial statements

Amendments to HKFRS 5, Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations — plan to sell the controlling

interest in a subsidiary

Amendment to HKAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement — eligible hedged items

Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)

HK(IFRIC) 17, Distributions of non-cash assets to owners

HK (Int) 5, Presentation of financial statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The amendment to HKAS 39 and the issuance of HK (Int) 5
have had no material impact on the Group’s financial statements
as the amendment and the Interpretation’s conclusions were
consistent with policies already adopted by the Group. The other
developments resulted in changes in accounting policy but none
of these changes in policy have a material impact on the current
or comparative periods, for the following reasons:

The impact of the majority of the revisions to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 27, HKFRS 5 and HK(IFRIC) 17 have not yet had
a material effect on the Group’s financial statements as
these changes will first be effective as and when the Group
enters into a relevant transaction (for example, a business
combination, a disposal of a subsidiary or a non-cash
distribution) and there is no requirement to restate the
amounts recorded in respect of previous such transactions.

The impact of the amendments to HKFRS 3 (in respect of
recognition of acquiree’s deferred tax assets) and HKAS 27
(in respect of allocation of losses to non-controlling interests
(previously known as “minority interests”) in excess of their
equity interests) have had no material impact as there is
no requirement to restate amounts recorded in previous
periods and no such deferred tax assets or losses arose in
the current period.

The amendment introduced by the Improvements to
HKFRSs (2009) omnibus standard in respect of HKAS 17,
Leases, resulted in a change of classification of certain of
the Group’s leasehold land interests located in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, but this had no material
impact on the amounts recognised in respect of these
leases as the lease premiums in respect of all such leases
are fully paid and are being amortised over the remaining
length of the lease term.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Further details of these changes in accounting policy are as

follows:

— As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised 2008), any
business combination acquired on or after 1 January 2010
will be recognised in accordance with the new requirements
and detailed guidance contained in HKFRS 3 (revised 2008).
These include the following changes in accounting policies:

Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection
with a business combination, such as finder’s fees, legal
fees, due diligence fees, and other professional and
consulting fees, will be expensed as incurred, whereas
previously they were accounted for as part of the cost
of the business combination and therefore impacted the
amount of goodwill recognised.

If the Group holds interests in the acquiree immediately
prior to obtaining control, these interests will be treated
as if disposed of and re-acquired at fair value on the
date of obtaining control. Previously, the step-up
approach would have been applied, whereby goodwill
was computed as if accumulated at each stage of the
acquisition.

Contingent consideration will be measured at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
in the measurement of that contingent consideration
unrelated to facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date will be recognised in profit or loss,
whereas previously these changes were recognised as
an adjustment to the cost of the business combination
and therefore impacted the amount of goodwill
recognised.

If the acquiree has accumulated tax losses or other
temporary deductible differences and these fail to meet
the recognition criteria for deferred tax assets at the
date of acquisition, then any subsequent recognition of
these assets will be recognised in profit or loss, rather
than as an adjustment to goodwill as was previously the

policy.

In addition to the Group’s existing policy of measuring
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets, in future the Group
may elect, on a transaction by transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interest at fair value.

W EAZ B8 ()
BERHERED 2 — S HIHIIT

— BN EBHFRELERDEIR (=
ERN\FEF]) R T —FF—A—
B SARWIB TS 2 & HF RIS R IRH
MEM(EBM B RELRDFEIR(—F
T\FER]) el 2 S ARTE 5| T ARERR
BB NI BRRE

- AEBERXGEHMEEZRHMX
A WNAER ERER 2B
HEBALEMEXRBERER -
RMRELRSIX - MREE - B
ERMARSEBE 2 BB DAA -
TRAMPECERAREDHE

— AKREERZERGEGIE A
BB AR Es - AlE AR
RHAR A INE N BUSEHIEE B
BAREHELBBA—K - BE
SRABRTIEINERIE - RIBER S
BAE - ERTERER - BIOER
BEMEEERR—BETE -

- XEREFREBERZ AR EF
8o AHRNEREBEIFERRNA
EfEE)  MAEMESHEEIKRER
HEFECEERBRERNGS -
RN BRRER  NBE  FHE
P ARERSEBEFRA LA
B AmMpPEcERImEes -

— WRKERRAES R R EER
HE s a] R ERE > mARIRA
RUE B BIRBERT & B IR 1A
BEEREL - AR BRERZ
FERER  ARBmRTER - m
FRIBEZ MR RERARSEE
AR o

— BRFEREB AR ZIFERE
3 AREZRITHR R IFER
BEDIEWKB LR 2 AT PRI & E
FERTE o Rt 29N MARKARE
EREEFERERNXSEEARAE
RECE S Fak



14

() | China Everbright International Limited
O | FEXARBEBRAT

Notes to the Financial Statements

75 = M o
/N F 7] iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& S2AEASN © FrA RS EE)

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
3 (revised 2008), these new accounting policies will be
applied prospectively to any business combinations in
the current or future periods. The new policy in respect of
recognition in the movement of deferred tax assets will also
be applied prospectively to accumulated tax losses and
other temporary deductible differences acquired in previous
business combinations. No adjustments have been made
to the carrying values of assets and liabilities that arose from
business combinations whose acquisition dates preceded
the application of this revised standard.

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 27 (amended 2008),
the following changes in policies will be applied as from 1
January 2010:

— If the Group acquires an additional interest in a non-
wholly owned subsidiary, the transaction will be
accounted for as a transaction with equity shareholders
(the non-controlling interests) in their capacity as
owners and therefore no goodwill will be recognised
as a result of such transactions. Similarly, if the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but still
retains control, this transaction will also be accounted
for as a transaction with equity shareholders (the non-
controlling interests) in their capacity as owners and
therefore no profit or loss will be recognised as a result
of such transactions. Previously the Group treated
such transactions as step-up transactions and partial
disposals, respectively.

—  Ifthe Group loses control of a subsidiary, the transaction
will be accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that subsidiary, with any remaining interest retained
by the Group being recognised at fair value as if
reacquired. In addition, as a result of the adoption of the
amendment to HKFRS 5, if at the balance sheet date
the Group has the intention to dispose of a controlling
interest in a subsidiary, the entire interest in that
subsidiary will be classified as held for sale (assuming
that the held for sale criteria in HKFRS 5 are met)
irrespective of the extent to which the Group will retain
an interest. Previously such transactions were treated as
partial disposals.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) — ERtEsRZE##H(E)
In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKAS 27, RIBCEBSFIERDZE275R 2 BEB

these new accounting policies will be applied prospectively
to transactions in current or future periods and therefore
previous periods have not been restated.

In order to be consistent with the above amendments to
HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27, and as a result of amendments to
HKAS 28, Investments in associates, the following policies
will be applied as from 1 January 2010:

— If the Group holds interests in the acquiree immediately
prior to obtaining significant influence, these interests will
be treated as if disposed of and reacquired at fair value
on the date of obtaining significant influence. Previously,
the step-up approach would have been applied,
whereby goodwill was computed as if accumulated at
each stage of the acquisition.

— If the Group loses significant influence, the transaction
will be accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with any remaining interest being
recognised at fair value as if reacquired. Previously such
transactions were treated as partial disposals.

Consistent with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 3 and
HKAS 27, these new accounting policies will be applied
prospectively to transactions in current or future periods and
therefore previous periods have not been restated.

HK(IFRIC) 17 requires distributions of non-cash assets
to owners to be measured at the fair value of the assets
distributed. This will result in a gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that the fair value of the assets
is different from their carrying value. Previously the Group’s
accounting policy is to measure such distributions at the
carrying value of the assets distributed. In accordance
with the transitional provisions in HK(IFRIC) 17, this
new accounting policy will be applied prospectively to
distributions in current or future periods and therefore
previous periods have not been restated.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other changes in accounting policies which are relevant to the
Group’s financial statements are as follows:

As a result of the amendments to HKAS 27, as from 1
January 2010 any losses incurred by a non-wholly owned
subsidiary will be allocated between the controlling and
non-controlling interests in proportion to their interests in
that entity, even if this results in a deficit balance within
consolidated equity being attributed to the non-controlling
interests. Previously, if the allocation of losses to the non-
controlling interests would have resulted in a deficit balance,
the losses were only allocated to the non-controlling
interests if the non-controlling interests were under a binding
obligation to make good the losses. In accordance with
the transitional provisions in HKAS 27, this new accounting
policy is being applied prospectively and therefore previous
periods have not been restated.

As a result of the amendment to HKAS 17, Leases, arising
from the “Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)” omnibus
standard, the Group has re-evaluated the classification of
its interests in leasehold land as to whether, in the Group’s
judgement, the lease transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the land such that the Group
is in a position economically similar to that of a purchaser.
The Group has concluded that the classification of such
leases as operating leases continues to be appropriate,
with the exception of those interests which are registered
and transferable ownership interests in land located in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and subject to
the Government’s land policy of renewal without payment
of additional land premium. These leasehold interests will no
longer be classified by the Group as operating leases as the
Group considers that it is in a position economically similar
to that of a purchaser. This change in accounting policy has
no material impact on the current or previous periods as the
lease premiums in respect of all such leases are fully paid
and are being amortised over the remaining length of the
lease term.
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3 TURNOVER = B¥#H

The principal activities of the Group are construction, REEZ FRXBREE  RERKKEBE
environmental water project operation (waste-water treatment B OT/KEEIER - KO R IR R 2R 7k
plants, reusable water treatment plants and a surface water BRIEM) « IRIREEIRIB B ESE (IR REESE
treatment plant), environmental energy project operation (waste- & T E SRR YIRS ) - ¥ebRIB B &
to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill), EOBREBER - HRBEEHE REWERE
alternative energy project operation (methane-to-energy power BB  RRBEEIEEE  KERBR
plants, photovoltaic energy projects and biomass power B - MEIRE RIREER -

generation plants), environmental technology and construction
management, toll bridge operation, property investments and
investment holding.

Turnover represents the revenue from construction contracts, EERBEEES NS - RERRKKE
revenue from environmental water project, environmental energy B - RIRAEIRIAE kFTeeRIEE < B RS
project and alternative energy project operation services, finance W~ BBKA - RERRKERES K
income, toll bridge revenue and rental income. The amount A FRAEELEFFRRANZTEEZWA
of each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover R BEEIT

during the year is as follows:

2010 2009
—T-FF —ETNF
$°000 $°000
Fi T
Revenue from environmental water project IRIRKISIE B 2 s les
construction services 233,243 530,516
Revenue from environmental energy project IR{REERTE B iSRS
construction services 1,360,418 268,078
Revenue from alternative energy project ¥reeRIA B SR e
construction services 91,220 -
Revenue from environmental water project IRIRIKFSIE B 48 2 AR AU S
operation services 381,547 325,890
Revenue from environmental energy project IR{REERTE B B2 RGNS
operation services 270,045 198,421
Revenue from alternative energy project ¥reeRIA B B RS
operation services 12,160 8,080
Finance income RS 431,029 319,986
Toll bridge revenue WEBR 147,977 113,737
Gross rentals from investment properties EMEB SRR 1,776 1,288

2,929,415 1,765,996
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3 TURNOVER (continued) = EEBEE)

The Group has transactions with PRC local government
authorities which in aggregate exceeded 10% of the Group’s
revenues. In 2010, revenues from environmental water project
construction and operation services, environmental energy
project construction and operation services, alternative energy
project construction and operation services and finance income

$‘§léﬁiqﬂl”‘ﬂﬂﬁlﬁ$§%ﬁ?&ﬁ?&% B
AR SEEAEEREE10% R_T—F
F XQEPl”‘i’@LEKW%EQZiM%M%IEE
EL&L 2RSS - IRIRBEIRIR B &K

SRS E - #ELIRIA B 2 & RE E IRTE
Hﬂlﬁ?’i)SZH7H‘5“4517\751',2779662000775(:%'3%“i

derived from local government authorities in the PRC amounted JLEE : 1,650,971,0007T) ° B REAWEFT AR
to $2,779,662,000 (2009: $1,650,971,000). The revenues RKFBIEB REREE |DE - [FRIREEIRIE
are included in “Environmental water project construction and H BiEREE DRI FeeREE 2ERE
operation”, “Environmental energy project construction and DEPGER S RERM T+ =) - BRZ
operation” and “Alternative energy project construction and &*EIE' TRz EFEERRE 2 FIBERNHE
operation” segments as disclosed in note 12 to the financial =t—@-

statements. Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from

these customers are set out in note 31(a).

4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSS M0 Hftbss R HAib 518

2010 2009
—EB-FF —ZETAF
$°000 $000
Fix FT

Other revenue Hihirzs
Bank interest income SRITHEUA 8,260 8,809
Dividend income from listed securities SR AU A 1,766 2,577
Government grant® AT BN &> 1,997 6,412
Value-added tax refund** (B R IE 40,023 27,699
Others Hih 9,498 16,596
61,544 62,093

Other loss HihgsiE

Net loss on sale of other property, HEEMYZE - HEMREZ
plant and equipment FEE 978 31
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4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSS (continued)

*k

Government grant of $1,997,000 (2009: $6,412,000) was granted
during the year ended 31 December 2010 to subsidise certain
environmental energy and water projects in the PRC, of which the
entitement was unconditional and under the discretion of the relevant
authorities.

Value-added tax refund of $40,023,000 (2009: $27,699,000) was
received during the year ended 31 December 2010 in relation to
environmental energy project operations in the PRC. The entitlement of
the value-added tax refund was unconditional and under the discretion
of the relevant authorities.

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

O Az R ERER( &)

*k

REBE—ZT—TF+_A=+—HLEFE &
& B IR B £ 1,997,000 (ZEZ A,
F : 6,412,0007T) * AHBE S @A TR BEIRIR
BERKIKSIEE - BB & ) BRI
I A BB R B R E TR -

RBE_Z-—ZF+_A=1+—"BHLLFE "
REIRREEIRIA B 2 B 2 R BULETR T
40,023,0007T (= ZZ S5 : 27,699,0007T) © A
B EDURTE BRI - LA A RRER
TEREZEIN

A BRBIRIRF

BRI EME M (GTA) :

2010 2009
—E-F —EThEF
$°000 $'000
Fit T
(@) Finance costs: @ HMBER :
Interest on bank advances wholly repayable ‘B E’éﬂiilﬁi%& B8 2 iR
within five years T Zﬂ 81,903 42,314
Interest on other bank advances and other ﬁﬁ%ﬁ BERREMER
loans 2B 95,664 126,642
Interest on loans from ultimate holding SRR AR ER 2R B
company - 1,306
177,567 170,262
(b) Staff costs: (b) BIAKA :
Contributions to defined contribution ERAE TGRSR
retirement plan 10,799 9,412
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEMEF 155,872 101,344

166,671 110,756




W 6 4 China Everbright International Limited
B KRB AR DA

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 1 T B 5
/N F 77 iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAFLRIN © FrE&RBIABETE)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

A RMRBRERAE)

BREATEMENRGIA) : (8)

(continued)
2010 2009
—E-FTF —ETNF
$’000 $'000
T T
(c) Other items: (© HMIEA :
Amortisation of intangible assets WA EEH 24,489 24,079
Depreciation e 16,872 14,619
Net foreign exchange loss b 3 518 558 1,862 4,012
Auditors’ remuneration IZEREM &
— audit services —BZIRE 2,850 2,500
— other services — A BRTS 6 6
Operating lease charges: KEREER -
minimum lease payments =IPHEER
— hire of premises —WEME 4,444 2,396
Research and development o K 5,512 2,984
Rentals receivable from properties FEER S RERE S T
less direct outgoings of $323,000 323,0007L(ZZETNEF -
(2009: $313,000) 313,0007T) (1,453) (975)
6 SHARE OF (LOSS)/PROFIT OF ASSOCIATE 7 FHsEEAS(BE) &F
2010 2009
—E-FTF ZETNF
$000 $000
T T
Share of (loss)/profit of associate Fir{hBe A RIBR BB
before taxation (E518),/ B (588) 588
Share of associate’s taxation FriGEst & A R IR = -
(588) 588
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

7

@)

Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents:

t GEEBERZAEH

(@) HABRERPITEMAEHRS

2010 2009
—E-FTF —ETNF
$°000 $000
Fx Tt
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax FHABIE — FEFIEH
Provision for the year ISy e 8,520 -
Current tax - PRC Income Tax AEIBIE — P EFRRHR
Provision for the year REERHE 47,356 36,492
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEREBE (5,853) (7,304)
41,503 29,188
Deferred tax IRIEHIE
Origination and reversal of temporary BRNERECES
differences K #Z(o] 141,738 69,872
191,761 99,060

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the year
ended 31 December 2010. No provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax was made in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2009 as the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong sustained a loss for Hong Kong Profits Tax
purpose during the year.

Taxation for the PRC operations is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the PRC.
During the year, certain PRC subsidiaries are subject to
tax at 50% of the standard tax rates or fully exempt from
income tax under the relevant tax rules and regulations.

BEMNEGHRBEEIREBRE_T—FTF
T-A=t—BLFEAHERTAN
BHE16.6%:TH - HREHE-TT
NET_A=t—"HUEFEAEEZE
BEBRIHABR - B AREEYL &
MR A BB NSTHEL M -

PRI RIARTHBRITAEMR R R
AE - FR REABBRBERNE
B BT HENE R FHRRER X50%
BARTIR S E 2 BB BNPTISHL
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (continued)

7

@)

Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents: (continued)

Included in over-provision in respect of prior years of the
Group are tax credits of $4,600,000 (2009: $4,615,000)
recognised by a PRC subsidiary in respect of the purchase
of domestically manufactured equipment pursuant to
CaiShuiZi [2000] No. 49 Notice on Relevant Issues
Concerning the Offset or Exemption of Enterprise Income
Tax for Foreign Investment Enterprises for Investment in the
Purchase of Domestically Made Equipment.

+t GEB\BRZAEHRE)

@)

REBRRRITHIMERE  (8)

EASERTFEREBRZSEF
BE—XBEANE R EEE R E#E
AR BRI E R E TN (> R 5
BERERERERECEMEHAERA
BRI (B 52 (2000 )495% ) FTiER
2 BT %.4,600,0007T (ZEEHF :
4,615,0007T) °

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at b) RERHMEFTE 2REBES HHESEH AT
applicable tax rates: ZHER
2010 2009
k- e 3 —ETNF
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Profit before taxation MRFL AT &R 844,926 507,537
Notional tax on profit before taxation, LRI R AR 23
calculated at the rates applicable to FAFRS R B R L BR TR AT & F)
profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned HE 7 ZEFIAE 209,284 134,902
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR B 2 TR AR 2 14,738 7,141
Tax effect of non-taxable income IR A Z FiTa s 2 (4,561) (4,441)
Tax effect of profits entitled to tax AZAHENIERCEE A
exemption in the PRC | 2 FRIE R 2 (65,308) (54,306)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not REFA ﬁ’ﬁﬂﬂiﬁ@? )2 AT
recognised B2 BIEY 6,224 5,028
Tax effect of withholding tax on undistributed ﬁhﬁﬁ TR;TEP EalinESPNGIRS
profits of PRC subsidiaries DIRBH 2 BB 37,237 18,040
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFERERF (5,853) (7,304)
Actual tax expense EBRHIBSZ M 191,761 99,060
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION N EEiE
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the BRIEBEEBCRREA)FE161IEFFT2ES
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: [ CNE
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Retirement 2010
Directors’ inkind Discretionary scheme —F-FTEF
fees e - 2AE bonuses contributions Total
EEHe REVHR EIETEAl  BIREHEIMR k]
$°000 $000 $000 $°000 $°000
T T T T T
Executive directors HiTEE
Tang Shuangning [ - 25 - - 25
Zang Qiutao RIS - 1,699 - - 1,699
Li Xueming 285 - 1,694 - - 1,694
Chen Xiaoping B/ N - 2,170 4,000 - 6,170
Wang Tianyi (Note 1) FR&E(KIzE1) - 1,340 1,300 - 2,640
Wong Kam Chung, gl
Raymond - 1,325 1,300 130 2,755
Zhang Weiyun (Note 2) K= (i) - 934 - - 934
Cai Shuguang (Note 3) £BE 5 (M) - 599 700 17 1,316

Non-executive director ~ FEHITES

Fan Yan Hok, Philip (Note 4)  S5{=#8(Fft3T4) 180 695 - 42 917
Independent BIFRITES

non-executive

directors
Sir David Akers-Jones EREET

(Note 5) (FfyzE5) 190 45 - - 235
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey ZHE 180 45 - - 225
Mar Selwyn Bk 180 45 - - 225

730 10,616 7,300 189 18,835
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8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) N EENE(Z)
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the BIEBBCRAHERI Y E161KFHR 2 EE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: (continued) e : (&)

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Retirement 2009
Directors’ inkind  Discretionary scheme  ZZEENF
fees  Fe o 2EL bonuses  contributions Total
550 KEDN® RUBTEAT  RIRETEIRET pak
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T FT T
Executive directors HITEE
Tang Shuangning EE - 30 - - 30
Zang Qiutao EIE - 1,699 - = 1,699
Li Xueming 220 - 1,694 - - 1,694
Chen Xiaoping Fe/ |\ — 2170 3,000 = 5,170
Fan Yan Hok, Philip Bk - 1,813 1,300 154 3,267
Wong Kam Chung, HiR58
Raymond - 1,325 1,000 115 2,440
Zhang Weiyun KE= - 878 - - 878
Independent BIFEHTE
non-executive
directors
Sir David Akers-Jones ERERL 130 45 - - 175
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey FEE 120 45 - - 165
Mar Selwyn Sk 120 45 - - 165
370 9,744 5,300 269 15,683
Notes: PIRE
(1) Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as executive director and General ) EXREEERZZT—ZTF_A=-+—HEZ{E
Manager on 21 February 2010. RTESRFRAIE -
2) Ms. Zhang Weiyun resigned as executive director on 19 August 2010. @ KEAZLITHR=ZZ—ZFNATIAFERNT
RS -
(8) Mr. Cai Shuguang was appointed as executive director on 19 August @ EEBHRIEAR-ZT—ZTFNATNLBEZREAE
2010. WITESE -
(4) Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip resigned as General Manager and was re- @) SBCBEERERLERE  WRZ—ZF
designated as non-executive director on 20 January 2010. — A=+ BAFAIENTES -
(5)  Sir David Akers-Jones resigned as independent non-executive director b)) ERFEBITR-_T——F— A —HEEBE LIk

on 1 January 2011. BITESHS -
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9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS N mSEMERIA T
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, all are hEERFMENACHRES - BEN
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. [ N IR AN
10 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY + ERATBIREEERT
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the AAAIBRRELMGERINBEESE
Company includes a loss of $18,896,000 (2009: $30,364,000) 18,896,000t (== Z J1.4F : 30,364,0007T )
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the BIARRARZHATEmRENA °
Company.
Recondiliation of the above amount to the Company’s (loss)/ it & REEFRNAQR(ER), BFEERD
profit for the year: i
2010 2009
—F-TF —EThEF
$°000 $°000
Ft T
Amount of consolidated loss attributable to BHIAARR RS #RER 2 IR
equity shareholders dealt with in the FE(LER A E1R
Company’s financial statements (18,896) (80,364)
Final dividends from subsidiaries attributable gt F— AR EEEEHE A
to the profits of the previous financial year, &) & MR R HEE I
approved and paid during the year L AREARE B = 31,136
Company’s (loss)/profit for the year FARAT(ER),EH
(note 30(a) (M=) (18,896) 772
Details of dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of B RENAARRRE 2R EFFEH AT

the Company are set out in note 30(b). =)
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11 EARNINGS PER SHARE +-EBEEF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREAREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on BRERBFIIZBARQ G L BERRR
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of JE {5 22 F1616,433,0007T (=T Z L4 ¢
the Company of $616,433,000 (2009: $371,898,000) 371,898,0007T ) R NE BT L B M
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of hn#ge 35 #43,642,565,000 4% F @ % (=
3,642,565,000 ordinary shares (2009: 3,264,504,000 TTH 4 : 364,504,000 & @) it
ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as B HFtEARMT ¢
follows:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BB IR IE 152
2010 2009
—T-TF ZETNF
’000 ’000
TFh% T
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—H—HBEE&TTEk 3,639,325 3,143,778
Effect of ordinary shares issued BEEITEBER FE
(note 30(c)(ii) (EE=(C)i) - 115,726
Effect of share options exercised BT EEREZE
(note 30(c(if)) (M5 =+(c)iii)) 3,240 5,000
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ A=1+—H2ZBEK
shares at 31 December hniE 8L 3,642,565 3,264,504
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) EREERF
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on FREE BT IR A A T @A AR R
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of FE(H B 71616,433,000T( —EENF -
the Company of $616,433,000 (2009: $371,898,000) 371,898,000 7T ) K& 3 3 % A0 48 F 5 B
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 3,695,610,0008% & @Ak (=TT N -
3,695,610,000 ordinary shares (2009: 3,322,968,000 3,322,968,000/% LB ) 5T & - HFtE
ordinary shares), calculated as follows: FRAT ¢
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) BRI T8 (BEE)
2010 2009
—E-%F —TTNF
’000 ’000
TFh% T
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ A=+—H2EBEK
shares at 31 December I8 3,642,565 3,264,504
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the  #4% AR5 AR FIBERRAE T2
Company’s share option scheme for nil EEBTRD 2 E
consideration (note 29) (fsFE=+"N) 53,045 58,464
Weighted average number of ordinary RTZA=+—BzEREK
shares (diluted) at 31 December I8 (EE) 3,695,610 3,322,968
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12 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following six reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

— Environmental energy project construction and operation:
this segment engages in the construction and operation of
waste-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste
landfill to generate revenue from construction services,
revenue from operation services as well as finance income.

— Environmental water project construction and operation:
this segment engages in the construction, upgrade and
operation of waste-water treatment plants, reusable water
treatment plants and a surface water treatment plant to
generate revenue from construction and upgrading services,
revenue from operation services as well as finance income.

— Alternative energy project construction and operation:
this segment engages in the construction and operation
of methane-to-energy power plants, photovoltaic energy
power projects and biomass power generation plants to
generate revenue from construction services, revenue from
operation services as well as finance income.

—  Environmental technology and construction management:
this segment engages in the conduct of environmental
protection technology research projects and the provision
of construction management services to generate
management and consultancy fee income.

— Infrastructure construction and operation: this segment
engages in the construction and operation of a toll bridge
to generate revenue from construction service and toll fee
revenue.

— Property investment: this segment engages in the leasing of
office premises to generate rental income and to gain from
the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long term.

+=

PERERE

REB 2 ¥R ERELRE D AZES L
IAER - LB AR AT HEIRD M&%ﬁ
FMEmmERREEEEERENZ—ER
X ANEBEEE T THNEAETRE DS -
REEWESHEMELEDE - AKX T
BATHMEDE o

— RREFBARRENES  LEHDH
%ﬂLL& BN REBRERNTE
REYIEES  ARINEERBK

ﬁTi 1B ARTS Wk M EATEURN o

— RFRKBEBBENES  WEBNE
BiPRE - MEREEITKEER - T
7K [ R B 3R A e b 2R /K BR TR - LA BRER
s ERGE IR W e - B RS K
FATEHRN ©

— FERARRENEL  HEHDEHE
BRENBEAREER - KAFKER
BREYEREER - URREERY
Weas - 382 MRS Uas MBS o

- REMEETEER : ﬁt%ﬂ‘k’“*ﬁiﬁL
ETRRBRITERR MRRTREE
RS - ARRERE IR BRI B A ©

— ERpENEE  HEXBOMEBRE
FEEWERR - BRI ERS W
KW E BRI ES ©

— PERE  WEBOLEEHEERLE
B UBRERES WA - AR EE
Bz REHES R -
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12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets, interest in associate, deferred tax assets and
current assets with the exception of investments in other
financial assets, goodwill, intercompany receivables and
other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include current
taxation, deferred tax liabilities, creditors, other payables
and accrued expenses attributable to the activities of the
individual segments and borrowings managed directly by
the segments, with the exception of intercompany payables.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. However, other
than reporting inter-segment provision of construction
management services, assistance provided by one segment
to another, including technical know-how, is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is
“EBITDA” i.e. “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation”. To arrive at EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’ and
auditors’ remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue from
construction management services), interest expense from
borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation
and amortisation and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations.

= R ()
() PERE BERKAE

S0 BRR IR AHE K 0 #BfE 2 BIR D BLm
5 AREZESERER TIIEER
EETHREDHZFE BEMA

71N

o S oI
g

.
g
/

DHMEEREMBANEE  BFE
E - BEAREE  BREHRBEENR
HEE  ETEREREMMBEER
g B8 SERRAEIRZERIER
Hip bR EE - D HfREEJESEE5
D EbZ EASEBFTE L < BNEIRIR ~ R
ERBERIE - BNERR - EMENFIR
KEFTERMBASEDMERER 2B
g T BREEEAREIEZ BN IA

Wegs M A sc Th 2 E 8 T & 7 P P EREL
ZWamMrEEZRASKEBI B ZE
EMELZTESHEMOREEED
7B o A - BREImE D BERHCZEE
BRBIN - X—n Rz —DaMR# 2
1B (B E R ABM) AL AFHEAER -
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[EBITDA] - BN[B&FI 8 - BiIE - TTER
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B(flan: EEME - ZEETENS REM
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EEETERHEAR NISHEZDRE
B R (BRREREEERES 2D H
BlaR) - SO BEREEZEENER
X REDEBEERFIER 2 IERE D B
BEZHE  HHEMEE -
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12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) += SEBiREG(Z)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) PHEE BEEREE(ZE)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as HE_ T ZSFR-_FTNF+A
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management =+—BLEFE  AEBERERSEER
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of DEPRB T EMAAEE RS ERER
segment performance for the years ended 31 December M2 DEERIAT ¢
2010 and 2009 is set out below.

Environmental energy ~ Environmental water ~ Alternative energy Environmental
project construction  project construction  project construction technology and Infrastructure
and operation and operation and operation construction construction
EREEEE RRKHEE HeEREE management and operation Property investment Total
BiEnEs BEniEs BitREg REMGRIEEE  EESiEnEs ke a8
2010 209 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
T§-%F TEE 9B CRIAF SRR CREAE SRR CIU OB CRMAF SRR CREU CR-W Cam
§000  $00  §o00  $ooo  S00  fooo  Soo0 oo  So00  $00 000 $o00  S000  $0MO
*n . . I fr fn. W™ fr . T
Revenue fomedemd  RESMERIE
customers 1816442 604032 856,714 1036717 106506 11,222 - - 9 1378 1,776 1288 2,929415 1,76599%
Inter-segment revenue M - - - - - - 10058 354 - - - - 10058 354
Reportable segment %428k
revenue 1816442 604032 856,744 1085717 106506 11222 120058 5644 41977 113737 1,776 1288 3058473 1,798,540
Reportable segment A&z SR
profit (EBITDA) (EBITDA) 534806 291041 363801 346249 23908 10990 60897 17505 126750 107427 4615 5730 1164867 778942
Interestincomefom ~ {77zRRHIBIA
bank deposts 1686 238 119% 2187 81 4 49 1133 799 1966 15 11 414 769
Inferest expense kS 05912 71345 100257  853% - - - - 10245 15168 - - 116414 171904
Depreciaonand ~~ AEEHEREHS
amortisation for
the year 417 2%5 603 5134 8 Iz 3303 3048 24679 24198 2 4 B3 BB
Addttonstonon-cunent  EREE SRS
segmentassetsdung &%
the year 1955600 412100 808476 98501 296,107 323 2504 1163 501 20 11 - 2663385 1345276
Reportable segment A&z 4%
assets 4480791 2716497 4343100 3562783 530881 66269 202769 176511 611,80 616404 44086 37403 10212816 7175867
Reportable segment %42 AMEMHE
liabilities 20284% 1394510 2046218 1736652 136748 2716 59804 26510 245011 3708 4254 3200 4520501 3490586
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12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, (b) EFHED U - BF - EERERE
profit, assets and liabilities ZHER
2010 2009
—E-FF ZETNF
$’000 $'000
T Tt

Revenue W
Reportable segment revenue AT HED W 3,058,473 1,798,540
Elimination of inter-segment revenue S D 2P (129,058) (32,544)
Consolidated turnover RS 2,929,415 1,765,996
Profit 27
Reportable segment profit BYHREDEEF 1,164,867 778,942
Elimination of inter-segment profits KiHH EREAF (82,662) (31,351)
Reportable segment profit derived from REREEINAEFZ

Group’s external customers BTHRED AT 1,082,205 747 591
Depreciation and amortisation T K g (41,361) (38,698)
Finance costs MEER (177,567) (170,262)
Unallocated head office and RAOMB AR R

corporate income TERA 5,788 7,907
Unallocated head office and RABLBRRIR

corporate expenses PERY (24,139) (39,001)
Consolidated profit before taxation AR EF 844,926 507,537
Assets &E
Reportable segment assets BATWMENHEE 10,212,816 7,175,867
Non-current other financial assets ERBE IS EE 244,949 21,385
Goodwill PEES 46,133 46,133
Unallocated head office and corporate assets kD EREA 7 R & & 366,493 1,423,883
Consolidated total assets REBERR 10,870,391 8,667,268
Liabilities BfE
Reportable segment liabilities ATREDIEE 4,520,591 3,490,586
Unallocated head office and RAOMB AR R

corporate liabilities TEAE 601,151 246,916
Consolidated total liabilities e AERE 5,121,742 3,737,502

T2 SEBERE(E)

= (=i
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12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) += HERERE (Z)
(c) Geographic information (c) HEER

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (i) the Group’s fixed assets, non-current
portion of other receivables and deposits, intangible assets,
non-current portion of gross amounts due from customers
for contract work (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of customers is based on the location
at which the services were provided. The geographical
location of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment, and the location of the operation to which
they are allocated, in the case of other receivables and
deposits, intangible assets and gross amounts due from
customers for contract work.

TR EROANEERBINATL 2K
BmR(NAEBZEEEE - HAEYK
RRRSZIFENEED - BV EE &
WP & TRFIARRR 2 FERNEHED
(MHEEFRBDEE ) FAEEZER -
B it @iz iR iR iR &l D - 48
EFRBEEMEHRIZEETERME
wE(AYE - BEMRETNE) - ARk
W N2 S 2 T s B (VA EL (B IR IR
kige BYEERBREFEHTIE
SRR = )&

Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REMSFERZWE EEEREEE

2010 2009 2010 2009
—EF-BF —TTHhF ZT-BF _—TThF
$’000 $°000 $000 $'000
Fix Tt T T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) EAGGEE ) 311 306 59,993 63,374
Other parts of the PRC B H A b [ 2,929,104 1,765,690 8,021,470 5,569,476

2,929,415

1,765,996 8,081,463 5,632,850
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13 FIXED ASSETS +ZBEEE
(@) The Group (a) =5
Motor
vehicles,
Leasehold electronic
improvements,  equipment
furniture and and other
fixtures  fixed assets Total
Land and Plant and HEmE RE+  Construction Investment  fixed assets
buildings machinery  EE 5l  ZFRER  inprogress Sub-total properties EEEE
IHEEF  RERES RRE HtETEE EETR It L g
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T T

Cost or valuation: FiA (B} {&{E :

At1Jenuary 2010 W=F-ZF—-f—H 164,200 - 14,476 55,495 - 234,171 24,467 258,638
Exchange & 5%

adjustments 2,240 854 520 2,654 5,079 11,347 303 11,740
Additions e - - 1,457 20,138 229,761 251,356 - 251,356
Disposals e - - (698) (4,306) - (5,004) - (5,004)
Fair value R ERE

adjustment - - - - - - 3,996 3,996

Transfered fom ~ BEEERTR
consruction in
progress - 33,070 - - (33,070) - - -

At31December  RZ-ZE-FE
2010 +=f=+-R 166,440 33,924 15,755 73,981 201,770 491,870 28,856 520,726

Representing: K% :

Cost AR 166,440 33,924 15,755 73,981 201,770 491,870 - 491,870
Valuation-2010  #E-=T—-%% - - - - - - 28,856 28,856
166,440 33,924 15,755 73,981 201,770 491,870 28,856 520,726

Accumulated ~ EatifEE:

depreciation:
At1January 2010 R=Z-Z&—F—H 62,366 - 5,593 22,668 - 90,627 - 90,627
Exchange 5 AR

adjustments 365 - 213 1,127 - 1,705 - 1,705
Charge for the year  AEEHTE 4,456 - 2,831 9,585 - 16,872 - 16,872
Wiittenbackon (&R

disposal - - (386) (1,969) - (2,355) = (2,355)

At31December  R=Z—FF
2010 +=A=1+—H 67,187 - 8,251 31,411 - 106,849 - 106,849

Netbook value:  BRE%fA :

At31December  RZZ—FF
2010 +=RA=1+—H 99,253 33,924 7,504 42,570 201,770 385,021 28,856 413,877
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13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(a) The Group (continued)

tZEE&E(E)
() A%KE &)

167

Motor
vehicles,
Leasehold electronic
improvements, equipment
fumiture and and other
fixtures fixed assets Total
Landand Plant and HEME 58 Construction Investment ~ fixed assets
buildings machinery  EE FH  STRER in progress Sub-total properties EEEE
HRET  HERES REE EETEAE ERTRE N5t REME Ek
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i T T i i i i T
Cost or valuation: F{A B} {&(E :
At1January 2009 R=FTNE-A—H 163,248 - 11,825 46,358 - 201,431 19,574 241,006
Exchange EHEE
adjustments 13 - 2 12 - 21 5 2
Adaftions EE 939 - 2,697 9,548 - 13,184 - 13,184
Disposals HE - - (48 (423 - (an) - (4n)
Fair value ARERE
adjustment - - - - - - 4,888 4,883
At31December  RZZEN
2009 +ZR=1t-H 164,200 - 14,476 55,495 - 234,171 24,467 258,638
Representing:  f%:
Cost AR 164,200 - 14,476 55,495 - 234,171 - 234,171
Vauation-2000  BE-—TENF - = = = = - 24,467 24,467
164,200 - 14,476 55,495 - 234,171 24,467 258,638
Accumulated ~ RatifE:
depreciation:
At1Januay2009 R-ZEhE-A-H 58,053 - 2,965 15414 - 76,432 - 76,432
Exchange EH AR
adjustments 1 - - 2 - 3 - 3
Charge for the year  REEHTE 4312 = 2632 7675 = 14619 = 14619
Wittenbackon ~ HEBR
disposal - - @ (423) - (427) - (427)
At31December  RZZENE
2009 +-R=1t-H 62,366 - 5,593 22,668 - 90,627 - 90,627
Netbook value:  ERE%{E :
At31December  RW=BBAE
2009 +-R=1t-H 101,834 - 8,333 32,821 - 143,544 24,467 168,011
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13 FIXED ASSETS (continued) TEBETEEEE)
(b) The Company (b) &AFH
Office Leasehold Furniture Motor Total
equipment improvements  and fixtures vehicles  fixed assets
WAZRME WHEPERE  RKERKE RE ETSEEH
$'000 $'000 $000 $000 $'000
T T T T T
Cost: BAE:
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—FF—F—H 1,000 2,409 443 3,331 7,183
Additions S 404 - 16 - 420
Disposals HE (17) - - (1,151) (1,168)
At 31 December N—E—FF
2010 +-A=1+—H 1,387 2,409 459 2,180 6,435
Accumulated RiHRE
depreciation:
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZF—HF—H 726 1,645 124 1,836 4,331
Chargefortheyear ~ AFERE 157 602 45 124 928
Written back on HEREE
disposal (17) - - (429) (446)
At 31 December N—E—TF
2010 +-A=1t—H 866 2,247 169 1,531 4,813

Net book value: RIS :

At 31 December RZZ-ZF
2010 +-A=1+—-8 521 162 290 649 1,622
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13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(b) The Company (continued)

(c)

TZEE&EE(E)
(b) ARE(E)

Office Leasehold Furniture Motor Total
equipment  improvements and fixtures vehicles fixed assets
WAERE HEMERE  HRAREE AE ETEELE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T S T
Cost: RAE :
At 1 January 2009 R-ZEZENF—F—H 987 2,409 381 3136l 7,108
Additions i 13 - 62 - 75
At 31 December N ETNF
2009 +=-RA=+—H 1,000 2,409 443 3,331 7,183
Accumulated BEHRE
depreciation:
At 1 January 2009 R-EZENE—A—H 580 1,043 82 1,432 3,137
Charge for the year AEEIE 146 602 42 404 1,194
At 31 December RN EENF
2009 +-RA=1+—H 726 1,645 124 1,836 4,331
Net book value: AREF(E :
At 31 December NZZEENE
2009 +-A=t—H 274 764 319 1,495 2,852

Revaluation of investment properties

Investment properties of the Group were revalued as at 31
December 2010 on an open market value basis calculated
by reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary
income potential. The valuations were carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors, Asset Appraisal Limited, who
have among their staff members of Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being revalued.

(c) REWMEEM

AEBZREVEER _T—TF+=
A=t+—RREFABEER ErFHE
SWAMAEZ AFTEETER - &
BEmBAEMITEENERRARE
T-HhBTIRBFLAEMEEER
A B AR R R ARG
{E#EER °
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13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(d) The analysis of net book value of properties is as

tZEE&EEE)
(d) MERDFEZIWAT :

follows:
The Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
$°000 $000
Fx Tt
In the PRC i E
Hong Kong: a5
— medium-term leases —HHEE 55,750 57,786
Other parts of the PRC: =eYEap=iigs )
— medium-term leases —HHHEE 71,947 68,105
—long leases —KHEIMHE 412 410
128,109 126,301
Representing: R*E:
Land and buildings THIRIEF 99,253 101,834
Investment properties wEYF 28,856 24,467
128,109 126,301

(e) Fixed assets leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to two
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases

includes contingent rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are

disclosed as investment property.

() REKEHEEH CEEEE
AEERELEHERAYE - LA
E2FHMEALNE /B —EMF - A
EEEY  ENEGRASEENS
7] o LAEES T BEIBAEE

MARBKEHERALRNAIREY
EEBZMEOBBERIREDE -
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13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(e) Fixed assets leased out under operating leases

(continued)

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

tZEEEEE)
) REKEHEHHZEETEE(E)

AEERBENHFENEEHEERR
FEW BN R KA FRABRRIA TS

The Group
AEE
2010 2009
—T-BF —EEAF
$°000 $000
T T
Within 1 year —FR 839 751
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 408 786
1,247 1,537
14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1 R EE
The Group REE
Alternative
energy project
Toll bridge operating rights
operating right HeERIEE Total
WERRESE ESE L
$°000 $°000 $°000
Fx T S
Cost: BA(E :
At 1 January 2010 R-E—ZEF—H—H 722,383 - 722,383
Exchange adjustments P& H %L 31,259 2,166 33,425
Additions e - 83,891 83,891
At 31 December 2010 RIE—TE+_-_A=+—H 753,642 86,057 839,699
Accumulated amortisation: BT
At 1 January 2010 R-E—ZF—H—H 168,555 - 168,555
Exchange adjustments [ 34, 52 7,927 - 7,927
Charge for the year NEE 24,489 - 24,489
At 31 December 2010 RZZ—ZTF+-A=+—H 200,971 - 200,971
Net book value: REEE
At 31 December 2010 RZE—TEFE+_A=+—H 552,671 86,057 638,728
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) TN B\ EEE)
The Group (continued) rEBE(E)
Alternative
energy project
Tollbridge  operating rights
operating right ¥TeeRER T0T3|
WERRELRE B g
$000 $000 $ OOO
T T T
Cost: RAE :
At 1 January 2009 R_ZZNEFE—HF—H 722,192 - 722,192
Exchange adjustments b R 191 - 191
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE+=-_A=1+—H 722,383 - 722,383
Accumulated amortisation: Bt
At 1 January 2009 RZBEZNF—HA—H 144,438 - 144,438
Exchange adjustments P R 38 - 38
Charge for the year NEE 24,079 - 24,079
At 31 December 2009 RZZETNE+=RA=+—H 168,555 - 168,555
Net book value: AREFE
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE+=-_A=1+—H 553,828 - 553,828
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “Direct costs AREEHETAGEBERZIBEEKA R
and operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement. (RS A o
15 GOODWILL TaEE
The Group
AEE
$'000
T+
Cost: RAAE :
At 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009 and —EENF—HA—B - ZEZNF+H
31 December 2010 _-1— A;—ZE—ZTF+-_H=+—H 46,133
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15 GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGU”) identified according to business segment as follows:

tilE(E)

BERECREEEEN HEERAE

AREBIREBESHLEFRETAI YA ZIRE
AEESBMIT

The Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E2-FF —ETNF
$°000 $000
Fx T
Environmental energy project construction and  IR{FELIRIE B ik
operation 11,255 11,255
Environmental water project construction and  IR{F/KIEIE B 24 18
operation 9,538 9,538
Infrastructure construction and operation HEEEE g 25,340 25,340
46,133 46,133

The recoverable amount of the respective CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five year period. Discount rates of
10% — 12% have been used for the value-in-use calculations.
Management determined the budgets based on independent
professional traffic studies and/or service agreements governing
the relevant operations. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

No impairment is considered necessary at 31 December 2010
and 2009.

ﬁ@iﬁ EfL 2 PR B B EEAR R FR BB AT
HTEFARRBREBEC X EZ AFMIE
EZZﬁéméﬁﬁ BRETEFEREEY
BRI R B10%E12% - EIEEREB L HE
RBREMFEN,REE B RAER 2 RIS
= #mﬁﬁﬁ“oﬁﬁﬁz%ﬁiﬁﬁm
AIARIRE - geRMEAD B2 FERR ©

R-B—ZFFER_FTTNF+_H=1—
B - BREEREARESE -
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES T MBASER
The Company
AAT
2010 2009
—B-FF ZETNF
$’000 $°000
T Fx
Unlisted shares/capital contributions, FELmRG, LA -

at cost B ANME 334,080 328,080
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B~ RIZIE 4,829,398 3,443,110
5,163,478 3,771,190
Less: impairment losses B FEREE (1,440,357) (1,440,357)
3,723,121 2,330,833
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN NENSI B (634,938) (116,066)
3,088,183 2,214,767

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, not expected
to be recovered within one year and interest free, except
for an amount due from a subsidiary of $89,494,000 (2009:
$283,831,000) which bear interest at 2% (2009: 2%) per annum as
at 31 December 2010.

N-E-ZTFE+-_A=+—08 " Bl (&
MIWBRARFEAERE  EHAIEH
—FREEREE - EEKKEBRRRIE
89,494,0007T( —ZF T hL4F : 23,831,0007T)
Broh - BREAFIBRFEB2%(ZEZNF -
2%)&T B °
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

i B AT (E)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries IATES| B AREEEE - EEXAEENX
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the FEFEWBRRIER - BRBEFTHIN
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise PR AT @R o

stated.

Place of
establishment/
incorporation and

Proportion of ownership interest

BA LBl

Particulars of
issued and paid

Group’s held
effective bythe heldbya

operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company RRAL/ T AR AL B#TR AEEZz HEAE HMEBAS  Principal activity
AR RESHE, HERAEY BERER A R EEEH
Everbright Environmental PRC  RMB137,520,000 100% = 100%  Design, construction,
Energy (Changzhou) Co., Ltd.* R ARE operation and
(note (d)) 137,520,0007¢ management of waste-
HARIRIRER(FMN) to-energy power plant
BRAR (i) Ret B EBER
BIENERERER
Everbright Environmental PRC $39,100,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
Energy (Huidong) Co., Ltd.* H 39,100,0007T operation and
(note (d)) management of waste-
HRIRREER(ER) to-energy power plant
ARAF(HEd) Rat o ER
BRNEREEER
Everbright Environmental PRC USD29,300,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
Energy (Jiangyin) Co., Ltd." RE  29,300,000%7T operation and
(note (d)) management of waste-
KARFRERCIR) to-energy power plants
AR A(PEEd) Rt BE BER
ERNRNEEER
Everbright Environmental Energy PRC USD15,840,000 100% = 100%  Design, construction,
(Sugjan) Co., Ltd.* (note (d)) H 15,840,0005 7T operation and
HARIRIREIR (TEE) management of waste-
BRAR () to-energy power plant

BEARREEEM
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

T B AT (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held
incorporation and issued and paid effective bythe heldbya
operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company PRI/ SEMAR AL BTk FEEZz ©BFAT ®HMBAE  Principal activity
AT BHE RESHE HREFEY BERER i) R EEEH
Everbright Environmental Energy PRC  RMB305,460,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(Jinan) Co., Ltd.* (note (d)) R ARE operation and
HRIRREER (ER) 305,460,0007C management of waste-
BRAF () to-energy power plant
Rer o B BER
BENFRIEEER
Everbright Environmental Energy PRC  RMB318,000,000  Note (a) - Note ()  Design, construction,
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (‘EB Energy H ARE i) fizH() operation and
(Suzhou)")# (note (d)) 318,000,0007T management of waste-
KARRRAER (BRI ) to-energy power plants
ARAAN([ AR Rt B BER
(&) ) (i) BRI
Everbright Environmental Energy PRC USD2,100,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(Suzhou) Methane-to-energy H 2,100,0003 7T operation and
Co., Ltd.* (note(d)) management of
HARIRIREGIR (BRI methane-to-energy
BREEARAF power plants
(F#H(d) Rat B BER
EEBREER
Everbright Environmental Energy PRC USD11,520,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(Yixing) Co., Ltd.* (note (d)) H 11,520,000 7T operation and
KARRIRAER(EE) management of waste-
BRAR () to-energy power plants
SR EER
BB E
Everbright Environmental Energy PRC  RMB186,000,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd.* (note (o) i ARE operation and
KARREER (L) 186,000,0007T management of waste-
BRAF () to-energy power plant
Rif R BER
BENFREEER
Everbright Environmental PRC USD10,000,000 100% 100% - Provision of construction
Protection Engineering H 10,000,000 7T management services
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* RETEERRS
FRRR IR
(RIDBERAT
Everbright Environmental PRC $10,000,000 100% 100% - Conduct of environmental
Protection Technological FE 10,000,0007T protection technology
Development (Beijing) Limited* research projects
KRR ER ETRRBEIEIER

(ERBERAR
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

i B AT (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of AR
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held
incorporation and issued and paid effective bythe heldbya
operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company F3L/ SRR AL ERTR ZKE2z @FAT HMEAS  Principal activity
ATEH REZHE HERFEE BERED o] a EEEH
Everbright Environmental PRC USD4,865,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(Suzhou) Solid Waste H 4,865,00037T operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd.* (note (d)) management of
FARIRER (BRI industrial solid waste
ElRE R E AR AR landil
(BtaE() Rat o BE - BER
BT XEREY
b
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC $29,000,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction
(Huaining) Limited* H 29,000,0007T and operation of
FARK KRR (22E) photovoltaic energy
BRARN project
Rat  BEEE KN
HEIHE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC RMB34,500,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction
(Sugian) Limited* e ARE and operation of
KAKRER(ER) 34,500,0007C photovoltaic energy
BRAE" project
it BEREE KRR
BEIRE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC RMB37,093,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction
{Zhenjiang) Limited* H ARE and operation of
HAK KRR GET) 37,093,0007C photovoltaic energy
BRAE" project
Ret - BEEEHN
BEIRE
Everbright Water (Boxing) PRC $55,000,000 100% = 100%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note (e)) HEY 55,000,0007T operation and
FEARKFE(1HHE) maintenance of waste-
BB AR (M) water treatment plants
Rt Bl BER
BIERE)TKEIER
Everbright Water (Jiangyin) PRC  RMB391,000,000 70% - 70%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note (e)) H AR operation and
KAKBOIR) 391,000,0007% maintenance of waste-
BRAT(Kize) water treatment plants
and reusable water
treatment plant
Pt s BER
BIERBTKEIER K

ke R IR IR
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

T B AT (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of AR
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held
incorporation and issued and paid effective bythe heldbya
operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company PRI/ SEMAR AL ERTR ZK5EZz @FLT HMEAS  Principal activity
AT BHE RESHE HREFEY BERER i) R EEEH
Everbright Water (Ji'nan) Limited* PRC USD35,430,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(note () H 35,430,00037C operation and
HAKE () maintenance of waste-
BRAT(HZE) water treatment plants
HHERE KRR
Everbright Water (Jinan Licheng) PRC RMB70,530,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note () F ARE operation and
H AR (ErER) 70,530,0007C maintenance of waste-
BRARHiEHE) water treatment plant
and reusable water
treatment plant
Rt B BER
RBRE KRB K
K B PR IR R
Everbright Water (Lingxian) PRC USD6,735,000 100% = 100%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note (¢)) H 6,735,000% T operation and
HARKTE (%) maintenance of waste-
BRAE(KHwEe) water treatment plants
HERE KRR
Everbright Water (Xinyi) Limited* PRC $35,360,000 100% - 100%  Design and construction
(note () H 35,360,0007C of waste-water
ARG treatment plant and
BRAE(KFeE) surface water treatment
plant
et R KRR
RHRKEIER
Everbright Water (Zibo) Limited* PRC USD31,158,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(note () H 31,158,000% 7T operation and
HAKE CEE) maintenance of waste-
BREAR(HEE) water treatment plants
and reusable water
treatment plant
Bt R BER
RERETKEIRBK

7K el R R R R
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) +rMBASHER(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

Place of AR
establishment/ Particulars of  Group’s held
incorporation and issued and paid effective bythe heldbya
operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of company F3L/ SRR AL ERTR ZKE2z @FAT HMEAS  Principal activity
ATEH REEE HREFEY BEER o] a EEEH
Everbright Water (Zibo Zhoucun) PRC $35,000,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
Water Purification Co., Ltd* H 35,000,0007T operation and
(note (e)) maintenance of waste-
AR CHIEEN) water treatment plant
FKBRAR Rt B BER
(BtzE(e)) BERBTKEIERK
Qingdao EB-VW Waste Water PRC USD15,257,000  Note (o) - Note ()  Construction, operation
Treatment Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao EF 15,257,000t MizE(b) Fit3E(o) and maintenance of
EB- VW”)* (note (g)) waste-water treatment
BEERBTKEE plants
BRAR(ESKEL! B B R
(BtzE(e)) RETKEIERR
Everbright Alternative Energy PRC $125,800,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
(Dangshan) Co., Ltd.* (note (f) H 125,800,0007T operation and
KRR (L) management of
BRAF(HED) biomass-to-energy
power plant
Rat B BER
BREENMEREER
Zibo Everbright Water Energy PRC RMB21,650,000 100% = 100%  Design, construction,
Development Company H AREE operation and
Limited™ (note (f)) 21,650,0007T maintenance of waste-
BN AR REIRA S water source heat
BRI (HED) pump plant
Rt E - BER
BERBTKR
BRE
Fuzhou Guang Min Road PRC  RMB224,730,000  Note (c) - Note (c)  Development,
and Bridge Construction H ARE  KiEe) () construction, operation
& Development Company 224,730,0007T and maintenance of a
Limited (‘FZGM")# toll bridge
RN B R FE o E - Bk
REARAR RERBWERR
(TR )
On Land Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of $1 each 100% = 100%  Property investment
BRERAT B kG HRmEE MERE
17Tk
*  Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment enterprise. * RIERBAETMAIINGIREDE -
#  Registered under the laws of the PRC as sino-foreign co-operative joint t  RBERBREEIMATINGIES S -

venture.
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

@

Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner
of EB Energy (Suzhou), is committed to contribute the full amount of
EB Energy (Suzhou)’s registered capital. Net profit, after payment of an
agreed sum of RMB880,000 annually to the PRC joint venture partner
of EB Energy (Suzhou), is fully attributable to Everbright Environmental
Energy (Suzhou) Holdings Limited.

EB-VW HK Holding Company Limited (“EB-VW”), an 60% owned
subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner of
Qingdao EB-WWV, is committed to contribute 60% of Qingdao EB-VW’s
registered capital. The remaining 40% registered capital is contributed
by the PRC joint venture partner. EB-VW is fully entitled to the net profit
of Qingdao EB-VW for the first 14 years of the joint venture period.
From the 15 year of the joint venture period onwards, the net profit of
Qingdao EB-VW is to be shared by EB-VW and the PRC joint venture
partner on a 98:2 basis.

Greenway Venture Limited (“Greenway”), an 80% owned subsidiary
of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner of FZGM, is
committed to contribute the full amount of FZGM'’s registered capital.
The remaining 20% interests in Greenway is owned by China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, the Company’s ultimate holding company.
Net profit (after payment of an agreed sum ranging from RMB600,000
to RMB2,500,000 annually to the PRC joint venture partner of FZGM) of
FZGM should first be applied for the repayment of capital and advances
made by Greenway. After the capital and advances made by Greenway
have been fully repaid, the net profit of FZGM (after payment of an
agreed sum to the PRC joint venture partner mentioned above) is to
be shared by Greenway and the PRC joint venture partner on a 90:10
basis.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement of FZGM, FZGM was granted a
right to construct, operate and maintain a toll bridge in Fuzhou city, the
PRC. After the completion of the toll bridge construction, FZGM has an
operating period of the toll bridge for a period of 30 years commencing
from January 2003. Upon expiry of the operating period, FZGM wil
transfer all the fixed assets and the operating right to the PRC joint
venture partner. The toll fee is based on the type of vehicles and is
subject to the approval from the relevant local government authorities.
During the operating period, FZGM has the obligation to maintain the
toll bridge in good condition.

The service concession agreement does not contain a renewal option.
Both the grantor and FZGM have the rights to terminate the agreement
in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreement.

Operating right of the toll bridge is recognised as an intangible asset.

BB AT (E)
HeE -

@)

AR 2 2EWE R BFICARBLIR(FRM) N7
BEBHNRREEIR (M) ZRERAT -
AR E AN RBER (FRM) 2 BEMER » K
BER (BN 2 F BN (EBF N ERAAR
#880,0007T TH 77 & LB HR) 2B X KRER
REGR(BRNDIZRER ARIE -

RRRHEHO0%HE 2 < B QRIS BRI
FAEBHER KB KB BIERARA R
(T RBSLTE ) EEIEAN T B K EHB0%FET &
A BRT40%EHP TR EBRHEHE - XA
UHREEHETHFA2BEATE LR
FERA - MAEThAFSEHE SRR
RN Y RBL R 7T & BB HIR98:22
LEpIEES

XA B A 80% 1 2 2 MY B A B 3% 5t B IR 45
2 9N A %4 % Greenway Venture Limited
(I Greenway |) & E AN HEBE2HEME
7K o Greenwayfs N20%HE 5 FHANA Bl 2 4842
RARIFENAREBBRARES - HEKE
ZIRBF(EFF X[ F A RKE600,000TE
AR#2,500,0007T 2 HERIBETH 6 ERH
%) 158 55 FLAE B Greenway B S v 2 B AN 2 2
o ERHIEEGreenwayl XN 2 BAR KRB
%+ SEEREIE 2 R A (TE 0 _E SRt A S 5 13
TERIB T H A EBIE) 8B Greenway M 7
ARBBHIR0:102 LIS -

BREREBEB A S0 - LRRREREE
RERMTEE  BEREBRE IREER
R W EBREIETKIR - LEEREA YK
BRRzEEE=1TF m_ZT=F—Hi
Ao FREHERE SRR A RE
BENRGEREETHEERNMA - WER
Rz B IZEEH 2 ERITE  YRGERE
BB ER T AIEE - REZHR - XE
BEIS A R IR ERRE R FAN ©

BRISH FHE R L REORE  BFAR
BB AN R R EAR R 2 R
TR AR -

WERR EEEERRETEE °
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

)

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the local government authorities in the PRC (“the
grantors”). Pursuant to the service concession arrangements, the
Group has to design, construct, operate and manage waste-to-energy
power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid
waste landfill in the PRC for a period of 25 to 30 years. The Group has
the obligation to maintain the waste-to-energy power plants, methane-
to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill in good
condition. The grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum
annual payments in connection with the arrangements. Upon expiry of
the concession periods, the waste-to-energy power plants and related
facilities will be transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal options.
The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the agreements
include failure of the Group to construct or operate the waste-to-
energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and industrial
solid waste landfill and in the event of a material breach of the terms
of the agreements. The standard rights of the Group to terminate
the agreements include failure to receive payments for solid waste
treatment service from the grantors and in the event of a material
breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in constructing
the waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants
and industrial solid waste landfill is recognised as “Gross amounts due
from customers for contract work” in the financial statements.

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the grantors. Pursuant to the service concession
arrangements, the Group has to design, construct and/or upgrade,
operate and manage waste-water treatment plants in the PRC for a
period of 25 to 30 years. The Group has the obligation to maintain the
waste-water treatment plants in good condition. The grantors guarantee
the Group will receive minimum annual payments in connection with the
arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession periods, the waste-water
treatment plants and the related facilities will be transferred to the local
government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal options.
The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the agreements include
failure of the Group to construct, upgrade or operate the waste-water
treatment plants and in the event of a material breach of the terms
of the agreements. The standard rights of the Group to terminate
the agreements include failure to receive payments for waste-water
treatment service from the grantors and in the event of a material
breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in constructing
or upgrading the waste-water treatment plants is recognised as
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” in the financial
statements.

TR MBASHER(E)
i : (4)

(@

AR BT A B R B BT R R T A )
RIS RIS SRR - RBRFEFFEE
R ARBEANTERG - 28 &Lk
ERNIFRIGHER  BAREERmNE TXE R
FEYIRIEE - B+ AE=1+4 - AREH
BEEGFNRIEEER AREEREIE
B 88 RE RIS RPN BT ALER - 3
BRAREME - AKE S A SFRIRERE
A o R EHE MR - SRR ER
N ABRBRRME S 5 B IR T RAFT A -

FRAG T RTAC SR 2 R MAB LIRS - T AT
TRERERENE L BR 2 BEREE: REER
RIS E SN NEEER AREERLK
TXE SRR MIEIES, - AR BHREREENE
[ o REEFTERREEME I H#IERE
ORI T ARSEIREDRIEREE -
AR R IEEENRR -

R R IR IR 5 M IR UEE IR TG P s 2 AE Bl Mk 22
IR PR B BT P A 1 TIEFIRA
7l

AREEME R B ER T AR IRIBR AR 2%
B o RIBRISIFIHE SRR - AEEAR
REERET - BER/REE B REEISKE
B R tRE=T%  AEEFEEH
FOTKBEEBERGFRI - BT AER - %A
MM s - ANEE S F RERERE R
B FRAREHERR - 5KEIER RERR
R E R BB THEETE -

BRAS AT R L P B AR - BT AT
TR ERENR LR BERERE: ARER
BeiRsd - BUEsEE)SKER IR - A Rt 1k
FREENER - AEE A ITERERNA L7
A BB KRR T ARZIE/KEIER
BE  ARBAGREERER °

B 2 a2 V5 7K B TR R T P2 (A BRAS P A=
Z RSN BRE P ER R EREPAH
TA2FIRMERR ] -
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16 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(f)

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the grantors. Pursuant to the service concession
arrangements, the Group was granted rights to construct, operate and
maintain altemative energy power plants in the PRC for a period of 30
years. The service fees are based on the extent of services rendered
and are subject to the approvals from the relevant local government
authorities. During the operating period, the Group will be responsible
to maintain the alternative energy power plants in good condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the grantor and the Group have the rights to terminate
the agreements in the event of a material breach of the terms of the
agreements.

Operating rights of alternative energy power plants are recognised as
intangible assets.

17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE

i BB AT (E)
fisE : (&)

®

REENE R B ER T AR IRIG R TR =
2P RERBEFRESBRE - ARBEER
RERRZSE EENESIERESER B
Hi=+F - RBBZEREZRBME @ LA
TEMEHBUTEELER T AER - REZ
BN AREERTHSEREEHER T
RS ©

BRAS R RHS SR A MABHIREE - BT AR
AEEDHRNGRFREENER 2IERT
RIEE R o

MR EMZ S EEER DB EE o

The Group
F%H
2010
—g-%
$000
Fit

2009
T NF
$'000
Tt

Share of net assets

PGB E S5

588

Details of the associate are as follows:

ki

BRAERNT :

Proportion of ownership interest

AL Bl
Group’s held
Form of Place of effective bythe heldbya

business establishment  interest Company subsidiary
Name of associate structure andoperation #F&EEZz HA AT HMEAS  Principal activity
HEAT 2 EHREBME BRI REEE BRER HE A EEEH
Qingdao Veolia Water Operating Established PRC 21% = 21%  Operation of waste-

Company Limited DAV HE water treatment plants

BEREVIKKELRRA EEKEIERR
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ttBE AT (E)
BENRPHEMNRE

17 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE (continued)
Summary financial information on the associate:

The Group
F5E
2010 2009
—B-%F —TTNEF
$000 $000
Fx T
()  Operating results ) KEEE
Turnover e 40,592 38,440
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREEAT(E1R), /& (6,008) 3,393
(Loss)/profit after taxation BREi 1% (B518), /& (6,008) 3,393
Group’s share of (loss)/profit after taxation REBFEBE DR ZANEE
for the year attributable to the associate BrEi1E (B518), & (588) 588
(i) Balance sheet i) BEBER
Non-current assets FnBEE 762 957
Current assets MENEE 8,944 12,251
Current liabilities nEa s (12,950) (10,410)
Net (iabilties)/assets (8 EEFE (3,244) 2,798
Group’s share of net assets attributable REBFTEBE DA

to the associate

BEFE

- 588
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18 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS T\ HEt B EE
The Group The Company
S 1 A4
2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-BF _—_TTHhF ZB-TF _—_TThF
$'000 $000 $000 $000
T T Tt T

Available-for-sale equity securities: &R AZE % :

Listed in Hong Kong &5 Em 14,219 16,736 - -
Listed in other parts of the PRC AR B E {thith 75 =1 226,831 = - =
241,050 16,736 - -
Unlisted in other parts of the PRC # B EAbh 75 IF Emi 3,899 4,649 3,899 4,649
244,949 21,385 3,899 4,649
Market value of listed securities &% 2 T{E 241,050 16,736 - -
19 DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS Th FEUARFR « KRB « RERFER
AND PREPAYMENTS B
The Group
AEE
2010 2009
—ET—-TF —ETNF
$°000 $°000
Tt Tt
Debtors FEUBR K 182,728 197,877
Other receivables, deposits HMEWRIR « 12e
and prepayments NMIERFIE 2,890,641 2,142,113
3,073,369 2,339,990
Less: Non-current portion B FERNERER (D
— other receivables and deposits — B A EUGRIA MR ® (2,399,734) (1,736,218)

Current portion BNEAES D 673,635 603,772




Annual Report 2010 W 86
—E-TEFH

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 T B 5T
/N F ya) ﬁF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& SAEASN © FrE BB ETE)

19 DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS T FEURBRFR - HBWRIE « HERFEMT
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) KIE(Z)
Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and [FEMBRR - HALEIGRIE - e R
prepayments” are debtors with the following ageing analysis as HIPBEEWER  EREERZREKD
of the balance sheet date: W
The Group
xEE
2010 2009
—E-TF —ETNF
$°000 $°000
T T
Current BNER 111,593 106,644
Less than 1 month past due wH DI —1E A 31,360 8,985
1 to 3 months past due wE—Z=={E A 20,570 15,509
More than 3 months but less than 12 months ~ #EEfiER@=1E B
past due i )= 19,205 66,739
Amounts past due BHIEER 71,135 91,233
182,728 197,877
Debtors are due within 30 days from the date of biling. Further JEWARFREEH R =THARIE - K
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 31(a). SEEEBER 2 E—PERERME=1T—
(C
Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and AEE 2[R - HMEWHIE « &S
prepayments” of the Group are debtors of $182,728,000 RIBRFRIA]F - BEEWARFK182,728,000
(2009: $197,877,000) of which $8,246,000 (2009: $7,169,000) T(ZZZTNF : 197,877,0007T) * E
and $47,888,000 (2009: $63,749,000) are due from a non- 8,246,000 T ( —ZZFZ L4F : 7,169,0007T) X
controlling shareholder and a related company respectively. 47,888,0007T( ZZZ L4 : 63,749,0007T )
Debtors represent toll bridge revenue and revenue from waste- 7 Rl A FEMSEAE IR AR 3R 5k 18 I FE U RS A 7
water treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants, methane- IE o ERERFR B BBRW KR BIFK
to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill FRIERR - IR RLERER - BREEHRKIT
operation services. There was no recent history of default in XEREEYIRIES L BE RGN - AEE
respect of the Group’s debtors. Since most of the debtors are Z FEW AR BB I B2 20428 - R KEB1D
local government authorities in the PRC and based on past B AL BT BE R THE - BRIRBAEL
experience, management believes that no impairment allowance % EEERSDARBBARERIELE
is necessary in respect of the past due balances as there has BEE AREEBERIUEHRERNESL
not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances mA RIS AR 28KE - AEBE
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold ERERERFEEMNERG N2 —F
any collateral over these balances. No impairment loss was F+ZA=+—8  X&EBNEREREMRE

recognised by the Group at 31 December 2010 (2009: $Nil). EEE(CZTNG  8) -
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19

20

DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

“Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments” include
balances totalling $2,576,919,000 (2009: $1,919,206,000)
which bear interest at rates ranging from 5.94% to 7.83% (2009:
5.94% to 7.83%) per annum and represent the considerations
paid for the acquisition of waste-water treatment plants under
TOT (Transfer — Operate — Transfer) arrangements, among which
$161,945,000 (2009: $141,001,000) and $1,064,858,000 (2009:
$698,296,000) are due from a non-controling shareholder and
a related company respectively. The amounts are not yet due for
payment and will be settled by revenue to be generated during
the operating periods of the TOT arrangements. No impairment
loss was recognised by the Group at 31 December 2010 (2009:
$Nil).

All of the current portion of the above balances are expected to

be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORK

th R « RbEWRIE « ZERFER

FIE (&)

[EUBRZR - HMEURIE « & KRB
KB | BHEE H£2576919000 T (Z B
NF 1,919,206,0007T ) Z & & - Hin4F
BR594%%E783%(—EFNE : 594%
£783%)FTEFE - HATOT(8#K — &
BT TREBSKEERZER
RE - Hd161,945000T(ZFEE N F -
141,001,0007T ) & 1,064,858,0007T ( —E =
JLEF 1 698,296,0007T ) 7 Bl 4 e B EFE A% A%
BRIRIE K R BERE A RIZRIE - BRAFIAM A
BIHRE R - W ATOTRHE T 2 K& HAUES
SN -RZE—ZFTF+-_A=+—HH" &
EENERRTAEBEER(ZZESNF :
=) o

b gk 2 PR BNERER ) TREI AT I —F ik
Bl S FER AR °

~t EWERENTIERIEEE

The Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E-F —ETHhEF
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Contract cost incurred plus recognised BEEABLHRAN EE#ER
profits less anticipated losses af - BIEHEE 5,832,000 4,014,699
Less: Progress bilings B EEROR (852,040) (537,310)
Net contract work BT FEE 4,979,960 3,477,389
Representing: K& :
Gross amounts due from customers R FEE4)
for contract work TREFRIB4A%E
— Non-current — JEBNHA 4,629,124 3,174,793
— Current —BNEA 350,836 302,596
4,979,960 3,477,389
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T ERERESHIERIASHEZ)

20

21

22

GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORK (continued)

Included in “Gross amounts due from customers for contract
work” are amounts of $259,030,000 (2009: $270,221,000) and
$216,958,000 (2009: $181,671,000) which are due from a non-
controlling shareholder and a related company respectively.

“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
represent revenue from construction under BOT (Build-
Operate-Transfer) and BT (Build-Transfer) arrangements or
upgrade services under TOT arrangements and bear interest
at rates ranging from 5.94% to 7.83% (2009: 5.94% to
7.83%) per annum. Among the total of $4,979,960,000 (2009:
$3,477,389,000), $3,545,912,000 (2009: $3,477,389,000)
relates to BOT and TOT arrangements with operation
commenced. The amounts for BOT and TOT arrangements are
not yet due for payment and will be settled by revenue to be
generated during the operating periods of the arrangements.
The amount for BT arrangements will be settled according to
respective repayment schedules as stated in the agreements.

INVENTORIES
Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise:

[EWRFEHTIEFIBRE T - HREE
J7E Uk S 422 A% % BR 718 259,030,000 ( = B E
JLEE + 270,221,0007T ) M & Uk @8~ B 5k I8
216,958,000 7L (ZZ Z JL4F : 181,671,000
JC) °

[EREFALHITRRIEAR | TIRBOT
(BE-BEL-E%) RBT(BE —8%)
TH T ZEERFIHETOTLHE T 2ok
TRk ERFBEE594%E7.83% (=
TENE  594%E7.83%) st EF & o
£ 48 %8 4,979,960,000 T ( — T T S &
3,477,389,0007T ) A + E13,545,912,0007C
(ZZEEZENE : 3,477,389,0007T) BEFE A
BIEZBOTRTOTLHE - BEABOTMTOTZR
PER 2 SRIBBAREIEIS A - WS DAL & HRlk
wmY A o BTREE T Z BB IRIEAS R ATSIRP
MHERAE R AT -

78
RABRERERMINEERRE

The Group
xEE
2010 2009
—E-FTF ZETNF
$°000 $000
T Tt
Plant materials and operating supplies BENE K& % 17,049 10,982
Other raw materials HAb Rk 4,441 2,168
21,490 13,150
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS It SIEIRERITHER

The amounts are pledged to secure certain bank loans of the
Group.

ZEFIHEDERR - (ERAEES TIRITE
AR o
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23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS S IRERIREEEY

The Group The Company
AEHE AAT

2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-BF _—_TTHhF ZB-TF _—_TThF
$°000 $000 $°000 $000
T Tz T T
Deposits with banks RITIFERK 269,020 1,259,835 100,000 1,259,512
Cash at bank and in hand IRITHEHR IR S 1,072,465 683,950 144,054 36,763

1,341,485 1,943,785 244,054 1,296,275

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” at the balance sheet REERIBRESERSEEY B T
date are the following amounts denominated in a currency other B HUMBAER BB LI N EE R
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate: B
The Group The Company
AEHE AAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
ZE-FF —TTNEF ZT-FTE —TTNF
’000 000 ’000 ’000
T + T+ +
United States Dollars USD18,929 USD10,758 USD238 USD326
18,929€5L 10,758% 7T 238%ETT 3263 7T

[R& MRS FEY B T HFUR B

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are the following

deposits placed with a related party bank: TIRIT 2K
The Group The Company
XEEH AAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—EB-BF _—_TTNF ZB-TF _—TTNF
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T T

Deposits with related party T IR BB ATERTT 2

bank T3 279,178 31,717 1,037 767
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24 BANK LOANS 2R ERITERR
At 31 December 2010, the bank loans were repayable as RZZE—ZEF+-_A=+—H  RITERZ
follows: BRI ¢
The Group The Company
AEE AAT]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-BF —TTHhE —B-BF _—TTHE
$°000 $000 $°000 $000
T Tz Ft Tt
Within 1 year or on demand —FRIRERK 732,254 696,322 40,000 110,000
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —4E4&{B 4 Y 617,483 484,913 40,000 30,000
After 2 years but within 5 years 41418 A EN 1,628,657 1,295,233 47,500 47,500
After 5 years A% 791,003 472,416 - -
3,037,143 2,252,562 87,500 77,500

3,769,397 2,948,884 127,500 187,500

At 31 December 2010, the bank loans were secured as follows: R-ZE—ZTFE+-_A=+—8 ' RITEZZ
EIRERAT -
The Group The Company
XEEH AAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-BF —TTHhE —B-BF _—TTHhFE
$°000 $000 $°000 $000
Tt Fi Ft T
Bank loans RITERK
— secured — G 2,182,473 1,706,778 127,500 107,500
— unsecured — 1,586,924 1,242,106 - 80,000

3,769,397 2,948,884 127,500 187,500
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24 BANK LOANS (continued) It SRITER(E)

Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by certain
revenue and receivables in connection with the Group’s service
concession arrangements, bank deposits, mortgages on
fixed assets and shares of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Such banking facilities, amounting to $2,820,729,000 (2009:
$2,885,595,000), were utilised to the extent of $2,182,473,000
(2009: $1,706,778,000) at 31 December 2010. Among
the secured banking facilities, $1,460,080,000 (2009:
$1,302,572,000) are guaranteed by the Company and were
utilised to the extent of $1,039,782,000 (2009: $414,052,000) at
31 December 2010.

At 31 December 2010, the unsecured banking facilities,
amounting to $2,979,828,000 (2009: $1,452,955,000), were
utilised to the extent of $1,586,924,000 (2009: $1,242,106,000).
Among the unsecured banking facilities of the Group,
$497,677,000 (2009: $561,992,000) are guaranteed by the
Company and were utilised to the extent of $477,677,000 (2009:
$541,992,000) at 31 December 2010. All of the non-current
interest-bearing borrowings are carried at amortised costs. None
of the non-current interest-bearing borrowings is expected to be
settled within one year.

Banking facilities of $1,064,062,000 (2009: $775,050,000)
are subject to the fulflment of covenants relating to certain of
the Group’s financial ratios, as are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were to
breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become
payable on demand. At 31 December 2010, such facilities were
utilised to the extent of $476,412,000 (2009: $Nil). The Group
regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further
details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out
in note 31(b). As at 31 December 2010, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached (2009: $Nil).

AEEETRITHREANEERBEFTL
ERTHET2ETREREWFKIE - RTT
ﬁﬁ~ﬂi§?&%&$$@ﬁT = T
BRARIZBMDIEER R-ZT—ZTF+=
A=+—8" J:L28207290007E< =T
L ¢ 2,885,595,0007T ) Z B IR 1T @l
& B g 2,182,473,000 T (ZZEE AL -
1,706,778,000 7t ) ° L it 5 K 1 IR 17 B
& - Hd1,460,080,000 7T (ZEZ N :

1,302,572,0007C ) AAN A BI/EER - ==
—ZFE+— F=+—HEEFH1,039,782,000

T(ZZTZNE | 414,052,0007T) °

R-ZE—ZTHE+_-_F=+—8  £i&
HIRITREE 2 £ 5 & 2979,828,000 7T
(ZZTZT A F : 1,452,955000 7T ) © 2
&) 1586924000 T (Z T T h F
1,242,106,0007T ) o it NEEEIKFREIT
BE - HA497,677,000 ( ZEFENF
561,992,0007T) AR GIEER » R=F

TE+-_A=1+—H - E8A477,677,0007C
(ZZZTRF : 541,992,0007T) ° ATAFERNHA
FEEETIREHENAALR - THEAFTA IERN
HETREEHYTER—FANER -

$8 77 AL & 1,064,062,000 T (Z T T A4 :
775,050,00070) B A& & TEBAE B ITTE
bR R - BRARFES AN AR EHIB
B 2 BERH - WASEERBHR
& BB ZBEBEENREER - RN ==
—ZTF+-A=+—H EHEREEHH
476,412,0007C(ZZZNF | ]) - AEE=
FHERHERENEBERE AT - B
$EIEEM@EQHAZﬁ—iﬁﬂﬁ%
=1+ —(0b)  RZE—ZTF+=_A=+—
B - $%l1ﬁL&E%ﬁW@ﬁZ¥%
(ZETNF  |E) -
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24 BANK LOANS (continued) I ERITER(2)
Included in “Bank loans” are the following amounts denominated [RITERIBETIIRIE - HUREER
in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to Thee B AN B R BN
which they relate:

The Group The Company
xEE AAT]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —TTHhF ZT-BF _—TThF
000 ’000 ’000 ’000
SF T T+ +
United States Dollars =7 USD62,200 USD16,200 - -
62,2003€5C 16,2003 7T = =
Included in “Bank loans” are the following loans from a related [RITE R BIE NI ALTRITER -
party bank:
The Group The Company
AEHE AAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—e-B5 —BTAF —T-BF —BENF
$°000 $000 $000 $000
Tt T+t Fit T
Loans from related party bank B8 A TERITE R 189,763 143,540 - -

FAEE A RITIRE 2 EFAERIT - R E
ARRITAMZ BRFTE - XARZF—N
FRIZEER -

The loans from a related party bank are unsecured, bear interest
at rates announced by the People’s Bank of China and will be
fully repaid by 2018.

25 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED  -ti FEftAR®R « HibFEMRIEREHER

EXPENSES
The Group
xEE
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
$°000 $000
FTt Tt
Creditors, other payables and FETERRN - EAnENFIE R
accrued expenses fEETE B 853,444 481,481
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25 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
EXPENSES (continued)
Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”
are creditors with the following ageing analysis as of the balance

HEEAERR c REARERESER

(&)

[ERERR - RN TR R BT 2R T
RN - EREER 2RO -

sheet date:
The Group
xEE

2010 2009
—E-=F —EENF
$°000 $000
Fit Tt
Due within 1 month or on demand — @ B N E|EA eIt E 5k 60,489 58,861
Due after 1 month but within 3 months —Z=={E A RZEHA 21,814 45,129
Due after 3 months but within 6 months =Z=/NEAAREIER 22,508 52,368
Due after 6 months NE B &5 HR 483,785 228,244
588,596 384,602

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”’
of the Group is an amount of $3,755,000 (2009: $3,719,000)
which is payable to an associate. The balance is due within one
month and represents service fee for operation of waste-water
treatment plants.

Apart from the above, balances totaling $579,601,000 (2009:
$374,518,000) represent construction payables for the Group’s
BT and BOT arrangements, among which $4,793,000 (2009:
$4,594,000) and $11,570,000 (2009: $11,754,000) are due
to related companies and a non-controlling shareholder
respectively. The construction payables are current and not yet
due for payment. The amounts due to related companies and
a non-controlling shareholder are unsecured, interest free and
expected to be settled within one year.

REE 2 TEMARR - E A A TRIE N AT
ERT  BE-ERNTFHKBEQRZ
FXIE 3,755,000 (ZEFENF : 3,719,000
TT) o AEGRN—EARNDE - EREES
IKBRIER < BRTGE °

Br ExC Pt E SN - A A $£579,601,0007T

—ZTEAF : 374,518,0007T) 7 &Eth 0 H
AEAREEBTMBOTLZHE N2 2ETIEME
HExIE - 4,793,000 (ZEE N4
4,594,0007T) & 11,570,0007C ( — BE AL 4 -
11,754,0007T) 72 5 A FE S T B A 7 SR FE 1
FIEIERRAR R 2 BB - BT REENRIER
BNER R AR B HRE X - FEfS T RASE A R R FE(S
FIEIER R 2 FIB AR - 28 0 W8
BN —FNEIE -
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25 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED  :fi FEftARFK « Hih Bt RIERFESTE R

EXPENSES (continued) (#&)
Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses” [FERTRRFK - HAENFIBEREAER | BE
are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than THIFIE - HUAEEER 2 hee BN
the functional currency of the entity to which they relate: B REN
The Group The Company
AEHE AAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—B-TF —TTHNE —B-TF —TTNE
’000 000 ’000 ’000
T + T +
Euros 3 EUR120 EUR151 EUR120 EUR151

120Ex 28 151BR 28 120EX 28 151 B AR

26 OTHER LOANS Ity HER
The loans are unsecured, interest-bearing at rates announced by FREFRREER  RPBRARBITAMZ
the People’s Bank of China and repayable in 2023. BRHE  WERZZE-=FEE-

27 LOANS FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY It RRERATIER
The loans from ultimate holding company are unsecured, interest RISER AR ERAEER 22 REBAR
free, and not repayable within one year. —FAEE -



194

China Everbright International Limited

B RBR AR A A

Notes to the Financial Statements

5 ¥R 2R P
7N VA # ¥ HE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAFERRIN © FrE&RBABETE)

28 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET

(@) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents:

2\ BERRRFUREIFEH
(a) EERERAIROAHHESR !

The Group
xEE
2010 2009
—EB-TF —ZETNF
$°000 $000
Fx Tt
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for AKEERBFSHEE
the year 8,520 -
Provision for PRC income tax for the year R4 [& i B P15 485 47,356 36,492
55,876 36,492
Provisional tax paid EATEET (32,121) (26,475)
23,755 10,017
Represented by: REK :
Tax recoverable EIEE (5,381) -
Tax payable FERTHLIE 29,136 10,017
23,755 10,017
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28 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
The Group

(b) EEE
F5EH

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the

movements during the year are as follows:

Tt EEBERRBIFEH(E)
EREEEREE

195

ERGRAEERBRER ZCELEHRA
(BE) AESnEAFEZSHMT

Temporary
differences
on assets
recognised
under
HK(IFRIC 12)
RI(EE Fair value
(EARREATS adjustment
RERE on available-  Undistributed
ZEE)RE) for-sale profits of
$125k%:2  Revaluation securities  subsidiaries
ZB&E ofproperties  HEEHZ HEAT Total
ZERER MEER ARERE  X5iRER o
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T
At 1 January 2009 “EFHF—HA—H 30,201 1,657 - 20,430 52,288
Exchange adjustments EREH% 9 - - 7 16
Chargedtoproftor ~ FEIBZERPMG
loss 50,610 1,222 - 18,040 69,872
At 31 December 2009 R-ZEETSE
+=ZA=1+— 80,820 2,879 - 38,477 122,176
At 1 January 2010 R-_E-FF—HA—H 80,820 2,879 - 38,477 122,176
Exchange adjustments [ i 5% 6,119 - 310 2,627 9,056
Chargedtoreserve &G - - 12,005 - 12,005
Chargedtoprofitor {182 KR PG
loss 103,502 999 — 37,237 141,738
At 31 December 2010 RZZT—ZF
+-A=1+—H 190,441 3,878 12,315 78,341 284,975
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28 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued) -t\ EE & BRATRMEFRSEH(2Z)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EREREEREEERAE : (&)
(continued)
The Group (continued) XEE(E)
The Group
AEH
2010 2009
—B-BF —EThF
$°000 $°000
Ft Tt
Net deferred tax assets recognised RiraEERBERERZ
in the consolidated balance sheet BRI IR & TR (14,080) (22,522
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised REEBEERBRERLZ
in the consolidated balance sheet EEFIRBEFRE 299,055 144,698
284,975 122,176
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (c) RERELEHIBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s), RIEKT G —(S)FTHE 2 S RTEREE » A&
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect WEMR BT ENERRERELTH
of cumulative tax losses of $35,493,000 (2009: $29,269,000) B & E3549300 T (ZEZENF :
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which 29,269,0007t) * REBER @K EA
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax W[ I B RSN OK A] pE S FE AR AR & | T
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under SHREBERSNER - BIBRITHBIE

the current tax legislation. Bl - it AR E BN R ERARE
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29 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on 26 May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up
options at nominal consideration to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The options are exercisable six months (or a later date
as determined by the directors of the Company) after the date
on which the options are granted for a period up to ten years or
25 May 2013, whichever is earlier. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed
during the years are as follows, whereby all options
are settled by physical delivery of shares:

I KRB ZRER S

RARIRAE —HERESE - BN =T =
FRAAZT/NBEP - B - NRAREEE
EEANEBRFEAEEEES (BEAEE T
AIRE AR ZES ) BEMNTZKBARER
BAAAERKRMD ZEBRE -BRESREA
HENER (AR RREE AT ZERIEEE)
REBKRETFERE BB RS ETFX
ETE—=FRAATRHBIEUUREES
%)  GREBRERTHEREARE —RA
NalE B R o

(@ TXH|IFRERTEZBREZZH
R RIS - Bl - FEBREURS
BB S REERW

Number of Contractual
instruments Vesting conditions life of options
XiEEE R BREZESHER
Options granted to directors:
RPESZIEIRE :
— on 29 September 2003 20,500,000 Six months from the 9.7 years
—EE=FNAA=TNH date of grant 9.74F
% B EREt N EA
— on 29 September 2003 20,500,000 One year from the 9.7 years
—EE=FNA=TNHB date of grant 9.7%F
R A HEE —
— on 3 August 2006 8,500,000 One year from the 6.8 years
—EERFNA=H date of grant 6.84F
B H B HAEET —4F
— on 3 August 2006 10,500,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
—ETRFN\A=H date of grant 6.84F
F % B HRE ST R A
Options granted to employees:
RFPESZIEIRME
— on 3 August 2006 6,694,000 One year from the 6.8 years
—EERFNH=H date of grant 6.84F
BFL AR —F
— on 3 August 2006 13,240,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
—EERFNA=H date of grant 6.84F
R B AT
Total share options 79,934,000

IR R
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29 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices
of share options are as follows:

2t MR 2 ixEX 5 ()

(b) BBREZHE RMEFITEENT

2010 2009
—E-TF —ZEENF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price Number of price  Number of

y) 1[0 options  fN#ETH options

1TEE FARiERE 1TEf8  RERUESE

Outstanding at the beginning ¥ & R1T{E

of the year $0.5145c 64,387,000 $0.5667t 79,934,000
Exercised during the year FRBITE $0.5135c (13,137,000) $0.779;t (15,547,000)
Outstanding at the end of FAR B ARITIE

the year $0.5155t 51,250,000 $0.5147t 64,387,000
Exercisable at the end of FIEAFITME

the year $0.5155t 51,250,000 $0.5147c 64,387,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
shares options exercised during the year was $4.1 (2009:
$3.0).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had an
exercise price of $0.296 or $0.85 (2009: $0.296 or $0.85)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.4
years (2009: 3.4 years).

FARNDITEERAENITE B 8 2 hiiE FHAR
BAE4AT(ZZZTNFE : 3.07T) °

NZE—ZTF+_A=t+—BHKRTEZE
A% AE 2 1718 {8 A0.296 7T 80.85 T ( — BT A,
F : 0.296702k0.857T) ' MINEFHHTE
HFHR A2 AF(Z BT NF  345F) -
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29 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS -1 LIt Z2BRARZ 5 (&)
(continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions (c) BREZAABERER

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model. The contractual life of the share option

AEEAR B EREMES RS 22
RERERBERE L AAEFE - B
BREZGSHRAAERIANR -5FE
Hi e BRAGE - BlEZa0F
HIRURAZ — R ASE -

is used as an input into this model.

2010 2009
—F-FF —TTHhEF
Fair value of share options and BIREZ AR E RS
assumptions
Fair value at measurement date RETERMBCARE $0.295¢ $0.297¢
Share price A& (E $0.855¢ $0.857T
Exercise price IR B $0.857C $0.857T
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted ~ TEEB& 1B (LA 11158
average volatility used in the modelling —ETRRHT |HAREE BRI
under Black-Scholes Option Pricing PR F B hnkE 1) e )
Model) 52.13% 52.13%
Option life (expressed as weighted BREFA(AMENR
average life used in the modelling under — & RN | HAREE BRA
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) KRR IS FHE) 3 years£f 3 yearstF
Expected dividends TEHARR B 2.28% 2.28%
Risk-free interest rate (based on Exchange &R FIE(IREINEE S
Fund Notes) Zi%) 4.30% 4.30%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on public available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market conditions
associated with the share options granted.

TERR IR T IRIBIE SR R R S (ARBRHE
ZIEFORGFERFTE) - BRER
RBANER BRI G <
g - AHRETRBBERESERE © I
RAETEBERRZEBBAHAAEZ G
BREATE -

5 4 R A 5 A T PR e
B -
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=t RE - ERIRE

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of changes in the Company’s individual
components of equity between the beginning and the end
of the year are set out below:

(a)

IR FEER 1D 2 B B
AEBGEEESDOFEVRFLRE
ZHEREN G EEZEHE - XAF
BRSO R EV R FLREM 2 EeHE,
NN

£R
%

The Company AT
Captal
Share Share Special  redemption Capital Retained
capital premium reserve resenve reserve profits Totdl
RE  ROEE  BRRE AABERE W ENEE  RERA ]
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T r T T r T T
Balance at 1 January 2009 RZFENE
-B-B2&k 314378 747418 - 70 11368 87528 1948492
Changes in equity for 2009: “EENEVEDES.
Total comprehensive income for the year  AEE2ERALE - - - - - mn 1.
Dividends approved n respect of ElkEEE RS
the previous year (note 300 (M=) - - - - - Bradn 14
Shares issued under share option BEERE BT,
scheme (note 30(c)i) Bt (WE=+ (o)) 1,554 15,002 - - (4540) - 12,106
Issue of ordinary shares BTERR
fote 30()) (Hz=+om) B0 138503 - - - - 14305
Dividend declared i respect of BERAEE RS
the current year (note 30(0)) (HE=00) - - - - - (31507)  (31,507)

Balance at 31 December 2009 RoBENE
+ZR=1-H
b 33932 2147545

70 6,828 813076 3331451
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) =+ &% -~ fiEtEREE(Z)

20

(a) Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) BRIEZRID 2B E) ()
The Company (continued) EAT (&)
Capital
Share Share Special  redemption Capital  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
kx  RE  GRE S4EORE 2 A4RGR  REEN b
S0 S0 SO0 S0 S0 00§00
S S n S S n S
Balance at 1 January 2010 R=E-8%
-R-BZ248 363932 2147545 - 70 6828 813076 3331451
Changes in equity for 2010; —E-SEzESEE.
Total comprehensive income for the year  AEE2EMALE - - - - = (18806)  (18,8%)
Dividends approved in respect of ERELER RS
the previous year (note 30(o)i) (=T - - - - - (43,683) (43,683)
Shares issued under share option REEREERT,
scheme fote 30 Bih (=) 1314 5804 - - (384) - 673
Dividend declared in respect of BERAEE RS
the current year (note 3000} (HE=F0)0) - - - - - (36,422) (36,422)
Balance at 31 December 2010 R-%-%8%
+=A=1-H
2kt 35246 2,153,349 - 70 6444 TI4075 3,239,184
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) =+ &7 - & RIZE ()
(b) Dividends (b) BE
Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () R FAREIREC KFZFRE

)

(i)

Company attributable to the year

2010 2009
—E-FTF —ETNF
$’000 $'000
T T
Interim dividend declared and paid of B & AE&?ZHZEPHHHQ S
1.0 cent per ordinary share IR1.0ML (Z2T NS
(2009: 1.0 cent per ordinary share) tﬂx A% 1.01L) 36,422 31,507
Final dividend proposed after REEH éLE%’JNEZX,HE
the balance sheet date of 1.5 cents REEKRLAEB5 (=5
per ordinary share (2009: 1.2 cents TNF - BRREBAR.210)
per ordinary share) 54,787 43,672
91,209 75,179
The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date REEFEBERZED IR RAREH
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance AEEEBRERBEE -
sheet date.
Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) BRLE—EYEKFRE - WRFAH
Company attributable to the previous financial year, T FARGIREZ FETHRE
approved and paid during the year
2010 2009
—F-FTF —ETNF
$’000 $°000
T T
Final dividend in respect of the previous BHR F— A KEE - ﬂEE/\\\¢
financial year, approved and paid PBLAEN S5 2 REARR B,
during the year, of 1.2 cents per ARt .2l (= f?h
ordinary share (2009: 1.0 cent per F AR EART.0Nl)
ordinary share) 43,683 31,447

In respect of dividends attributable to the year ended Eﬁ@éi_ TENFTA=T—HLEFEZRE
31 December 2009, the difference between the final M5 -+ &Ik~ RER B BEERNIERSZH 2
dividend proposed and the amount approved and paid j{ﬁgﬁ“ VIR ESE - BlEESEARKRERE

during the year represents the additional dividends A pA®F (=438 A B B & 50 F B BT/ TS BEISAE T
to the ordinary shareholders upon the exercise of AR AT mARARE - 3 TR SEANIR . o

share options before the closing date of the register of
members.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(c) Share capital

=t IRE - RERIRE(E)

(c) B&&
() Authorised and issued share capital ) ZEREEITIRA
2010 2009
—F-BF ZETNF
No. of shares No. of shares
& e
’000 $°000 ’000 $'000
Fi% T T T
Authorised: ETE -
Ordinary shares of $0.10 each  &MXEI{E0.107T.2
Timik 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
Ordinary shares, issued and ~ E@A% * 227K
fully paid: TER
At 1 January n—H—H 3,639,325 363,932 3,143,778 314,378
Issue of ordinary shares BITEER - - 480,000 48,000
Shares issued under share RIRRER T2
option scheme ) 13,137 1,314 15,547 1,554
At 31 December Wt+=-—A=+—8H 3,652,462 365,246 3,639,325 363,932

(i)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the
Company’s residual assets.

Issue of ordinary shares

On 5 October 2009, 480,000,000 new ordinary shares
were allotted and issued to Guildford Limited, the
immediate parent of the Company, at a subscription
price of $3.03 per share. Net proceeds from such issue
amounted to $1,433,035,000 (after offsetting direct
expenses of $21,365,000), out of which $48,000,000
and $1,385,035,000 were recorded in share capital and
share premium respectively.

(i)

EBEHAARREBRTREIR
BB XNRARBAE LA LB
BOEE—RRERE - LARAZ
RHEEME MEERERZEER
FHEF| -

FITZBER

R_ZBEZAFE+ARHE  ARAEM
B A FIGuildford Limitedfic 3 &
£%17480,000,000% 1 E3B A% © TR
REE(E3.037T o Lt ITEBE AT
18 778 % 58 5 1,433,035,000 7T (B
84 B 2 5 52 21,365,0007T ) * HA
48,000,000 7t X 1,385,035,000 7T 7
R SRR A R AR (73 B ER o
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Share capital (continued)

(i)

(v)

Shares issued under share option scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2010, options
were exercised to subscribe for 13,137,000 ordinary
shares (2009: 15,547,000 ordinary shares) in the
Company at a consideration of $6,734,000 (2009:
$12,106,000) of which $1,314,000 (2009: $1,554,000)
was credited to share capital and the balance of
$5,420,000 (2009: $10,552,000) was credited to the
share premium account. $384,000 (2009: $4,540,000)
has been transferred from the capital reserve to the
share premium account in accordance with policy set
out in note 1(r)(ii).

—+ H2$ 15%1%&H1u..

(C) Hﬁzlgk /715/

(i)

IRIEFERIESTEIZ TR (7
REE-_ZT—ZEF+-_A=+—8H
HEFEE - ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ/\ﬁ@ﬁﬁl&
¥ RIE13,137,000 A D & L@
Hﬂ_ggﬂi BM7me

i%) - RIE 56,734,000 (ZZE AN,
4 1 12,106,0007T) ° E£H#1,314,000

TT(ZZZT N : 1,554,0007T) B 52
AR - #:75,420,000C( —2F
N F : 10,552,0007T ) Bl 52 A B% 15
i (BER ° 384,000t (ZEZTNF ¢
4,540,0007T ) B 3= FR P 5 —(r) (i) Pk
BORZRE  REAREEERER
R EER -

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at () RAEE H @ik 2 B mi R T1E
the balance sheet date ZIEIRIEZ K54
2010 2009
“E-TE ZTThEF
Exercise price Number Number
Exercise period 1710 Ef 1B (] 28
29 March 2004 to 25 May 2013 “TENF=A-+NHE

_?—*¢£H_+£H
29 September 2004 to 25 May 2013 —EZMEA A -+ HAZE
“E—=FFA-t+HH

3 August 2007 to 25 May 20138 ~ —ZT+4/\A=AZE
—E-—=FRA-1+HAH
3August2008t025 May 2013 =TT N\ENA=AZE

—T—=FFA-1+AH

$0.2967C 12,500,000 18,500,000

$0.2967C 18,500,000 20,500,000

$0.857T 9,700,000 10,200,000

$0.857¢ 10,550,000 15,187,000

51,250,000 64,387,000

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company. Further details of
these options are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

iﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁl%ﬁ}ﬂw i —
BRARREBRZEF - WFBER
W — *éﬂ%@ﬁéw&#&%wﬁz
iy 2 N
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

U

(i)

(i)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account and the
capital redemption reserve is governed by sections 48B
and 49H respectively of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 1(r)ii).

Special reserve

On 5 January 2004, the Company announced its
intention to put forward a proposal for the reduction
of the Company’s share premium account by the
sum of $2,372,172,824 (i.e. accumulated losses of
the Company as at 30 September 2003) and the
application of the same amount of credit arising
from such reduction towards the elimination of the
accumulated losses of the Company. The reduction of
share premium account, approved by the shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 2 February
2004, was confirmed by an order made by the High
Court of Hong Kong (“the Court”) on 2 March 2004 and
became effective upon registration of the said order by
the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on the same
date.

=t IRE - RERIRE(E)
(d) FREMEERBEHN

()

(i)

(i)

BR15 5 1B R EAIEL]#E

f& 1D m B RR & & ANME O < &
D RIZEBCR ARG E 48BIG R E
AQHIEHRE -

B #E

BRI R IERIRM E—(r) (i) P&t
RIEEMREMZ T BERERER
HHFERTAEBIESEEERTT
F2BRESE 2 RE -

HEIfEE

R_ZEFTNF—AAH  ARFA
HEBRREEE  HIRAQRRKRG
i BRR2 372,172,824 T (BN 7E;
E_TT-_FNAA=THZEZ:HE
1B) - WHEEIRR D RBRFTEEZ
B —EREAERSBAREKEARA
2 2FEE - BB R EREIE
ER-_ZENE- A -_HABTZK
REFpIAS FERERE - TR =
TENFE=A _BAEEFLS AR
(SRR DVER S F AR KRR
NAIER B REB R RFMEERT
MBS EER
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Special reserve (continued)
To safeguard the interests of the Company’s creditors,
the Company undertakes to the Court to create a
special reserve upon the reduction of share premium
account on the terms set out below:

(1) that for so long as there shall remain outstanding
any debt of or claim against the Company which,
if the date on which the reduction of the share
premium account of the Company (“the Effective
Date”) were the commencement of the winding-
up of the Company, would be admissible to proof
in such winding-up and the person entitled to the
benefit thereof shall not have consented to the said
reduction of share premium account or agreed
otherwise, the Company shall credit to a special
reserve in the books of the Company (“the Special
Reserve”):

— any amount arising by reason of a release of
any provision taken into account in establishing
the accumulated losses of the Company
shown in the balance sheet of the management
accounts of the Company for the nine months
ended 30 September 2003; or

— any amount received by the Company as
profit by way of distribution from a corporation
which was a subsidiary or an associated
company of the Company at the Effective Date
(a “subsidiary” or an “associated company”
respectively) which is made by such subsidiary
or associated company out of profits available
for distribution prior to the Effective Date or any
dividend paid to the Company in respect of
any liquidation of a subsidiary or an associated
company commencing prior to the Effective
Date; and
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Special reserve (continued)

@

the special reserve:

— shall not be treated as realised profits of the
Company; and

— shall, for so long as the Company shall
remain a limited company, be treated as an
undistributable reserve of the Company for the
purposes of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China) or any statutory modification or re-
enactment thereof.

Provided always that:

(1)

the Special Reserve may be applied for the same
purposes as a share premium account may lawfully
be applied;

the amount standing to the credit of the Special
Reserve may be reduced by an amount equal to
any increase, after the Effective Date, in the share
premium account of the Company which results
from an issue of shares (other than for the purposes
of any redemption or purchase by the Company of
its own shares) for cash or other consideration or
by way of the capitalisation of distributable profits
or reserves, and the Company shall be at liberty
to transfer the amount so reduced to the general
reserves of the Company and the same shall
become available for distribution;

the amount credited to the Special Reserve in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of
this undertaking shall not at any time exceed
$1,762,999,500 (“the Limit”);
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Special reserve (continued)
Provided always that: (continued)

(4) the Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase, after the Effective Date, in the paid-up
share capital or share premium account of the
Company which results from an issue of shares
(other than for the purposes of any redemption
or purchase by the Company of its own shares)
for cash or other consideration or by way of the
capitalisation of distributable profits or reserves;

(6) the Limit may be reduced upon the liquidation,
disposal or other realisation, after the Effective
Date, of a subsidiary, an associated company or
any of the financial or fixed assets of the Company
by the amount of the provision made in relation to
such subsidiary, associated company or financial
or fixed assets as at 30 September 2003 less such
amount (if any) as credited to the Special Reserve as
a result of such liquidation, disposal or realisation;
and

(6) in the event that the amount standing to the credit
of the Special Reserve at any time exceeds the
Limit after any reduction of the Limit pursuant to
provisos (4) and/or (5) above, the Company shall be
at liberty to transfer the amount of any such excess
to the general reserves of the Company and the
same shall become available for distribution.

The Special Reserve of $112,016,000 credited in
2004 was reduced to $Nil during the year ended
31 December 2006 due to an increase in the share
premium account of the Company which resulted from
an issue of shares in 2006.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(v)

(v)

()

(Vi)

Gooawill arising on consolidation

The goodwill arising on consolidation has been set
up and dealt with in accordance with the transitional
arrangements under HKFRS 3 (August 2004), goodwill
which had previously been taken directly to reserves
(i.e. goodwill which arose before 1 January 2001)
will not be recognised in profit or loss on disposal or
impairment of the acquired business, or under any other
circumstances.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 1(w).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities
held at the balance sheet date and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies in notes 1(f)
and (k).

Reserve fund

Statutory reserve — wholly foreign-owned enterprises
Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are wholly
foreign-owned enterprises, follow the accounting
principles and relevant financial regulations of the PRC
applicable to wholly foreign-owned enterprises (“PRC
GAAP — WFOE”), in the preparation of its accounting
records and financial statements. Pursuant to the
accounting regulations for business enterprises (1
¥ 25151812 (2000)255%]), the subsidiaries are
required to appropriate 10% of the profit arrived at in
accordance with PRC GAAP — WFOE for each year
to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived at must be
used initially to set off against any accumulated losses.
The appropriations to statutory reserve, after offsetting
against any accumulated losses, must be made
before the distribution of dividends to shareholders.
The appropriation is required until the statutory reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital. This statutory
reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends,
but may be used to set off losses or be converted into
paid-in capital.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(e) Distributability of reserves

U]

At 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of section 798
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was $714,075,000
(2009: $813,076,000). After the balance sheet date the
directors proposed a final dividend of 1.5 cents per ordinary
share (2009: 1.2 cents per ordinary share), amounting to
$54,787,000 (2009: $43,683,000). This dividend has not
been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis
and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.
Based on recommendations of the board of directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
new shares issues or new debt financing. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there were
adequate working capital to service its debt obligation. The
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over
its total assets, as at 31 December 2010 was 47% (2009:
43%).

Except for the banking facilities which require the fulfilment of
covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios as
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debts are
usually due within 30 days from the date of billing.

Debtors of the Group represent receivables in respect of toll
bridge revenue and revenue from waste-water treatment
plants, waste-to-energy power plants and methane-
to-energy power plant and industrial solid waste landfill
operation services which are settled on a monthly basis. In
addition, the Group has gross amounts due from customers
for contract work and other receivables in respect of the BT,
BOT and TOT arrangements.

At the balance sheet date, debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and gross amounts due from
customers for contract work of the Group amounted
to $3,073,369,000 (2009: $2,339,990,000) and
$4,979,960,000 (2009: $3,477,389,000) respectively,
of which $716,270,000 (2009: $1,067,066,000) and
$5,503,577,000 (2009: $4,660,177,000) were due from the
largest customer and five largest customers in aggregate
of the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset
in the balance sheet. Since the parties to BT, BOT and TOT
arrangements are local government authorities in the PRC,
the Group considers the credit risk is low.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company to
its subsidiaries, the Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group or the Company to credit
risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
financial guarantees at the balance sheet date is disclosed in
note 35.

it- MBEREERARE

Kil%‘t HEXRBBIEPARZLBHE

@;%1;%}7. N //lu@]ﬁ%ﬂ %'JTH
Eﬁ&&l\liﬂﬁ  REBTARHEEREMER
e Z BRAIRE MAR R ANERER

AEBPTES 2 Eil R R AEE B AEE
FitERZ SRR ERERR N EREIEE
KRR °

(a) EERE
EEEF;RﬁTE%IEE}ﬂ;EBZ jﬁ%iﬁ
ERSEMEHZEERR - BRAE
BEERMES=THARE 'JHH

AEE 2 BUERFIE A B ERR K S
KRB IFKEIEM ~ SRR IEEER
BREEME T REREYRIES 2 E
SRR U Es 2 FEUGRIR - BRAIRIZ A
YR o ith4h - RERETRE B RBT ~ BOT
RTOTRZHEZ R EF & #) TRRF IR
BN E MR

REER  NEBZEIRERE - EfbfE
WHIE - e RENREREREFS
#) T2 R IB B %8 7l & 3,073,369,000
T (ZZT T A F : 2339,990,000 7T )
¥ 4,979,960,000 7T ( = B F Nl F
3,477,389,000 7T ) * E & 716,270,000
T (ZZTZT A : 1,067,066,000 7T )
& 5503577000 T (Z T T N F
4,660,177,0007C ) 7 J%$%l?ﬁ§
FREBRAERBEFEF AKX - EER
zwmﬁaﬁéﬁ%%ﬁi\%qﬂﬁz%ﬂﬁké
EZRAEEZY o AIRBT » BOTKTOT
ZHT 2T B EE HBUTH#E -
WAEBERAEEERRBIE -

BT AR EME T B A REL Z BT
BRI AEETERBIMESSARE
@_EZF RIEAREERR 2 ER ﬁfﬁ

EHBERREERAZHEAXEER
B(‘WE_‘T’E?BZE% °



212

China Everbright International Limited

B ABR AR A A

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 1 T B 5
/N F 77 iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAFLRIN © FrE&RBIABETE)

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from “Debtors, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments” as well as “Gross
amounts due from customers for contract work” are set out
in notes 19 and 20 respectively.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
parent company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meset its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date)
and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - MBEAREERAREE)
VALUES (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBESRR(E)
The Group AEE
2010 2009
o8 EEE
Total Totd
contractual Morethan ~ More than contractual Morethan  More then
undis- Within ~ 1yearbut 2years but undls- Within ~ Tyearbut  2yearsbut
counted  1yearor within within conted ~ 1yearor wihin wihin

Camying cashflow ondemand  2years  Syears Morethan  Camying  cashfow ondemand 2years Syeas  Morethan
amount GTHREE  —ERE  -EEE  REEE  Syeas  avont FAAEE  ERE  FERE REER  Syeas
FEE ReREE  HEX  WER  EER BEE 0 KEE BEREE  RERX WEAN IEM BFE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
I *n *n n n n T T T T T T

Bankloans e 3760397 4454084 928825 778337 1910962 835040 2948884 3486474 853526 607447 1906716 518785
Other loans 0] 53,211 97,502 3409 3409 10,228 80,546 39,715 2,4 2359 2359 7017 60,946
Loans fomuimateholdng ~ BEERATER

company 17439 17439 - 17439 - - 112007 12,107 - 1207 - -
Creditors, oter payablesand ~ JEFERT £t

acerued expenses EfZEREBE 853444 853,444 853,444 - - - 481481 481,481 481,481 - - -

4793551 5522559 1785678 899185 1921210 916486 3582767 4153403 1307366 722513 1518798 679731

The Company AAT]
2010 2009
3-8 =

Total Totd
contractual Morethan ~ More than contractual More than More than
undis- Within ~ 1yearbut  2years but unds- Within Tyearbut  2yearshut
counted 1 year or within within counted 1yearor within within
Carmying cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years Canying cashfow  ondemand 2years 5years

amunt  THARE  -FhE -FEEE REAE anrt TAORER ERR ERE WERE
FEE HeRgE HEX R EE FuE ReieE HEX TER ik
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i R i i i i T i i

Bank loans FTER 127,500 130,934 41497 44,027 48410 187,500 191,262 12,138 30883 4824
Crediors, oter payablesand ~ JEFER £t
acerued expenses ERZERE R 16,443 16,443 16,443 - - 20941 20941 20941 - -

143943 141317 57,940 41,027 48410 208441 212,208 133,079 30,883 48241

Fiencel quarantees issued: Bt 2B 2R ©

Maximum amount quaranteed S 5£R4%
(rote 35) (HE=17) - 157480 1507480 = - - %604 956,044 - -
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits,
bank loans, other loans and loans from ultimate holding
company. Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group does
not use financial derivatives to hedge against the interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profie as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.

() Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s and the Company’s net borrowings (being
interest-bearing financial liabilities less bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents) at the balance sheet
date.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate profile (continued)

it- M RBERRAREE)

(c) FEEBR(E)

() FIEBEI(4E)
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The Group EH
2010 2009
5% “ETNEF
Effective Effective
interest rate $000 interest rate $000
= 3l Fr BIRFE T
Fixed rate deposits: EBER
Deposits with bank BITFR 2.2% (52,087)  0.4%-2.3% (61,062)
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEEY 1.0% -1.7% (269,020)  0.3%-1.4% (1,259,835)
(321,107) (1,310,897)
Net variable rate borrowings: FEEEFE
Bank loans RITEZ 0.9% - 6.4% 3,769,397 1.1%-6.7% 2,948,884
Other loans Hi &N 6.4% 53,271 5.9% 39,715
Less: Pledged bank deposits W BRI 0.4% -1.7% (38,852) 0.4%-1.2% (29,425)
Cash and cash equivalents ReLReEEY  0.01%-12% (1,072,465) 0.01%-1.4% (683,950)
2,711,351 2,275,224
Total net borrowings BIEEFE 2,390,244 964,327
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - MR EERAREE)
VALUES (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (c) FIEER(E)
() Interest rate profile (continued) ) FIEBLE(E)
The Company ANT
2010 2009
- 53 “ETHE
Effective Effective
interest rate $000 interest rate $000
= 3l T BIRH= T
Fixed rate deposits: EBER
Amount due from subsidiary B A RIFIR 2% (89,494) 2% (23,831)
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESSEY 1.04% (100,0000 0.3%-1.4% (1,259,512)
(189,494) (1,283,343
Net variable rate (deposits)/ ZE(ER)/EEFE -
borrowings:
Bank loans RITE 0.9% - 1.4% 127,500 1.1% 187,500
Less: Cashand cashequivalents ~ Ji : BE&RFELEEY  0.01%-1.07% (144,054)  0.01%-1.4% (36,763)
(16,554) 150,737
Total net deposits BEFE (206,048) (1,132,606)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BURE T
At 31 December 2010, it is estimated that a general RZE—ZFF+_A=+—H0 " &
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates, REE B WFREE AT
with all other variables held constant, would decrease/ FA—EBELE  MAEEMNER
increase the Group’s profit before taxation by RHEFTE  NEEBZRBRIAR
approximately $23,902,000 (2009: $9,643,000). 4@ /1 AN4)23,902,0007T (=

TTANF ¢ 9,643,0007T) ©
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
taxation that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk at the balance sheet date.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk arising from floating rate non-derivative instruments
held by the Group at the balance sheet date, the impact
on the Group’s profit before taxation is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2009.

Currency risk

Forecast transactions

Majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated in
the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect of the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group’s transactional
currencies are Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars
as substantially all the turnover are within Hong Kong and
other parts in the PRC. With the natural hedging of the
revenue and costs being denominated in Chinese Renminbi
and Hong Kong dollars, the Group’s transactional foreign
exchange exposure was insignificant.

With respect to borrowings and creditors denominated in
United States dollars (USD), the impact of foreign exchange
rate fluctuations is insignificant as Hong Kong dollars is
pegged to USD.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising equity
investments classified as available-for-sale equity securities
(see note 18). The Group’s listed investments are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The Group’s unquoted
investments are held for long term strategic purposes.
The management monitors regularly the performance of
the investments against expectation, together with an
assessment of their relevance to the Group’s long term
strategic plans.

it- M RBERRAREE)

(c)

FRmbr(E)

(i) SR (E)
R SRRE DR A REZ R
RIBM AT REE L < BN B2 8 - B
EoiBRMNEREHNEEAEK
B YO RAREHAEAKE
B NEE B EAEEmEA
RENXERZERITE - HRH
REBRBEEBIRA FEFIX
FTET AMEL 2 RERHARRE
& HUAKEGRRABN T E
EENMREBMES 2 F 8
SWAERE o ZTETENFZ D
TR R AT

(d) FNEmRER

(e)

BE RS
SERHBNRZANEEER 2EE
®atE - BAT - AEEY EAHEINER
Rz HHEER - AEBZRZXH5EE/A
RERB%  RAREAELRMALESRE
BREEBRPEEMMTT - EREA
RAANRE R BEEE - MEELE
BAEIRIER - MAKREER S LR
2 ZHNERBREDL o

MAERTTREM 2 EE REMNERRM
T BANETEIITEE - RIEXRKE)
ZEEEW -

IR A AR B
AREEAZ A E (BERERFERAR
Er o RAMET/OZERESER
AEEZ EHREDERBB ML
M o ANERE 2 IF EHIRE Y SRR
BHmESE - EEEEHEREHRE
ZEREBHRN - WHEERRES
BRAAEE 2 RIREE -
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)
(e) Equity price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2010, it is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 5% (2009: 5%) in that relevant stock market
index (for listed investments) or the price/eamning ratios of
comparable listed companies (for unquoted investments)
as applicable, with all other variables held constant, would
have increased/decreased the Group’s other components

- MEBERERAREE)

(e) RABEHEE)
R-Z—ZF+-A=+—H  BEAXE
EHEr - mBEARMEHGERR LM%
B AR E AR 2 mAX(GER
RIEEMIRE)(BREEA) L (T
F)5%(ZZEZNEF: 5%) ' mATAHAM
TERZHZFITE  RNEEZHGREER
2 B A E D AF &g hn/pk A aA T

of consolidated equity as follows:

The Group AEE
2010 2009
- “ETNF
Effect on other Effect on other
components component
of equity of equity
HEM IR R
A v B g2
$000 $000
Fr T
Change in the relevant equity HRERERERTER
price risk variable: B2 :
Increase =i 5% 9,412 5% 1,069
Decrease T 5% (9,412) 5% (1,069)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s other components of consolidated equity that
would arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to equity price risk at the balance sheet date. It
is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s equity
investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or the
relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2009.

BRGURENS IR ASE 2 76 S
Z B AR AR AT BEEE A 2 BIRS B o R
R R R FE B b AR R R B T
ERRZEPINHEMRELEE - A
ERREFEAREMFALNGE
BEAREEERAERRR BT
Ao o MRRAKERARENR
A ESRE AR T EEEARRR
TERRZRFEMEL BEEmES
HE)  MAEEMINERRGERSIE
“EENFZ AN TIRIBAERELEETT
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - M EMGEERAREE)
VALUES (continued)
() Fair values n 2RE
()  Financial instruments carried at fair value () UBpEAKRZEZHTA

The following tables present the carrying value of TREINEEE BIR(EBYBERE
financial instruments measured at fair value at the BERNETSRI AT A - FF s
balance sheet date across the three levels of the ELARBE=HERF  LARE
fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial IR EMITAZEREE  M&:
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each BMTEAZARBEUREZARETE
financial instrument categorised in its entirety based BEAZ &KX &8 ASIEmEE
on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair DM FTREZERFIBAT -

value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

—  Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using - FR(ESFER) : NATER
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for mEFREReRIAZ RECK
identical financial instruments KRR SHEARE

—  Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices — Ef4 - FMBPEERMSTE
in active markets for similar financial instruments, HLeMTAZRE  HFAEE
or using valuation techniques in which all significant LA BB EERFEEER
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable A BB T 95 BUR 2 (R E R
market data FERAR

—  Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using — B=HR(HEEFEL) : FIREME
valuation techniques in which any significant input is Z ABBWIEENTERM
not based on observable market data BB HERNTEARE

2010
—F-%5
The Group The Company
5B EAT

Level1 Level2 Level3 Total Level1 Level2 Level3 Total
- $-8% $=H et 5% B-Hh  E=R st
$000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000 $°000 $000 $000
T Fx T T T Fx T Fx

Assets BiE

Available-for-sale equity &R

securities: o

— Listed -t 241,050 - - 241,050 - - - -

— Unlisted —JkEm - 3,899 - 3899 - 3899 - 3899
241,050 3,899 - 244,949 - 3899 - 3899
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

()

- MEBERERAREE)

() Fair values (continued) H DAEE)
Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued) () URpEAKRZEHTAGE)
2009
—ETNF
The Group The Company
F5E KAT
Level 1  Level2  Level3 Total  Levell  Level2  Level3 Total
5 -4 B=RK st £-& F-Hh =R st
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T T
Assets aE
Available-for-sale equity &R
securities: =L
- Listed Siali] 16,736 - - 16,736 - - - -
- Unlisted -3kt - 4649 - 4649 - 4649 - 4,649
16,736 4,649 - 21385 - 4,649 - 4,649

(i)

During the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009
there were no significant transfers between instruments
in Level 1 and Level 2.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, debtors,
bank deposits, current portion of other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses are not materially
different from their carrying amounts because of the
immediate or short term maturity of these financial
instruments. The carrying amounts of non-current
portion of other receivables and deposit, gross amounts
due from customers for contract work, bank loans,
other loans and interest-bearing loans from ultimate
holding company approximate their fair values.

(i)

RBE_Z-ZEA_ZFTNEF
TZA=+—BLEFER  F—R
N B R XIBEW EE KBRS -

IR ESEZEMTAZ LA
/=

REe MRS EEY - BUREN R
TR - AfbRKEIE - B RFE
NFIREIEE L - AR EERFK -
Hip AR EFERAEFREZ
AAEREREZEMETES KNE
£ RE/LEFSHTAOBAR
SNEHINEH - H b EUGRIA K
REIFEHED - BAEFPANT
RFRIBAEEE  RITER - HER
REBREBR AR ZFARERZAA
EEREZREERE
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair values (continued)

(i)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value (continued)

As set out in notes 16 and 27, the Company had
amounts due from/to subsidiaries and non-interest
bearing loans from ultimate holding company which are
interest-free, it is not practical to estimate the fair values
of the amounts due to the related party nature of these
instruments.

(g) Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial
instruments.

()

(i)

(i)

Listed securities

Fair value is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

Unlisted securities

The Group’s investment in unlisted securities represents
investment in a property investment company, with its
investment properties (being significant part of the total
assets) stated at fair value. Fair value of the Group’s
investment in unlisted securities is based on net asset
value of the investee which is approximate the fair value.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates
for similar financial instruments.

it- M RBERRAREE)

) an

(i)

(45 )
(MR/

IR ESEZ M TAZ LA
=169

MM T AR EAE AR
EEY Y A G ANL - PNCIE
REERRB T EBER - ARE
FEMBALIEE  WTEMRAE
BAZ AAME

(@) AREME

IXBES e TARAER
ERZERINERRER -
() _LiaEs

(i)

(i)

AREDREERZ TS RES
B MBI B -

FF ETTaES
AEBEZFEEMEBHSREER K
MERERRIZRE  HREYMF
((HRREEMNEAEMN) RARET
R ARBEFLTERREZARN
BEEREIRERAFRZEEFE(ERA
REME)HE

HEEH R LR
AABRAKBSHEZHE « 1
BOSBIANERETEHE
BEEH -
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32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS St HEBATZEXR S
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere BRUL FR SRR E M IO AR E 2R 5 R
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the BRON - AN E DR AT THIE AR
following material related party transactions. Z °
(@ The Group entered into the following related party @ AEEEESLERAFPEARNEE
transaction with its ultimate holding company, China BRAREIZT TNHEBARRS -

Everbright Holdings Company Limited:

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
$°000 $000
T Tt
Interest expense F B H - 1,306
(b) The Group entered into the following related party (b) 7% B #HH F # & 2 7 Guildford
transaction with its immediate holding company, Guildford Limitedz 32 7 T 71 BB AR 5 -
Limited:
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
$000 $000
T Tt
Transaction cost paid in relation to BITERR
the issue of ordinary shares L SHEAR — 4,800
(© The Group entered into the following related party ) AEEE—REHATRITEIZT T5
transactions with a related party bank: AR D
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTNF
$°000 $000
T T
Interest expense FBSZH 10,239 4,723

Subscription of listed shares R LD 173,100 —
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32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS otC BIRAER A2 EXR 5 (E)
(continued)
(d) The Group entered into the following related party (d) AEEE—FKBEEQFIEIL T oI
transactions with an associate: AERS -
2010 2009
—T-FF ZTTNF
$’000 $'000
T T
Senvice expense for operation of BRAEETKEER
waste-water treatment plants (note 32(h)  BRFSFIX (=1 =(n)) 40,592 41,907
) The Group entered into the following related party € AEEEEIEARRRETL T T 5 a8
transactions with a non-controlling shareholder of the ANERS -
Group:
2010 2009
—T-FF —TTNF
$000 $000
FT FITt

Revenue from environmental water project  IR{R/KFEIE B

operation services B RIS 55,751 57,317
Finance income BAFEUR A 27,261 27,126
) The Group entered into the following related party ) ANEBEEEREEARREIHERRERZ
transactions with a related company and subsidiaries of B ARG T THIBHALRS :

non-controlling shareholders of the Group:

2010 2009
—E-TF —ZETNF
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Revenue from environmental water project  IR{F/KFEIE B
operation services B RGE 40,536 39,666
Revenue from environmental water project ~ 3B{F/K7%IE B
construction services EERSB B E 37,009 37,360
Finance income BIEUWA 91,055 53,051

Technical service expense (note 32(h)) HiririsE (MaE=+=()) 1,329 2,209
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32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

@)

The Group paid key management personnel compensation

It BB A2 EXRZ S (E)

@ AEEEXNTEIEEEABZEAR

as follows: BT -
2010 2009
—B-FF —ETNF
$°000 $'000
FiT FiT

Salaries and other short-term employee HehHMEHES

benefits &R 37,600 24,770
Retirement scheme contributions RRGTEIHR 779 639
38,379 25,409

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note
5(0)).

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
entered into certain continuing connected transactions.
The Company’s independent non-executive directors have
reviewed these transactions. Details of which are disclosed
under the paragraph “Continuing connected transactions” in
the report of the directors.

33 COMMITMENTS

(@)

(b)

At 31 December 2010, the Group had outstanding purchase
commitments in connection with the Group’s construction
contracts not provided for in the financial statements of
$773,756,000 (2009: $248,097,000).

At 31 December 2010, the Group had outstanding
commitments in connection with a TOT arrangement of
$28,411,000 (2009: $303,135,000).

MemBEat ATE TR IA(RKE
Hp)) e

h BE_T-TF+_A=+—BLF
B AEEFINTETHBHERS -
ARBZBIUFPITEFCEHNBRAR
5 BRRZHBEESTEMEPHE
BER S |~ MRE

ITE iR
@ N-ZT—ZTEFE+_-_A=+—08 TEAE
MBERRTPBEERAASEREES L
ZIRBEAYE £773,756,000L (—EEH
£ 1 248,097,0007T) ©

b RZZE—ZFF+_A=+—0 ~&£H
FETOTLHE T 2 #&IE A28,411,00070( =
Z T HEE : 303,135,0007T) °
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33

34

35

COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) At 31 December 2010, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

St RiE(E)

© RZZE—ZEF+_A=+—80 REDT
AERNKEHERE B REMNHRIER
EfFAEREm T

The Group
AEE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
$°000 $°000
T T
Within 1 year —FR 811 510
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 536 474
1,347 984

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to
five years. None of these leases includes contingent rentals.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of assets pledged are set out in note 24. The aggregate
net book value of assets and equity interests in subsidiaries
pledged amounted to $3,980,856,000 as at 31 December 2010
(2009: $4,055,137,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantees issued

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has issued financial
guarantees to five wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly
owned subsidiary. The directors do not consider it probable that
a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Company at the balance sheet date
under the guarantees issued is the facility drawn down by the
subsidiary of $1,517,459,000 (2009: $956,044,000).

Due to the related party nature of the instruments, the directors
considered it is not meaningful and practicable to estimate the
fair values of the financial guarantees and therefore they have not
been recognised in the Company’s financial statements.

AEERBEEHERRZEME - A
BEE—RUZAH—Z0F AXT
BREIEES -

D AT

BERFEEFBEHNRKFE=T™ - R=F—
TE+-_A=1+—H C_EHEENHEBR
A B AE 2 B T % (B 42 58 /5 3,980,856,000 7T
(ZZT R4 : 4,055,137,0007T) °

HEEE

B % H IS IE R

BEHER AR ARREZENBRTIR
—ZRIZENBARMELMEER - BER
B BREFRBEATKAIRERE Ll R
MARGHELRR - REEH - ARREL
MMBRERTZESAEAEANBARE
IRE 2 & 1,517,459,0007C( — BT A6 -
956,044,0007T) °

HRBEMALIEE  REERRMGFEH
MBERZAABELEREITTNER - &
WENAR R Z BT IAR P HERARAER
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36 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

PARTY

At 31 December 2010, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Guildford
Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, which
are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong
respectively. Neither of them produces financial statements
available for public use.

37 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into BOO, BOT and TOT arrangements
in respect of its environmental water projects, environmental
energy projects, alternative energy projects and toll bridge
project.

The Group concluded that all the BOT and TOT
arrangements and certain BOO arrangements are service
concession arrangements under HK(IFRIC) 12, because
the local government controls and regulates the services
that the Group must provide with the infrastructure at a
pre-determined service charge. In respect of BOT and
TOT arrangements, upon expiry of concession right
agreement, the infrastructure has to be transferred to
the local government at nil consideration. Infrastructure
for BOO arrangements is used in the service concession
arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.

It EEREIZERAE

RZTE—TF+-_A=1+—H BEZAAK
SECZEBEIRRIRKREIERAED A
Guildford Limited P B K EEERAF]
FES RN EBR IS BB TMAL -
HEHEEBRAEARACIE 2 BER
i'*:z °

Ittt SRt FIE R E

(a) EEAXEESHBRREEERS
=t
EEEERABASESFHER - B1F
HTFI& 5 I

RIS I FAS S HE
AEERHRRKEEE - RIRAEFRIE
B - ¥eEREE RREBREE @ 712
BOO  BOTKTOTZHE °

NEERAMAEBOTRTOTLHERET
BOOL BB (BB B 15 & 22 g
ZEE)RB)F12R THRSEFEE
B RAE BTG I EE SR
ARTE - AN B /B IRTE E RIS B et
FERER - BIBOTMTOTZHEM S « £
R EEnEEIEE  BRAERER
PHEEEEEWHRITA - 3IBOO%RHE
MmE @ RIS E LB T A A
2 BB R E sk KB B AR F
FREFHAER -
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37 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
Notes 13(c), 15, 29 and 31 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to valuation of
investment properties, goodwill impairment, fair value of
share option granted and financial instruments. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

)

(i)

Construction contracts

As explained in policy notes 1(m) and 1(u)(i), revenue
and profit recognition on an in completed project is
dependent on estimating the final outcome of the
construction contract, as well as the work done to date.
Based on the Group’s recent experience and the nature
of the construction activity undertaken by the Group,
the Group makes estimates of the point at which it
considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that
the costs to complete and revenue can be reliably
estimated. As a result, until this point is reached, the
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
as disclosed in note 20 will not include profit which the
Group may eventually realise from the work to date.
In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or
revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the
balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from the inability of the
customers to make the required payments. The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the receivables,
customer credit-worthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial conditions of customers were
to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than
estimated.

Ittt ERtHIE R EE (E)

(b) BEHREEEETEEE ZRIE
fsE+=@c) +7  Z+tAk=1t—%
FHEEEYE  mERE BEREBER
BAREREBRTAEZHEEBZER
LERAEARER - BRHEEETET
Mz EbEBARIRI R -

() EEEL
SN E S EOR M EE— (m) K —(u) (i) FiT
o EARTEKIEE 2 W E R AT
BRAAME © EEURREFTEE
BHBRBRKR  ANRBETKRIE -
IRIE AN SR B 2 3 BR A B % 7 £ [
WEETHME - AEEEHR
BT - DERIEERERERMDE
& BUESERCARTS Z A AN R IR ES AE
A SETER o Bt - FEEEERME
Al R TAEEZERES
ANTIRIBRRE | TEREAEE
METKIRRMERRAIEREZA
F o tbAN - BRALREB SR U BEE
ERERAEEea N EREE
ZihE WERBRTEHSER 2SR
RFAEMEERNRREFRER W
R EF| o

(i) RERRZFEREIR
AEBESREFPENEEMTIIA
MmES 2 RIFHRMGEFTFEBERE - &~
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CRERMEFERS °
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37 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Other impairment losses

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
investment in subsidiaries, associate, fixed assets,
intangible asset and other financial assets may not
be recoverable, these assets may be considered
impaired, and an impairment loss may be recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets.
The carrying amounts of these assets are reviewed
periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable
amounts have declined below the carrying amounts.
These assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount
is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell
and the value in use. It is difficult to estimate precisely
fair values because quoted market prices for the
Group’s assets are not readily available. In determining
the value in use, expected cash flows generated by
the asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue
and amount of operating costs.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the unused tax credits can be utilised,
management’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management
reassess these estimates at each balance sheet date.
Additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1% 2% P
7J> F Va) #& ’3 HE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (fk BAFLRRIN © A &RBIAEETE)

38 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW SHNEAXKERBE-_F—FF+=
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED =+—H Jtﬁr“ﬁikEﬁZﬁ’é%T - WE
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED AR 2 fE2 o geRsE
31 DECEMBER 2010
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA E(\\lkt%,ﬁ\?f BmETIZERE  BEGAIAE
has issued a number of amendments and Interpretations and N ZIBER] RBRRE « AR —IBF %R -
one new standard which are not yet effective for the year ended EZ:f i RERFEAREE S —ZF
31 December 2010 and which have not been adopted in these TZA=T—BLEFERRER - EH 7]%
financial statements. These include the following which may be MR MERAZEER] - RBKIAER] - 7]
relevant to the Group: BEEAAREEAEREAIEE] - RRERERIT ¢

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after
BIATHEE &
Fith 2 &5t BRI AR

Revised HKAS 24, Related party disclosures KIEFKB BT LR 245% 1 January 2011
— [ F 7 #7575 | —=——%F—H—H

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments CEBT s 4ERIHZE ISR 1 January 2013
—[£@TA| —T—=%—H—H

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 (BEBMBIwELER ) B 1 July 2010 or
(ZF— f¢> 1 January 2011

—ZFE+A—HK

—Z—%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes (BB SFERDE125R 2185 1 January 2012
—[BrE# | —E——F—H—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what ~ AN&EBIEFHEZFEE] - FERIRFZREEEE
the impact of these amendments, new standards and new F’Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiz%ﬁ“ M B RTRAERE B RAIEET
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application  #T4ERI [z BHEAE IT$ NEZ EEEE
but is not yet in a position to state whether these amendments, &1 E&Hi@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ’cﬂﬁﬁ T

new standards and interpretations would have a significant

impact on the Group’s or the Company’s results of operations

and financial position.
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Five Year Summary

T F 54

I\‘/ =4 TE% K (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 518 )

At 31 December

Rt+=R=t—H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-FF “TTNE —ZTT)\F —ETLAF “EERE
$°000 $'000 $'000 $000 $000
T T T T T
Assets and liabilities SEREE
Fixed assets Bl &E 413,877 168,011 164,573 304,526 263,439
Intangiole asset EVAE 638,728 553,828 577,754 568,882 549,649
Goodwill P 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133
Interest in associate [ NETV i Ty - 588 - = 442
Other financial assets HinBi B EE 244,949 21,385 22,336 59,577 62,976
Other receivables and Hi IR
deposits RiEE 2,399,734 1,736,218 1,386,280 690,019 408,559
Gross amounts due from MEFEHTE
customers for contract work ERAEEE 4,629,124 3,174,793 2,686,012 1,752,995 944,161
Deferred tax assets REFIEEE 14,080 22,522 26,538 35,561 22,922
Net current assets MEEETE 868,932 1,755,970 364,815 584,432 748,449
9,255,557 7,479,448 5,274,441 4,042,125 3,046,730
Non-current liabities FRBAE (3,506,908)  (2,549,682)  (2,143,400)  (1,438,699) (933,534)
NET ASSETS BEE 5,748,649 4,929,766 3,131,041 2,603,426 2,113,196
Share capital RN 365,246 363,932 314,378 313,472 307,601
Reserves s 4,972,806 4,208,900 2,505,237 2,137,619 1,688,522
Total equity attributable to equity 7N BARERFE(S
shareholders of the Company R sEEE 5,338,052 4,572,832 2,819,615 2,451,091 1,996,123
Non-controlling interests FEFEpR i RS 410,597 356,934 311,426 152,335 117,073
TOTAL EQUITY WS 5,748,649 4,929,766 3,131,041 2,603,426 2,113,196

In order to comply with HK(IFRIC) 12 “Service concession
the Group adopted a new accounting policy for
service concession arrangements in 2007. Figures for 2006 have

arrangements”,

been adjusted for comparison purposes.

BTRHECEE (BEMBRE

i fggtiﬁ‘dcﬁﬁi‘k%ﬁﬁ“‘
BETHE
B2 e

2EZEe)%E8)
”*12%)‘ [IRIE A EBELH I ZRRE - AEE
SR HHRA T%EE’J
ZETREZETINE AR
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—BILEE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—T-TE  ZETHhEF ZTINF TTEF TTRF
$000 $:000 $000 $'000 $000
Fr T T T T
Results E
Turnover B 2,929,415 1,765,996 1,862,509 1,347,852 884,043
Profit from operations e BH 1,023,081 677,211 607,740 439,871 528,276
Finance costs IsER (177,567) (170,262) (147,188) (72,507) (70,445)
Share of (loss)/profit of FrihE e N E)
associates (B18),/BFl (588) 588 - (478) 32,658
Profit before taxation S 844,926 507,537 460,552 366,886 490,489
Income tax PG (191,761) (99,060) (95,161) (6,807) (9,949)
Profit for the year KEERF 653,165 408,477 365,391 360,079 480,540
Attributable to: FEIEER -
Equity shareholders of the ARERR
Company 616,433 371,898 339,018 337,932 460,478
Non-controling interests Elsaliliys ey 36,732 36,579 26,373 22 147 20,062
Profit for the year KEEBT 653,165 408,477 365,391 360,079 480,540
Basic earnings per share FRERZF 16.92 centsfll 11.39 centsfill 10.80 centsfll 10.89 centsfl| 15.92 centsflll
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Major Properties held by the Group

ARBATRA < EBYE

Location Existing use

HhEh HEFRE

Term of lease

HEFEY

Percentage
of interest

FribtEsm a5 EL

1. Units 2703 and 2704, 27th Floor Commercial
Far East Finance Centre EES
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong
BEABEREBE TSR
RERSEA D
TR TR ETNE

2. Units 3 and 4, 11th Floor Residential
Qingsong South Lane *=E
Dalian Development Zone
the PRC
PEERERENEE
+—EB=RMET

3. Room 1301-1309 Commercial
Central Business Building EES
No. 88 Fuhua Road One
Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC
FPEERA R MREERR
BE—BN\+/FROEFHBRE

—=F-E-=FNZ

4. 24th Floor Commercial
Tower of Education, FEES
Science & Technology Building
Zhuzilin, Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC
R R
BEETF
HERMBERE=+MHE

5. Block J07, Zhongguancun Science Park Commercial
No. 156 Wenquan Town [EES
Haidian District
Beijing, the PRC
R TR
R IE— RN
PR IRR R EJ07 5%

Medium
R HA

Medium

R

Medium

Labs

Medium
R HA

Long
~H

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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